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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")
BRBERZMERAT(HRA)GEMZEE

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies
to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is
a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the
contents of this report (“Report”), make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the
whole or any part of the contents of the Report.

This Report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “"Group”, “we"” or “our”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Group. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this Report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of
which would make any statement herein or this Report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT :

ERHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited, | am
pleased to present the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

In 2024, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
economy continued its post-pandemic recovery, supported
by the full resumption of social and economic activities.
According to the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC,
the national birth rate recorded a modest rebound to
6.77%o in 2024, compared to 6.39%. in 2023, marking the
first increase after seven consecutive years of decline. This
recovery reflects not only the cultural significance of the
Year of the Loong but also the government’s proactive
measures to stabilize population growth.

Despite persistent challenges in the healthcare
supplements market, our core businesses demonstrated
resilience. Sales of biological reagents and auxiliary
reproductive supplies and equipment remained
stable, driven by sustained demand in fertility-related
healthcare services. However, the healthcare products
and supplements segment, which faced prolonged
market headwinds, temporarily suspended sales in 2024
following a strategic decision.

In line with our strategic realignment, the Group
terminated the Anoectochilus Formosanus Extractive
project in late 2023. The relevant amounts recovered
on time, guided by a repayment agreement signed
in March 2024, ensuring minimal financial impact.
Additionally, in January 2025, the Group signed a non-
binding Memorandum of Understanding with Hunan
Keyue Biotechnology Company Limited* (“Keyue Bio"),
proposing the acquisition of its equity to synergize
resources in the growing women'’s health market.

*  English translation is for identification purpose only
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHE

Looking ahead, the PRC government continues to
prioritize innovation in the biomedical sector and public
health advancement. While macroeconomic uncertainties
persist, the Board maintains a cautiously optimistic
outlook for 2025, focusing on strategic synergies and
sustainable value creation.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | extend my deepest
gratitude to all employees for their unwavering dedication
amidst dynamic challenges. Our sincere appreciation
also goes to shareholders, partners, and customers
for their continued trust. We remain steadfast in our
mission to drive growth and deliver long-term returns to
stakeholders.

Zhang Shuguang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSIO\N?\AND ANALYSIS

BERENWR D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) on 13
December 2018 (the “Listing Date”) by way of share
offer of 100,000,000 new shares (“Share Offer”).

Biological Reagents and Auxiliary Reproductive
Supplies and Equipment Segment

The Group continued to focus on the research,
production, and sales of male fertility in-vitro diagnostic
("IVD") reagents in the PRC. The product portfolio
increased to 31 biological reagents, including 28 male
fertility IVD reagents, 2 parasite antibody detection
reagents, and 1 Epstein-Barr virus antibody detection
reagent.

Revenue from this segment reached RMB25.4 million,
a 4.3% increase compared to 2023. Sales of core male
fertility IVD reagents grew by 1.7% year-on-year to
RMB19.4 million, accounting for 76.4% of the segment’s
total revenue. Sales of parasite antibody detection
reagents also rose steadily to RMB3.8 million, reflecting
sustained market demand.

In late of 2024, the Group completed Class Il medical
device registration of semen biochemical immunoassay
equipment, thereby further strengthening its reagent
diagnostic capabilities. At the same time, the Group
also began improving existing products and developing
the “Sperm Morphology Analysis Test Kit” to enhance
the accuracy and operational efficiency of its reagent
detection.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBNWR DN

Healthcare Products and Supplements Segment

Due to prolonged market challenges and operational
difficulties, the Group strategically decided to
temporarily suspend sales the “Nutronic” brand in 2024.
Nevertheless, the Group retains valuable resources,
including overseas supply chains and international sales
networks established through “Nutronic,” laying the
groundwork for future synergies.

Strategic Acquisition

To diversify our business, our Group intended to acquire
of the equity interest of Keyue Bio, which possesses
extensive research and development expertise, product
lines (e.g., “Yukunshu”* and “Qinghuiyue”* brands),
and domestic market channels in the female health
sector. The proposed acquisition aims to integrate the
Group's global resources with local capabilities of Keyue
Bio, jointly expanding the female health market globally
to meet rising consumer demands. Details are set out in
our announcement dated 24 January 2025.

*  English translation is for identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PROSPECTS

With the issuance of a new fertility support policy by
the PRC in October 2024 (the “Policy”), the Group's
business in biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment is poised to capitalize on
significant development opportunities. The Policy
emphasizes strengthening fertility service support. As
a company focused on male infertility diagnosis and
auxiliary reproductive supplies and equipment, the
Group will benefit from the market demand growth
driven by the Policy. Through the commercialization of
its semen biochemical immunoassay equipment, which
has completed registration as a Class Il medical device,
and the improvement of existing products, the Group
will further consolidate its leading position in the reagent
diagnostics field. This will enable it to provide precise and
efficient solutions to medical institutions, supporting the
implementation of the national fertility support policy.

Concurrently, the Group plans to integrate research
and development resources of Keyue Bio and channel
advantages in the domestic female health market
through a strategic acquisition of its equity. By leveraging
the overseas supply chain and global networks established
through the “Nutronic” brand, the collaboration will
enable synergistic development of health products that
cover the entire life cycle. This initiative responds to the
Policy’s goals of strengthening fertility service support and
fostering a fertility-friendly social atmosphere. Looking
ahead, the Group will deepen its technological research
and development, expand its distribution network, and
explore emerging markets such as Southeast Asia to drive
growth through innovation and create sustainable value
for shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEBNWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue increased by approximately
RMB730,000, or approximately 3.0%, from approximately
RMB24.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB25.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. The increase in revenue was mainly due
to an increase in the sales of male fertility VD reagents
and parasite antibody detection reagents for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Sales of male fertility IVD reagents products remained to
be our major products which accounted for approximately
76.4% of our total revenue generated from our sales of
biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies
and equipment segment for the year ended 31 December
2024. Revenue from this segment for the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately RMB25.4 million,
which represented an increase of approximately RMB1.0
million or approximately 4.3% from approximately
RMB24.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The healthcare products and supplements segment
encountered sustained market challenges, resulting in a
temporarily halt to sales for the year ended 31 December
2024, compared to sales of approximately RMB315,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately
RMB17.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately RMB979,000,
or approximately 6.1%, from approximately RMB16.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Group’s gross profit margin increased from
approximately 65.3% for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately 67.3% for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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MANAGEM\E\NT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Income and Other Gains and Losses

Other income decreased approximately RMB36,000 or
approximately 4.9% from approximately RMB734,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB698,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The decrease was primarily attributable to decrease in
government grants.

We recorded other gains of approximately RMB241,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024, compared to
approximately RMB251,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023. Such decrease was mainly attributable
to the fluctuations in foreign exchange rate between
foreign currency and RMB, the majority of which was
unrealised foreign exchange difference.

Impairment Losses

The Group recorded impairment losses on trade
receivables (net of reversals) of approximately RMB94,000
for the year ended 31 December 2024, a significant
decrease compared to the RMB1.4 million recorded for
the year ending 31 December 2023. This significant
decrease was primarily driven by weakened repayment
capacities among the Group’s distributors amid China’s
challenging economic conditions in 2023.

Additionally, the Group recorded a reversal of
impairment losses on loan and loan interest receivables
and refundable consideration paid of approximately
RMB128,000 for the year ending 31 December 2024.
This contrasts with a provision of RMB349,000 recorded
for the same category for the year ending 31 December
2023. Such change mainly reflects partial repayments
received in 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENwR D

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses slightly decreased
approximately RMB91,000 or approximately 1.1%, from
approximately RMB8.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB8.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased from approximately
RMB9.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB10.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2024, which represented an increase of
approximately RMB892,000 or approximately 9.0%. The
increase was primarily attributable to an increase in staff
cost as determined by the supply and demand conditions
of the local labor market and provision of training class
for the executive.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased from
approximately RMB2.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB2.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, which represented an
increase of approximately RMB272,000 or approximately
10.7%. The increase was primarily attributable to an
increase in cost of improving existing products and
developing the “Sperm Morphology Analysis Test Kit".

Finance Costs

During the year ended 31 December 2024, finance
costs mainly represented the interest on lease liabilities
under application of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard (“HKFRS") 16 was approximately RMB86,000
as compared to approximately RMB53,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEM\E\NT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Results for the year

The loss attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately RMB4.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2024 as compared to approximately RMB5.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
significant decrease in loss approximately RMB1.6 million
or approximately 28.1%, was mainly attributable to
increase in gross profit of approximately RMB979,000
and significant decrease in the amount of impairment
losses on trade receivables of approximately RMB1.3
million.

Basic loss per share for the year was RMB0.86 cents,
as compared to RMB1.39 cents for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Taxation

The PRC enterprise income tax rate applicable to the
Group's operating subsidiary in the PRC was 15% (2023:
15%), whereas no assessable profit arising from Hong
Kong for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Dividend

The Board did not recommend payment of the final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
Nil).

The declaration, payment, and amount of future dividend
will be decided by the Board and will depend upon,
among other things, our Group'’s results of operations,
capital requirements, cash flows, general financial
condition and such other factors as the Board may
consider important.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENwR D

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Our Group funded the liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through internally generated funds from
operating activities, proceeds from the Listing and equity
financing by Placing.

As at 31 December 2024, our Group recorded total
cash and bank balances and bank deposit with maturity
over three months of approximately RMB36.5 million
compared to approximately RMB32.9 million as at 31
December 2023, which were mainly placed with major
banks in the PRC and denominated in RMB and United
States Dollars (“US$"”). The increase was mainly due to
the proceeds from repayment of loan receivable.

As at 31 December 2024, the lease liabilities under
application of HKFRS 16 was approximately RMB1.2
million (2023: approximately RMB2.3 million). The
gearing ratio of our Group calculated based on the lease
liabilities divided by total equity as at 31 December 2024
was approximately 2.2% (2023: approximately 4.5%).

Details of the movement in the Company’s share capital
are set out in note 27 in the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements. The capital structure of the Group
comprised of issued share capital and reserves. The equity
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately RMB54 million as at 31 December 2024
(2023: approximately RMB51 million).

Annual Report 2024 &%

RBES - MBERRESNRE

AEEXREERERPMELNANLE
T BLTHABTERRE 2 RERE - B
MBETREARTRKREHES -

MN-Z-_ME+-F=+—8  KA&EEEE
ReERBOTEHREGEHRABR=EA L
HZRITEERRENAAREICSEE
L MRZEZ=F+ZA=1+—H 85
ARBI29BET  DRIEEGFHRFEK
EBEBIRIT IHRIMAARERFET([%E
TLEHE « M EZRREREREE
Z TSR -

R-ZE-_WNFE+_A=+—8  ERFEH
BREENF16RENHEEROR/RARY
12BB L (ZFE-=F WARKI3EE
L) e RZE_MF+-_A=+—H ' &&
ENEABGELXR(ZHEABRRUERE
et B )N E22%(—FE-—=4F : 494.5%) °

AN/NG N = = - A SR S e el
5127 - AEBMEARBBEREEHITRAR
- AREHBEABRGEEZN S _NF
T A=+ HHAARESM4ABEL(=ZF
TEF ARSI ET)



MANAGERI\l\i\-fNT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 91 full-time
employees (2023: 96). Staff costs recognised in profit or
loss amounted to approximately RMB16.2 million (2023:
approximately RMB14.8 million) for the year ended 31
December 2024 (including directors and other employee
salaries and retirement benefits). Remuneration policies
and packages for the Group’s employees were based on
individual qualifications, performance, experience, and
conditions prevailing in the industry. In addition, various
training sessions have been offered to employees to
enhance their product and market knowledge.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believed that there were certain risks and
uncertainties involved in the operations, some of which
were beyond the Group’s control. A detailed discussion
of the risk factors was set forth in the section headed “Risk
Factors” in our prospectus dated 30 November 2018 (the
“Prospectus”).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The functional currencies of our operations, assets and
liabilities were mostly denominated in RMB. Therefore,
we were not exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risk for realised losses, except for our Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$"), US$ and Canadian Dollars (“CAD$")
denominated bank balances. The Group currently did
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The Group
did not engage in any derivatives agreements and did
not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange exposure throughout the year ended
31 December 2024. The management will closely monitor
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENwR D

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group will continue to employ a prudent treasury
policies in managing the Group’s cash balances and
maintain a strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the
Group is well placed to take advantage of future growth
opportunities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did
not make any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any
significant investment.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not pledge any
of its material assets (37 December 2023: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did
not have any capital commitments in respect of the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had no
outstanding corporate guarantee (37 December 2023:
Nil). As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no banking
facilities and did not have any significant contingent
liabilities (37 December 2023: Ni).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for disclosed elsewhere in this Report, the Group
does not have other plans for material investments and
capital assets as at the date of this Report.
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MANAGEM\E\NT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING

(a)

(b)

(c)

The First Placing 2024

On 31 January 2024, the Company has successfully
placed 20,000,000 new ordinary shares to not less
than six independent placees (the “First Placing
2024"), the net proceeds amount to approximately
HK$1.98 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB1.82 million). Up to 31 December 2024, the
net proceeds has been fully utilised as intended.
For details of the Placing, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 8 January
2024, 15 January 2024 and 31 January 2024.

The Second Placing 2024

On 21 March 2024, the Company has successfully
placed 31,000,000 new ordinary shares to six
independent placees (the “Second Placing 2024"),
the net proceeds amount to approximately HK$3.17
million (equivalent to approximately RMB2.94
million). Up to 31 December 2024, the net proceeds
has been fully utilised as intended. For details of the
Placing, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 9 February 2024, 14 February 2024,
5 March 2024 and 21 March 2024.

The Third Placing 2024

On 23 April 2024, the Company has successfully
placed 31,000,000 new ordinary shares to six
independent placees (the “Third Placing 2024"),
the net proceeds amount to approximately HK$2.96
million (equivalent to approximately RMB2.74
million). Up to 31 December 2024, the net proceeds
has been fully utilised as intended. For details of the
Placing , please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 2 April 2024 and 23 April 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENwR D

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 13
January 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share
Option Scheme is a long-term incentive scheme of the
Company to reward its employees, Directors and other
eligible participants for their contributions to the Group
and to assist the Group in its recruitment and retention
of high calibre employees and other eligible participants
who are instrumental to the growth and development of
the Group.

On 9 April 2020, the Company announced the granting
of an aggregate of 26,008,000 share options, subject
to the acceptance by the grantees, at an exercise price
of HK$0.125 per Share of the Company to the eligible
persons under the Share Option Scheme. The market
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant
was HK$0.125 per Share. All of the share options are
exercisable from the date of acceptance by a grantee to 8
April 2030 (both days inclusive). Each of the grantees has
paid HK$1 to the Company on acceptance of the offer
of share option. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 9 April 2020.
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Q.

MANAGEM\E\NT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The movement during the year and the options
outstanding as at 31 December 2024 were as follows:

EEEFWE DN

“EOMET - A=t HRARITEBRE
HERNZEBERIT

Number of share options

BREZA
Exercised Forfeited At

At 1 January Granted during during during the 31 December
Category of grantees 2024 the year the year year 2024

R-ZB-MEF RER R-T-OWF
AT ANER —HA—H RERERE RERTE #®2W +=A=+—H”
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang

(note)
SREEN S (H72) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Chunguang
(note)

RENTEHE) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. He Jiaming (hote)
I RBALE (A7) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Other employees (note)
Hih 8T (Hit) 7,504,000 - - - 7,504,000
Total
et 19,504,000 - - - 19,504,000
Note: gt -

The closing price of the shares immediately before the date
on which the options were granted during the year ended 31
December 2020 is HK$0.125. The exercise price is HK$0.125.
The exercise period during which the options may be exercised
is the period from the date of acceptance to 8 April 2030 (both
days inclusive). The date of grant was 9 April 2020.

No share options had been granted, exercised or
forfeited during the year ended 31 December 2024. As
at 31 December 2024, the number of shares in respect
of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding was 19,504,000 (2023: 19,504,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENwR D

On 18 August 2023, 4,000,000 options were exercised
under the Share Option Scheme when the market price
of the shares was HK$0.16.

No share options had been granted or forfeited during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

All the existing share options of the Company are vested
upon granting.

The fair values of share options determined at the date
of grant using the Binomial Option Pricing Model was at
HK$0.1125 per option, with the following key inputs:

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair
values of share option:

Share price at the date of grant HK$0.125
Exercise price HK$0.125
Expected life 10 years
Expected volatility 103.1%
Dividend yield Nil
Risk-free interest rate 0.778%

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to
estimate the fair value of the share options. The value
of the share options is subject to the limitation of
the Binomial Option Pricing Model and a number of
assumptions which are subjective and difficult to ascertain.
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially effect the fair value estimate.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, since 31 December 2024 up to the date of
this Report no significant events affecting the Company
have taken place.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTOES#AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT
EENEREEECERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Shuguang, aged 54, is our executive Director
and chairman of our Board. He joined our Group in
September 2003 and was appointed as our Director on
3 August 2017 and was re-designated as our Executive
Director on 25 September 2017. He is mainly responsible
for the management of our Board, giving strategic advice
and guidance on the business and operations of our
Group.

Mr. Zhang Shuguang held a bachelor’s degree and
master’s degree in engineering from Nippon Institute of
Technology, Japan and has over 20 years of experience in
the IVD reagents industry in the PRC.

Mr. Zhang Shuguang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Chunguang, who is an executive Director and the chief
executive officer of our Group. Mr. Zhang Shuguang
is also the brother of Mr. Chang Yim Yang, who is a
member of our senior management.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang, aged 57, is our executive
Director and chief executive officer of our Group. He
joined our Group in July 2008 and was appointed as
our Director on 3 August 2017 and re-designated as our
executive Director on 25 September 2017. He is mainly
responsible for our business operations and the day-to-
day management of our Group.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang graduated from Hubei Institute
of Economics, in the PRC, majoring in economic English
and has over 10 years of experience in the IVD reagents
industry in the PRC.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Shuguang, who is an executive Director and the chairman
of our Board. Mr. Zhang Chunguang is also the brother
of Mr. Chang Yim Yang who is a member of our senior
management.

ERENEBER

HITES

REBXELE - 5458 - BEMNPTESNE
%AEFO&F_77_¢AHMAKEE
ﬂ_;—tiﬂﬂ HEZTARFNE
%Iﬂ —tFNLAZ+RBFAEEEM
m&ﬂ§$°ﬁzgﬁﬁaﬁi$é A
EB ¥ RS EREERRERRIESE -

REXAERFARIERBTIIREESE
i Mo bR 27 Ko it rp B B 1 2 B A B 1T S
BE20F K585 -

REXELER/AEBATESE RITBRARK
BIEEZIE - REEETAEANS
MEERBKREREREE IS

REXREE 575 0 BAAEENPITEER
TR - BFRZZEZN\FEAMALREE
WHR—_FE—+FNA=ZBEZEARMOE
FWR_FT—tFNAZTHBEREREK
MITES - BEEBEAEENEKSE

BERHEER -

ﬁ%%ﬁi%%?*lﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ
FIEEBERBE MNP REIN2ET R BT TERE
BE0FEE -

RENREESATEERESTE T FEREN
FTEZIA - REREENRSERMANSRE
BEXEREBEEZRE -

B BR A &l Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

21



22

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEEZEBE

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ("Mr. Poon"), aged 53, is our
executive Director, chief financial officer and compliance
officer of our Group. Mr. Poon joined our Group as our
Director on 3 August 2017. On 25 September 2017,
Mr. Poon was designated as our executive Director
and appointed as our compliance officer. Mr. Poon is
responsible for the financial management and corporate
finance of our Group.

Mr. Poon has over 20 years of experience in corporate
management, financial reporting, business advisory,
auditing and accounting. From March 1995 to February
1997, he worked in Chan Chak Chung & Co. and his
last position was audit senior. From March 1997 to June
1999, he worked in Ho & Au Yeung and his last position
was audit semi-senior. From November 2000 to March
2002 he served as senior accountant in Arthur Anderson
& Co., which was merged into PricewaterhouseCoopers
in 2002. Mr. Poon obtained a bachelor’s degree in
administrative studies from York University, Canada in
June 1995, a master’s degree in practicing accounting
from Monash University, Australia in July 1998 and an
executive master of business administration from City
University of Hong Kong in October 2022. Mr. Poon
passed Certified Environmental, Social and Governance
Analyst® (CESGA) from The European Federation of
Financial Analysis Societies (EFFAS®) in December 2022.
Mr. Poon has been a fellow member of HKICPA since
July 2009, and a member with CPA Australia since March
2000 respectively. Mr. Poon passed the qualification
examination of Asset Management Association of
China in 2016. From April 2019 to February 2020, Mr.
Poon has been a Licensed Representative for Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity of
Canfield Corporate Finance Company Limited, a licensed
corporation.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIREC\'T'BRS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Poon is currently an independent non-executive
director in a number of Hong Kong listed companies,
namely LFG Investment Holdings Limited (stock code:
3938.HK) since 10 September 2019, the shares of which
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, and
Niche-Tech Group Limited (stock code: 8490.HK) since 28
June 2019, the shares of which are listed on GEM.

Mr. Poon was an independent non-executive director
of China Uptown Group Company Limited (stock code:
2330.HK) from 29 November 2006 to 6 June 2022,
Smartac International Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Smartac Group China Holdings Limited, Sino Dragon
New Energy Holdings Limited, China Zirconium Limited
and Asia Zirconium Limited) (stock code: 0395.HK) from
29 January 2010 (the Company were delisted with effect
from 20 February 2023), and Teamway International
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Jin Bao
Bao Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1239.HK) from 19
March 2019 to 1 November 2023, the shares of these
companies are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. From August 2017 to April 2019, Mr. Poon
was an independent non-executive director of Cityneon
Holdings Limited (stock code: 5HJ.SGX), the shares of
which were listed on the main board of the Singapore
Exchange Limited and were delisted with effect from 1
February 2019.

Mr. He Jiaming (“Mr. He"), aged 39, is our executive
Director. Mr. He joined our Group as a business
development director in January 2019. Mr. He is mainly
responsible for evaluating and developing new products
in connection with male fertility and exploring overseas
business cooperation opportunities.

Mr. He graduated from University of Manchester in the
United Kingdom in 2010, with a combined bachelor
and master degree in chemistry and has over 8 years of
experience in the fields of biochemistry and international
trading.
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EENGHREEEZEBE

Dr. Bu Su (“Dr. Bu"), aged 52, was appointed as our
non-executive Director on 8 August 2024. Dr. Bu is
responsible for the overall strategic planning of the
Group.

Dr. Bu has more than 20 years of experience in the fields
of molecular biomedicine and bioengineering. Prior to
joining the Group, Dr. Bu has served as an associate
professor in the College of Life Sciences (formerly known
as "“College of Biology and the Environment”) at Nanjing
Forestry University in the People’s Republic of China since
April 2014. Her research topics include genome mining,
expression, directed evolution, biochemical function
identification and industrial application of bioenergy
enzymes and food enzymes and medical mushrooms and
plant-based active substances for the development of
antiobesity products to improve and prevent metabolic
diseases such as obesity and diabetes. Prior to joining
Nanjing Forestry University, Dr. Bu worked as a researcher
at Amano Enzyme Inc., which is an enzyme production,
research and development company in Japan from 1998
to 2001. Dr. Bu also worked as a postdoctoral scholar at
the University of Alabama at Birmingham in the United
States of America of from January 2005 to September
2009 and a research associate from January 2011 to
January 2014, during which she mainly conducted
research in the biomedical field related to human
diseases. Dr. Bu obtained a Doctor of Philosophy degree
of Biochemistry from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong in December 2004.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIREC\'T'B\RS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Xu Ming (“Dr. Xu"”), aged 65, was appointed as
our non-executive Director on 25 October 2024. Dr. Xu
is responsible for the overall strategic planning of the
Group.

Dr. Xu completed the course of Japanese Medical Science
at the Undergraduate Medical Department* (7 i} 28 2
HZEXEBEEHRE) of China Medical University (7 B 2%}
AE) and obtained a Bachelor of Medicine in December
1982. He also obtained a degree of Doctor of Philosophy
in Medical Science from the Osaka University in Japan
in March 1994. Dr. Xu has extensive experience in the
fields of molecular pharmacology. Dr. Xu had served as
the director of the Institute of Molecular Medicine and
Therapeutics* (9 F 2% B8 B 90 FR) at Central South
University (fF KX 22) in the People’s Republic of China.
Dr. Xu had also served as the officer of the China Chronic
Disease Research Base* (FF EU{E /R sL E M ) of the
China International Exchange and Promotive Association
for Medical and Health Care (4 Bl B8/& (R {12 BIRR 2 (R 3
) from June 2018 to June 2021. In December 2020, Dr.
Xu became the president of the Microecology Branch* ({i
HRES®) of the China Ethnic Medicine Association* (&
Bl R kB E ).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph (“Dr. Chow"), aged 52.
Dr. Chow is responsible for supervising our Group's
compliance, corporate governance matters and providing
independent advice to our Group.

Dr. Chow graduated from the Monash University in
October 1997 with a degree in the Bachelor of Science.
He obtained a Master of Medical Sciences degree and
a Doctor of Philosophy degree in November 2000 and
November 2007 respectively in the University of Hong Kong.

*  English translation is for identification purpose only
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EENGHREEEZEBE

Dr. Chow has more than 20 years of experiences in the fields
of biomedical testing and molecular diagnostics technology.
Since April 2018, Dr. Chow has been the chief executive
officer of Zhejiang Thunderbio Innovation Limited* ( 7 )T
T AR AR A A]) (“Thunderbio”) and Dr. Chow
has led his team of inventors and experts at Thunderbio in
commercializing the application of molecular diagnosis and
microfluidic technology, being the technology with growing
applications in more efficient biomedical testing.

Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary (“Dr. Cheng”), aged 57, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 1 September 2020. Dr. Cheng is responsible for
supervising our Group’s compliance, corporate governance
matters and providing independent advice to our Group.

Dr. Cheng obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting
(Honours) and Master’s degree of Business Administration
from Southern lllinois University, the United States of
America ("USA"), in 1992 and 1994 respectively, and
a Doctor of Business Administration degree from the
City University of Hong Kong with research area in
“Independent Non-Executive Director and Corporate
Governance” in 2011. Dr. Cheng has been a certified
public accountant in both Hong Kong and USA and a
Certified Tax Advisor of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Dr. Cheng has over 29 years of experiences in
financial reporting, business advisory, auditing, accounting,
tax investigation and liquidation. Dr. Cheng is currently the
managing director of Gary Cheng CPA Limited.

Dr. Cheng currently serves as charter president and
honorary advisor of the Lions Club of Huaxia Hong Kong

and committee member of Social Welfare Advisory
Committee of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

*  English translation is for identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIREC\'T'BRS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Cheng was an independent non-executive director
in a Hong Kong listed company, namely Smartac
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Smartac Group China Holdings Limited, Sino Dragon New
Energy Holdings Limited, China Zirconium Limited and
Asia Zirconium Limited), a company whose shares are
currently listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 395.HK) from 16 November 2001 to 31
December 2021 (the Company were delisted with effect
from 20 February 2023).

Mr. Chan Kin Sang (“Mr. Chan"), aged 73, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 26 November 2018 and resigned on 2 April 2024.
Mr. Chan is responsible for supervising our Group’s
compliance, corporate governance matters and providing
independent advice to our Group.

Mr. Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree in laws in November 1979. Mr.
Chan was admitted as a notary public in April 1997. Mr.
Chan is currently a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors, a China-appointed attesting officer and a
practising solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan has over
30 years of experience in legal practice in Hong Kong
and Mr. Chan is currently the partner of Kwan & Chow,
Solicitors.

Mr. Chan is currently the chairman and independent
non-executive director of GoFintech Innovation Limited
(formerly known as China Fortune Financial Group
Limited) (stock code: 290.HK) since 9 July 2014. In
addition, Mr. Chan is currently also a non-executive
director of Sino Harbour Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 1663.HK) since 1 April 2020. Mr. Chan
was an independent non-executive director of Pak Tak
International Limited (stock code: 2668) from 3 April
2018 to 31 December 2024. The shares of the above
companies were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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EENGHREEEZEBE

Ms. Chow Ching Man (“Ms. Chow"), aged 39, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 2 August 2023 and resigned on 22 January 2025.
Ms. Chow is responsible for supervising our Group'’s
compliance, corporate governance matters and providing
independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Chow graduated from the National University of
Singapore in 2006 with a degree in Bachelor of Social
Science in Psychology. Ms Chow has approximately 7
years of experiences working in various banks in Hong
Kong and Singapore. Ms. Chow handled the day-to-day
banking services and investment needs of banks’ clients
in the role of relationship manager or executive. Ms.
Chow also worked for KPMG Taiwan for approximately a
year where she coordinated and explored new business
opportunities with bankers located in Asia.

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (“Mr. Tsui”), aged 56, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on
22 January 2025. Mr. Tsui is responsible for supervising
our Group's compliance, corporate governance matters
and providing independent advice to our Group.

Mr. Tsui obtained a degree of Bachelor of Economics from
Macquarie University in Australia in1992. He is a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Certified Practising Accountant of the
Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants. Mr.
Tsui has over 30 years of experience in accounting.

Mr. Tsui is currently an executive director of KNT Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1025.HK) since November 2024,
the shares of which were listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tsui also an independent non-
executive director of Bingo Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8220.HK) since August 2020. From December 2020
to September 2024, Mr. Tsui was an executive director of
CBK Holdings Limited (stock code: 8428.HK). The shares
of the above companies were listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIREC\'T'BRS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Shih Mei Ling (“Ms. Shih"), aged 43, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on
3 December 2024 and resigned on 28 February 2025.
Ms. Shih is responsible for supervising our Group’s
compliance, corporate governance matters and providing
independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Shih graduated from the University of Portsmouth
in the United Kingdom in April 2008 with an honours
degree in Bachelor of Arts in Business Administration.
Ms. Shih has more than 18 years of experience working
in licensed corporations regulated under Securities and
Futures Commission in dealing in securities and futures
contracts, advising on securities and asset management.
Ms. Shih is currently a licensed person registered under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO") to carry out Type 1 (dealing
in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chang Yim Yang, aged 62, is vice chairman and
a director of Shenzhen Huakang and a director of King
Grace Company Limited (“King Grace"”). He joined
our Group in September 2003 and has been mainly
responsible for the general management and business
development of Shenzhen Huakang. He has over 20
years of experience in mergers and acquisitions as well as
capital market operations.

Mr. Chang Yim Yang is the brother of Mr. Zhang
Shuguang, our executive Director and chairman of our
Board. Mr. Chang Yim Yang is also the brother of Mr.
Zhang Chunguang, who is an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of our Group.
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EENGHREEEZEBE

Mr. Chau Lai Ki, aged 41, is the financial controller
of our Group and our company secretary. He is mainly
responsible for the financial management and company
secretarial matters of our Group. He joined our Group
and was appointed as company secretary of our Company
on 25 September 2017. He was further appointed as
financial controller of our Group on 7 November 2017.

Mr. Chau Lai Ki held a master’s degree in professional
accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He is a practising member of the HKICPA and has over
19 years of experience in the finance and accounting
industry.

Mr. Fu Jianhua, aged 59, is the deputy general manager
and chief technology officer of Shenzhen Huakang.
He joined our Group in January 2014 and is mainly
responsible for the technology research and development
of our Group.

Mr. Fu Jianhua held a bachelor’s degree in science
from Wuhan University, the PRC and has over 20 years
of experience in the medical devices and IVD reagents
industry in the PRC.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael was appointed as the
compliance officer of our Company on 25 September
2017. For his qualifications and experience, please refer
to the paragraph headed "Executive Directors” in this
section.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chau Lai Ki was appointed as our company secretary
on 25 September 2017. He is also the financial controller
of our Group. For his qualifications and experience, please
refer to the paragraph headed “Senior Management” in
this section.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE*EPORT

SRERRE

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance
report for the year ended 31 December 2024. This Report
highlights the key corporate governance practices of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code"”) contained in Appendix C1 under the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has adopted and complied with, where
applicable, the CG Code during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this Report (the
“Relevant Period”).

The board will continue to monitor and review the
Company's corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the CG Code.

The Board conducted reviews of the system of internal
controls of the Group to ensure an effective and
adequate internal control system is in place. The Board
also convened meetings to discuss financial, operational
and risk management control.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no
less exacting than the required standard of dealings
concerning securities transactions by the Directors as set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code governing securities
transactions of the Directors (the “Required Standard”).
Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all of
them confirmed that they had fully complied with the
Required Standard during the Relevant Period.

Pursuant to Rule 5.66 of the Model Code, the Directors
have also requested any employee of the Company or
director or employee of a subsidiary of the Company
(the “relevant employees”) who, because of his
office or employment in the Company or a subsidiary,
is likely to possess inside information in relation to the
securities of the Company, not to deal in securities of the
Company when he would be prohibited from dealing by
the Model Code as if he were a Director. No incident of
noncompliance of the Required Standard by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Group’s business is
vested in the Board which assumes the responsibility of
leadership and control of the Group and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Group.

The Board formulates strategies and sets directions
for the Group’s activities to develop its business and
enhance shareholders’ value. The Board also assumes
the responsibilities for maintaining high standard
of corporate governance, including among others,
reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance, and reviewing and monitoring the
Company's policies and practices in compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements.

The Board has established board committees with
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with the committees’ authority and duties. Details of the
respective committee’s terms of reference are available at
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Group are delegated to the executive
Directors and the senior management. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board for
significant transactions.
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Board Composition EESWAR

The Board currently comprises nine Directors of which ZEEREMRNZESMENK - HFNEAEH
four are executive Directors, two are non-executive fTEH  —ZAIFNTEER=FZABIIF
Directors and three are independent non-executive H{TZEE - RERHME - EF2AEKD
Directors. The composition of the Board during the I :

Relevant Period is as follows:

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman) SREESL R (L)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Chief Executive Officer) KRBT E(TTEAEE)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chief Financial Officer) BB E(BHEHEE)

Mr. He Jiaming (Business Development Director) MR E(REZEREESE)

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Dr. Bu Su (appointed on 8 August 2024) NEET(RZZEZHFENANBEET)

Dr. Xu Ming (appointed on 25 October 2024) FRABL(R=_T_WFE+A=+HA
EEE)

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph At

Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary g T iE+

Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (appointed on 22 January 2025) RKEEERZZE-RAF—A=+=H
BEE)

Mr. Chan Kin Sang (resigned on 2 April 2024) PRIZAE SR E (R MNFMNA B EHE)

Ms. Chow Ching Man (resigned on 22 January 2025) BAEXZt+t(RZTE-_AF—A=-+=H
BH(E)

Ms. Shih Mei Ling (appointed on 3 December 2024 and MEELZT(RZE-NWF+_-_H=H

resigned on 28 February 2025) BEZARR-_ZE-RAF-_A=+/\H

BH(E)

The biographical information of the Directors and ZEEMERERKESEKE ZHNBES
relationships between the members of the Board are set MAAHREFE21ZI0E[EELSREEE Y
out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and B | —&( o SREEJL 4 ~ SREN L E MK
Senior Management” on pages 21 to 30 of this Report. BIFALAE(SREEEBZ —)AELT @ MKE
Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang and Mr.  H{EAER T -MF+-A=+—HAAXR
Chang Yim Yang (one of our senior management) are  AIREZRE o

brother, and Mr. Zhang Shuguang is our substantial

shareholder of the Company as at 31 December 2024,
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times
a year involving active participation, either in person
or through electronic means of communication, of a
majority of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice is given for
a regular Board meeting. For all other Board meetings,
notice will be given in a reasonable time in advance.
The Directors are allowed to include any matter in the
agenda that is required for discussion and resolution
at the meeting. To enable the Directors to be properly
briefed on issues arising at each of the Board meetings
and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the
accompanying Board papers will be sent to all Directors
at least three days before the intended date of the Board
meeting, or such other period as agreed. The company
secretary is responsible for keeping all Board meetings’
minutes. Draft and final versions of the minutes will be
circulated to the Directors for comments and record
respectively within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final version is open for the Directors’ inspection.
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The attendance records of each Director at Board and #HE-Z_-_WNF+_A=+—HIFE -
Committee meetings, at the annual general meeting %%E%%Q&? BgEg% Hx?iﬂiﬁA
("AGM") during the year ended 31 December 2024 areas ([BRRBEXRE | FR800T ¢
follows:
Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend
&/ TS NNEERE
Audit  Remuneration ~ Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
Name of Directors 2] EZe  ENZBE  §MZEE  R4ZEE  hREBEFE
Executive Directors: HES:
Mr. Zhang Shuguang REALE 20120 NIANEF NIARER 44 /1
Mr. Zhang Chunguang REALE 20120 NAR B 44 NARER "
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michal RRELE 1920 NIATER NIATER NIATER "
Mr. He Jiaming mERRE 2020 NATER NATER N ER "
Non-executive Directors: FHES:
Dr. Bu Su (appointed on 8 August 2024)  NEEL(M=F-MENANH 5/5 NATER NATER NATER NATER
Zf)

Dr. Xu Ming (appointed on 25 October ~ HEL (R -F-1F 3 NIAMTER NIATER NATER NATER

2024) TAZTRAZR)
Independent Non-executive Directors: ~ BUFFHTEE :
Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph BEERT 1920 45 34 34 11
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary HETRL 2020 565 4/4 NANER /1
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (appointed on FAERER-Z_0F NATER NATER NATER NATER NAREE

22 January 2025) —AZTZRZf)
Mr. Chan Kin Sang (resigned on RREEE(R-Z-0F 111 Ik AT 1l "

2 April 2024) MA-BEM)
Ms. Chow Ching Man (resigned on FENRT(R=5-0% 20120 5/5 NIANEF 44 i

22 January 2025) —A-t-RED)
Ms. Shih Mei Ling (appointed on HEERERE(R_Z_MF 0 NATER NATER NATER NAT R

3 December 2024 and resigned on TZA=AZARAZ%-R

28 February 2025) EZRZF/\B#T)
Total meeting(s) held during theyear ~ EZ-Z-R&+-F=1-A 2 5 4 4 1

ended 31 December 2024

36 Annual Report 2024 &%

ILERRRTTHEZEE



CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The positions of chairman and chief executive officer are
held by Mr. Zhang Shuguang and Mr. Zhang Chunguang
respectively. The roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer have been separated and assumed by
different individuals to ensure a balance of power and
authority so that power is not concentrated in any member
of the Board. The chairman provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership
of the Board. The chief executive officer focuses on the
Company's business development and daily management
and operations generally.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Relevant Period, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors, accounting for at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the
independent non-executive Directors has submitted a
written statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their
independence. The Company has received from each
of the independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules and the Board considers that
all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent and meet the requirements as set out
in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non- executive Directors are
independent.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang
and Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael has entered into a service
contract with the Company commencing from the Listing
Date, which has no fixed term and can be terminated
by either party giving not less than three months’
notice in writing to the other party. Mr. He Jiaming, has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an
initial fixed term of three years commencing from the
date of appointment and will continue thereafter until
terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ notice. Each of the non-executive Directors,
including the independent non-executive Directors, has
entered into an appointment letter with our Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from their
respective appointment dates and will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party. Each of the
appointments is subject to termination provisions therein
and provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as
set out in the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed aforesaid, none of the Directors
has entered into any service agreement or letter of
appointment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without the payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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All the Directors, including the independent non-
executive Directors, are subject to retirement by rotation
and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Articles
of Association. At each AGM, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-
third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at an AGM at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue
to act as a Director throughout the AGM at which he
retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so
far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to
retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and
does not offer himself for re-election. Any further Directors
so to retire shall be those of other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been the longest in
office since their last re-election or appointment and so
that as between the persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire
shall (unless they otherwise agree among themselves)
be determined by lot. A Director is not required to retire
upon reaching any particular age.

The Company may from time to time in general meeting
by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director.
Any Director so appointed shall be subject to retirement
by rotation.

The Board shall have the power from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an additional Director. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company
after his appointment and be subject to reelection at
such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following AGM and shall then be eligible
for re-election. Any such Director appointed shall not
be taken into account in determining which particular
Directors or the number of Directors who are to retire by
rotation at an AGM.

ERENEBER

Q.

CORRORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

BAES(BREBYIFNITES)HAEREE
BERANBRRIUAERERET - &
BERRBFAG L ER=nz—HNES
(HMHEEABWIE=NEE - B AKEED
BADR=Z0DZ AR BRI H
BRESFAEVB_FHERRABF R LR
TR - REEFAEMEREMT  LHEH
RENKRRBFASHEEBETES -
MEENERABR (AL EMETERTE
ENEZARME ) EAERERENEER
THRBESENES - R HEMAERINE
ERAE L REEREZTARETRME
RERNEMARTREINES  EWFRBHAE
ZREFRELTHEERE  ARRIFNEZE
SITEMGE @ BRIAHERE R REES
ANIE - WERTFESE T EFREAR
£ o

ARRAINRRRRAS LB RREARE
R[EMATRES - UERERE ZERE N
SRR o A ERENEFTAERME
(Ea

EESARTHLERZEEMNALRE
= NEMERRERSGENESRE - AE
FeRENEHRBE=ROTMAES - TR
EHEZERARFNERRRAG R -
WARZAS L EXERET -HEFSZ
EABINREEFTSRENTAES - RE
BETERRAFARgAR/L  BERAEER
BEEE - HREANBRBFAG LR
REMNEBESRESAME - EILE
RENESTEAEER

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

39



40

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control and
risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible
for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of
the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate
actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of
other offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters
relating to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the
Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.
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INDEMNITY OF THE DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect
of any legal actions taken against Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual
basis.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments
and changes in order to effectively perform their
responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

A training was provided for each new Director of the
Company after his/her appointment, to ensure he/she
would understand the operation and business of the
Group and be fully aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations as a Director. During the Relevant Period, the
newly appointed Director Dr. Bu Su, Dr. Xu Ming, Ms.
Shih Mei Ling and Mr. Tsui Wing Tak had obtained the
legal advice referred to in Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing
Rules on 7 August 2024, 24 October 2024, 2 December
2024 and 21 January 2025 respectively, and confirmed
that they understood their obligations as a Director of the
Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. All Directors are encouraged
to attend relevant training courses at the Company's
expenses.

All the Directors were kept informed on a timely basis
of major changes that may have affected the Group’s
business, including relevant rules and regulations. During
the year, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills in accordance with code provision
C.1.4 contained in the CG Code.
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The Company organised training sessions for all Directors.
Such training sessions covered a wide range of relevant
topics including Directors’ duties and responsibilities,

corporate governance and updates on GEM Listing Rules, 55 ° th4) -

etc. In addition, relevant reading materials including

memorandum on the duties and responsibilities of the — #ff7& °
Directors have been provided to the Directors for their

reference and studying.

The record of continuous professional development
relating to Director’s duties and regulatory and business

development that have been received by the Directors for
the Relevant Period are summarised as follows:

RNRAE)BATEEERIHTIRE - BEE
REREZEEEEE  REESBRIEME
B DEERAMGEMETRANZEHEN
EFCRREHEEMENE - 2
REEREIBERTE  UERES2ER

EENEHEPRMK FREERENETE
HEBHRNFEFSESHRIEMALT

Nature of Continuous
Professional
Development

Programmesot
Name of Directors EEHA BHESXREREMHGE Y
Executive Directors: MITES -
Mr. Zhang Shuguang RN EAE A, B
Mr. Zhang Chunguang RENTE A, B
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael BB E A, B
Mr. He Jiaming B Ps A, B
Non-executive Directors: FEHITESE -
Dr. Bu Su (appointed on 8 August 2024) FEEBLE(R-Z - PUF
NANBZEE) A B

Dr. Xu Ming (appointed on 25 October ~ #RBABE(R=_Z=NF

2024) +TAZ+RHEZME) A B
Independent Non-executive Directors: B IEITES ¢
Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph EIE A, B
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary Bz T iE L A, B
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (appointed on RokBRE(RZZE_0F

22 January 2025) —HAZTZHBZME) A, B
Mr. Chan Kin Sang (resigned on BREEAESSE(RZTZUF

2 April 2024) A ZHEHE) A, B
Ms. Chow Ching Man (resigned on ABEXZLE(R-ZE-_AF

22 January 2025) —AZ+ZHEE) A, B
Ms. Shih Mei Ling (appointed on HEERLL(RZTZUF

3 December 2024 and resigned on TZAZBAZERRE

28 February 2025) —HE-A -+ N\BHEE) A, B
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Notes:

A: Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or
briefings

B:  Reading materials relevant to corporate governance,
director’s duties and responsibilities, GEM Listing Rules and
other relevant ordinances

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY AND ANTI-
CORRUPTION POLICY

Whistle-blowing and anti-corruption policies are
established. More details and the mechanism of the
policies could be found in the 2024 ESG report in this
Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees on 26
November 2018, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with their authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are
available to shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on
page 3.

Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee consists
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Cheng Faat Ting Gary (Chairman), Dr. Chow Kwok Fai
Joseph and Ms. Chow Ching Man.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in
compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing
Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit Committee are
to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information
and reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit
function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the
Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of
the Company. The Audit Committee shall hold at least
two meetings a year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, 7 meetings
have been held for the Audit Committee to review,
the quarterly, interim, and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on the financial reporting,
operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems and
continuing connected transactions.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
is set out in the section headed “Board and Committee
Meetings” of this Report.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee
consists of three members, namely Dr. Cheng Faat Ting
Gary (Chairman) and Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph, both
are independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Zhang
Chunguang, an executive Director.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are in compliance with Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM
Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing and
making recommendations on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; (ii) establishing formal and
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration
policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any
of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration; (iii) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to
the Board's corporate goals and objectives; (iv) assessing
performance of executive Directors; and (v) approving
the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts. The
Remuneration Committee shall meet not less than once
every year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Remuneration
Committee met 2 times to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
policy and the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings” of this Report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management are set out in note 8 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Zhang Shuguang
(Chairman), an executive Director, Dr. Chow Kwok Fai
Joseph and Ms. Chow Ching Man, they are independent
non-executive Director.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
are in compliance with paragraph B.3 of the CG Code
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and succession planning of Directors,
and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination
Committee met 2 times to review among other things,
the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; consider the qualifications of the retiring
directors standing for election at the 2023 annual general
meeting; review the structure, size and composition of
the Board and review the Board diversity policy adopted
by the Company.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination

Committee is set out in the section headed “Board and
Committee Meetings” of this Report.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy and
discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of a
diversity of Board members and will continue to be made
on a merit basis. In assessing the Board composition, the
Nomination Committee would take into account various
aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity
as set out in the Company’s Board diversity policy and
procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director of the Company, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and industry and regional experience etc. The Nomination
Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption. The Board has reviewed the structure of the
Board at least annually to consider the composition of the
Board.

The Board currently has one female member, and the
Board is of the view that it has achieved gender diversity.
The Board will strive to maintain or enhance gender
diversity in the foreseeable future. Specifically, the Board
will always include at least one female Directors in its
composition. The Company is committed to promoting
gender diversity not only within the Board but among its
workforce generally. For the detailed gender ratio in the
workforce (including senior management), please refer to
the 2024 ESG report in this Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board as a whole is responsible for performing the
functions set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors, the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Report, and communicate with various level of
staff to ascertain the implementation of policies and
procedures on corporate governance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Company has in place policies and procedures
in relation to risk management and internal control.
The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing the
risk management and internal control systems and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The Company’s internal
control system and procedures are designed to meet its
specific business needs and to minimise its risk exposure.
The Company has adopted different internal guidelines,
along with written policies and procedures to monitor and
lessen the impact of risks which are relevant to its business
and control its daily business operations. Management
will identify the risks associated with the Group’s day-
to-day operations for review by the Board. The Board is
responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks that the Company is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board acknowledges
that such risk management and internal control systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function and
is currently of the view that there is no immediate need
to set up an internal audit function within the Group
considering the size, nature and geography of the Group's
business. The Directors are responsible for formulating
and overseeing the implementation of the Group’s risk
management and internal control measures. The Group
has engaged an external independent internal control
consultant (the “IC Consultant”) to conduct an internal
control review on the internal control system of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024. Such review is
conducted annually. The review covers certain business
cycles and procedures undertaken by the Group and
make recommendations for improving and strengthening
the system. The scope of the IC Consultant’s review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The
IC Consultant has recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Board. The Board is of the
view that no material internal control defeats have been
noted. All recommendations given by the IC Consultant
will be properly followed up by the Group to ensure that
they are implemented within a reasonable period of time.
The Directors were of the view that the risk management
and internal control systems were adequate and effective
to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group covering all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance
controls functions. The Board considers that the Group's
risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective. The Board expects that a review
of the risk management and internal control systems will
be performed annually.

CORRORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

AREBE EAFEZE LR /RIER ATA
SEXRBZHAR HERMRE - BERKRN

REBRNR L NEEZIE - EFAEHTE
REBHNEBRERRANBESEHEMNEEH
Tt o NEBE REEINIBIB LA ESIT B
([AEPEEZER )  REBE-T-OF+=
A= + HIEFEAAREBMNAIPEIER
FETTNEPESIE AT o MBI B FHEIT—
R REREASBE BN TESBERR
Br - WRENRERINSEBRANER °
N BN EEHE LN CHESSR
Eiﬁ& NEPEEEREMESTEZ T

ATRHMEIELCERE - EFERA/IWEE
BINEANTPETRR - AEBEKEERE
FHNEREE IR EERIAS T RIFT B 15k - ARBIRR%
ZEEN—BRAENBRART - EFER
7 RRREE RN RS AR st E
R F R A EBEE o

EECREERZRES  HAKRENRARE
BRAMEIERFEDERETR - EF
BEMBEAGRER  BRME  2&
REREEREE - EFTERA - AEENE
REELAMEERTTE AR - EFE
A BF YRR EE ARSI RFSETR

af e

EREYESIRIR AR A T Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

49



50

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRE

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 8 in the
Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) whose particulars is contained
in the section headed “Biographies of the Directors and
Senior Management” in this Report by band is set out
below:

FMNEE(E )

Remuneration band (in HK$)

EERSREEREHH

BHE_ZS_NF+_A=+—HIFENE
EHMNFIBI N AR S I TERERMIFES -

RIBEEERTANTRGEXEEN S S
REEERE (BFERIN (HFBERNLH
SEERSRERERE] ) IZEEZ
DHFMIAT -

Number of individuals

AE

Nil to 1,000,000 Z%1,000,000

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND THEIR
REMUNERATION

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited (“Forvis Mazars"”) is the
external auditor of the Company. The Audit Committee
is responsible for making recommendation to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, which is subject to the approval by the
Board and at the general meetings of the Company by its
shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
remuneration for the audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor to the Group was as follows:

SIS R BB e EL 57 A

EEREGAMEBMAERAR(EEH
ERARRRINEZHED - BZEEER
BEMIMNERBEINERE ENEELER
MESSROERRZS  HERT  EF
ZERBRAKESTEMHERBRRRAR
AR A E EHEAE -

REE-_T-_NF+_A=+—HILFE
RN B) A% BRAD A A 52 B 42 (A0 22 4% AR 7% 5 A
R

Equivalent to
HK$ RMB
BT FEE RN

Annual audit service for the year
ended 31 December 2024

Hz—_Z-_pWF+—-_A=+—H
IFFERNFEEZRS

750,000 695,000
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDITOR

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts for the year ended 31 December
2024, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows
for that period and comply with the requirement of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) ("Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”) and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

The auditor is responsible for forming an independent
opinion, based on the audit, on the financial statements
prepared by the Directors and reporting the opinion solely
to the Company’s shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The statement of the independent auditor
of the Company about its reporting responsibilities on
the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 115 to 125.

ERENEBER

A

CBﬁPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EERRE
EERREMEENERE
BEENMREGEEBEE T _WE+_-A

=t HALEFEZRENET  ZKREAE
BRI RSB R MR S B A K
XELBEERENN - AFNEFBEDNE
622 B R ARG ([ BB D BFRE ) R E
K EmR AR ER I ERE o

REMBERBEER TIERESRRMNE
BWMRIVEIBILER - WERARRIBRE

ERER -

EEWNABAE A e S ANEBEIFEL L AL
NEXERFBHEHIRANABERT
ERAE - ARR B IXEMERE I
MEMNRERTHERIFHNFE11521258
W[ B AZBRE R |

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

51



52

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRE

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong and the GEM Listing Rules and the
overriding principle that inside information should be
announced promptly when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to
the disclosure requirement under the GEM Listing
Rules as well as the "Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy
on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, nonexclusive
distribution of information to the public through
channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and the Company’s website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented
procedures for responding to external enquiries
about the Group’s affairs, the Board will decide, or
designate appropriate persons to communicate with
parties outside the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Company secretary supports the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that the
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and facilitating induction and
professional development of the Directors. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations, are followed.
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Mr. Chau Lai Ki was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company on 25 September 2017 and has
complied with all requirements relating to qualifications,
experiences and training under the GEM Listing Rules. For
the year ended 31 December 2024, he has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially
separate issue at general meetings, including the election
of individual Director. All resolutions put forward at
general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Convening an EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of
the Company, shareholders may convene an EGM in
accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM” set out below.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholder(s)”) shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a
resolution at the EGM.
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Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for
the purpose of making proposals or moving a resolution
at the EGM must deposit a written requisition (the
“Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned (the “Requisitionist(s)”) at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (presently
located at Room 04, 9 Floor, Kimberley House, 35-35A
Kimberley Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong) for
the attention of the company secretary. The Requisition
must state clearly the name(s) of the Requisitionist(s)
concerned, his/her/their shareholdings in the Company,
the reason(s) to convene an EGM and the proposed
agenda.

The Company will check the Requisition and the identity
and shareholding of the Requisitionist(s) will be verified
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong.
If the Requisition is found to be proper and in order, the
company secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM
and/or include the proposal(s) made or the resolution(s)
proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the EGM within
two months after the deposit of the Requisition. On the
contrary, if the Requisition has been verified as not in
order, the Requisitionist(s) will be advised of the outcome
and accordingly, the Board or the company secretary will
not call for an EGM nor include the proposal(s) made or
the resolution(s) proposed by the Requisitionist(s) at the
EGM.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the
Board or the company secretary fails to proceed to
convene such EGM, the Requisitionist(s) himself/herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board or the company
secretary to convene an EGM shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the
Company, shareholders may send written enquiries to
the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: Room 04, 9 Floor, Kimberley House, 35-35A
Kimberley Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong

(For the attention of the company secretary)

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose
new resolutions at the general meetings under the
Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands.
Subject to provisions of the Articles, Eligible Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition,
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH THE SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to encouraging and maintaining
an ongoing dialogue with shareholders through
the dynamic implementation of a shareholder’s
communication policy through various channels. The
Company’s annual general meeting provides a good
opportunity for the Directors to meet and communicate
with shareholders. All Directors make their best efforts
to attend the Annual General Meeting in order to
answer questions from the Company’s shareholders.
In accordance with the disclosure requirements of
the GEM Listing Rules, the Company makes timely,
accurate and complete disclosure of any discloseable and
material matters in newspapers and websites designated
by the relevant regulatory authorities to protect the
shareholders’ right to information and participation. The
Company also has a dedicated department responsible for
investor relations, the contact details of which are set out
in the section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” above. The
Company attaches great importance to communication
with investors and has hosted individual shareholders
at various shareholder meetings and answered their
telephone enquiries on a number of occasions to enhance
investors’ understanding of and confidence in the
Company.

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the above
channels of communication between the Company
and its shareholders on an annual basis. The Board is
satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of the
Company'’s activities in communicating with shareholders
and investors during the reporting period.

Annual Report 2024 &%

REEBERERR ZBE

EXEEABREAEHRATRREMK
R BB REFERRSELE - AR
AZBERBERSRMT —ERFHEE A
FEFERRSEMNEE - IEEFHUR
RAZENHEERRBFAE - NMEBREXR
NAIRERZIRMA o AR ARIZEGEM L AR
AMBWERTE  EAREEERETNHRE
KAt R A TR ENBERBFAFEL
HERESTRNERIE - AMRERR ) MIGHE
K28 - KRR AEZERM  BERER
BERE BB DA BCRER | —
B o ARBTNEREREFZNAE  ZX
ZHREABRRS NS ERR LR EEER
A IR EEHARBEREREL

EERFRHA LN FEBRNBEER
BZBERE - EERUARFTRANREHA
EITHEBR MR EEBAAAE 2B R
FXR TR B ©



DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) by
way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. In recommending dividends to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits, the
Board would also ensure the Company has adequate
reserves for future growth. The Board’s decision to
declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and the
amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial
condition, liquidity position and capital requirements
of the Group, as well as dividends received from the
Company'’s subsidiaries, which in turn will depend on the
ability of those subsidiaries to pay a dividend. In addition,
any final dividends for a financial year will be subject
to the approval of Shareholders. The declaration and
payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to
any applicable restrictions under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s Articles
of Association and any other applicable laws, rules and
regulations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has no significant changes in the
Company's constitutional documents during the year.
A consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional
documents is available on the Company’s website and
the website of the Stock Exchange.
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GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS - dFRERHE

INTRODUCTION

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance (the
"ESG") Report of the Group to highlight its approaches
and strategies in pursuit of sustainable development for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Reporting
Period”). This ESG report covers the environmental and
social performance of the Group’s business operation
of its manufacturing operation in Shenzhen, the PRC,
namely Shenzhen Huakang, during the Reporting Period,
unless otherwise stated. The Group primarily adopts
the principles and basis of Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting
Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Group complied with all the provisions set out
in the ESG Reporting Guide during the Reporting Period.

The Group is a medical device supplier principally
specialized in the research and development (the “R&D"),
manufacturing and sale of a wide range of biological
reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies and
equipment in the PRC, which collectively accounted for
100% of the Group's total revenue during the Reporting
Period. The Group’s product portfolio offers 31 biological
reagents, including 28 male fertility IVD reagents, 2
parasite antibody detection reagents and 1 Epstein-Barr
virus antibody detection reagent.

Since December 2020, the Group had a new segment
to commencement, marketing and distribution of self-
developed healthcare supplements under the Group's
registered brand “Nutronic”. The healthcare product
business is included in the report since then and no
revenue contributed from this segment during the
Reporting Period. There were no major operational
changes in the scope compared with the period from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 (the “Last
Reporting Period”).
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SbCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD'S ESG COMMITMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG
strategy and reporting. Specifically, the Board is held
accountable for the Group’s long-term resilience with
respect to potential shifts in the business landscape that
may result from climate change. As the stewards for long-
term performance and resilience, the Board is committed
to determining the most effective way to integrate ESG
considerations into its structure and committees. The
Group also evaluates and monitors ESG-related risks
and ensures these risks are thoroughly considered and
involved in decision making and embedded into the
management of risk and opportunities across the Group.

The Group strives to achieve a high level of public
transparency by regularly engaging stakeholders and
disclosing information in a timely and accurate manner.
Accordingly, the Group maintains regular exchanges and
dialogues with peers, investors and other stakeholders
to encourage the sharing of methodologies and to stay
informed about the latest ESG-related risks, regulatory
requirements etc. The Group also tracks existing
regulations and emerging regulations to ensure its ESG
policies, processes and disclosures meet expectations.

Legal compliance is an essential pillar for sound corporate
governance and underpins sustainable operations.
The Group has established appropriate and effective
management policies and internal control systems for
ESG issues during the Reporting Period and confirmed
that the disclosed contents comply with the requirements
of the ESG Reporting Guide.
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THE GROUP’S ESG APPROACH

The Board and senior management are engaged in the
materiality assessment in identifying material ESG issues
that impact the Group's business operations. The Board
formulates the approach and strategy towards ESG factors
to identify, evaluate, prioritise and manage material
ESG related issues. The Group holds periodic meetings
to discuss significant matters related to operations and
review management approaches towards a set of ESG
issues. The Group continuously monitors ESG-related risks
through the implementation of appropriate systems and
processes.

Reflecting international concerns on climate change, the
Group has begun assessing the short, medium and long-
term materiality of ESG related risks and opportunities
for the Group. The Group ensures that all its actions
and responses to climate change are proportionate to
the materiality of climate change effects on the Group.
The Board reviews progress against ESG related matters
through setting appropriate targets and strategies to be
implemented to measure progress on an annual basis.
Such measures are crucial to the Group’s business as
they enable the Group to manage ESG related risks and
regulatory requirements.

The Group will consider including ESG targets and
indicators in its executive incentive schemes, where
appropriate.

The favourable policies and systems in the PRC enable
the Group to seize new business opportunities in the
emerging IVD market and invest in the development of
the biomedical industry to tackle future health challenges.
To meet the increasingly sophisticated demands of
customers, the Group seeks to enhance existing products
and develop new products leveraging its vast experience
and advanced technologies, which, in turn, benefits
society.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

In order to preserve a meaningful comparison, there was
no material change to the methods or KPIs used by the
Group in the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
The Group did not have any reporting boundaries of this
ESG report.

THE GROUP’S MISSION AND VISION

Enhance peoples’ health
Meet customer’s needs

The Group embraces its vision through its operational
practices and in the provision of quality products and
excellent service. Not only does the Group adhere to
stringent standards and requirements to ensure that
its products meet the highest quality, it also actively
engages in developing innovative products for worldwide
healthcare needs and a better quality of life.

The Group’s ambitions are:

be a pioneer in its core technologies;
boost investment in R&D;

recruit high-caliber personnel worldwide;

establish and implement quality management
systems effectively;

stay innovative in various business areas,

enhance the physical well-being of the general
public;

adhere to the customer-centric principle in business
practice and take full responsibility in service delivery
to customers’ satisfaction;

comply with relevant rules and regulations; and

improve quality management systems consistently
for a stable product quality that meets customers’
requirements.

7

ERENEBER

A

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - gRERWRE

HREHE

SBRBAEENLE  ~AEERBE_F
“ER = t+-A=t—HIFE
P A T Ak RS2 A8 AU 1R X B K &
B o AEERNARE @ NEAREPA
EEREHE -

=

REBER
EERERE
WEEFER

AEEERLEERRMEHEEIERNE M
R EBERES - AREMEE RS
BREMENR  UEREEMEISFSEE -

i B TR 2 B 2 IR EE f DA e IR ER
BIREFRMAELEEE -

REEEE

P S IZ D B ) ST BR
BINFTENRE
i REMBEAT

BIYNMERAMNEEEEE

HEERTE X RERITRIF
REARH T O
EEBREBRERUATP AR LNR
A - SHRENRBAER I B - AR
BEEWmE

BTIEREM RIFER - K&

SENEEEREHE  NEImER
FERNRETEREE °

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited 61



62

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiE - HERERERS

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY

The Group recognizes the importance of building
positive relationships with its stakeholders. The Group
maintains ongoing dialogues with key stakeholders via
various communication channels including meetings,
performance reviews, customer satisfaction surveys and
interview sessions. Feedback obtained through such
regular engagement is essential to the decision-making
process of the Group’s operations, from improving its
business performance to gaining insights into future
development.

To identify material ESG issues, the Group specifically
engaged both internal and external stakeholders to
gain insights into ESG material topics and challenges
the Group’s operations face. Key stakeholders, such as
shareholders, directors of the board, suppliers, customers
and staff were engaged in the materiality assessment.
In the materiality assessment, stakeholders were asked
to rate a list of 19 topics in terms of their relevance and
importance to the Group's business development and
sustainability, as well as to the wider community.
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The following table summarises the main expectations
and concerns of our key stakeholders and the

Q.
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corresponding management responses.

Stakeholders

Expectations and Requirements

RiR - R ER®RE

TR EEFNENTEZRNENEEIFER
AR EEREEE DI -

Communication Channels

& M EER BBEE
Investors and Shareholders e  Corporate Governance e Annual General Meetings
e Returns e Announcements and Circulars
e Company Values e  Financial Reports
e  ESG Reports
REEH MR o (EER o KREBFAE
. B N 1
. AREE .« BIFWE
e IRIE - HERERWME
Suppliers e Code of Conduct e Company Website
e Assessment Criteria e Emails
e Phone Calls and Meetings
e o 11RSTH LN F &
o FHEHER] e EH
° B
Customers e  Service and Product Quality e Company Website
e Customer Services e Emails
e Phone Calls and Meetings
®P d HE%&EDDEE ° NGIE DR
o EFR% e FEH
e TEMhER
Government e Compliance e Notices and Filings
e  Equality of Employments e Emails
e Occupational Safety e  ESG Report
245} e AR o BHLXIE
o EREFHF o FIP
s BEZLZE o IRIE - HERER/WME
Employees e Compensation e Trainings
e Occupational Health and Safety e Internal Meetings
e  Career Development e Emails and Notices
(== o Mg o I
o BEREHEZE . W*B 3
o RXRIE o EHIABH
Community e Information Transparency e Company Website
e Announcements
o o EHERE o NAEIAEUL
o &
EREYESIRIR AR A T Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Results of the materiality assessment and the consolidated
list of material aspects are presented in the following
matrix and table respectively.

BUREA NERERRA -

MATERIALITY MATRIX BEEMEE

Materiality of Different Topics from Stakeholder Engagement

FOEZ2EHTETENERN

External Interests
SNERFI

Lower @ @

EMFHERNTIBZRBHEH5IKRD 5

BE S
Internal Assessment on Importance to Business
HEKEZHNRIBTE
Q Environmental
RIERE
A1 | Energy 428 B1 | Employment EfE
A2 | Water Ak B2 | Occupational Health and Safety BERFRERETS
A3 | Air Emission KR B3 | Development and Training R BIE |
A4 | Waste and Effluent FEFEMIFNISK B4 | Labour Standards & 2R
A5 | Packaging Material Consumption BEMEIERE B5 | Supplier Management HEEER
A6 | Environmental Protection Measures  IRIZ(RTEEIE B6 | Intellectual Property ANFREETE
A7 | Climate Change RIRE L B7 | Data Protection HIRRE
B8 | Customer Service =P R%
G Others B9 | Product/Service Quality ER/RiSEE
Hith=E18 B10 | Anti-corruption R&ER
c1 ‘ Raw Material Management R R E R B11 | Community Investment HERE
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Among the environmental and social aspects, the MERBEAMLEHE @+ U TIRE L@ RER
following ESG topics were deemed as the most important T EHIFNERTEAZEEZNME ¢
by the stakeholders:

e Product and service quality o EmMRFEZE
e Occupational Health and Safety o BEREELE
e Development and Training o EE[REALET

e Waste and Effluent o REEWEIFK

e Employment e [EfE
STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK FOENRER

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG =~ AEBEIFHEHHERE e NEART
approach and sustainability performance. Stakeholders SERMAIFFEEEBEL REE o FHHDEAI@B
may share with the Group any suggestion and view via % & 7 ¥ {4 = hk@szhuakang.com £2 AN &
email to: hk@szhuakang.com. E o Z A R AR o
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AWARDS, RECOGNITIONS AND MEMBERSHIPS #®1g - AR

Since its establishment, the Group has received awards B AIZEAZR » 2N 58 B 5 6 R 1 0 (50 A% AR F
and recognitions from governmental and international  ERYEEIBRRA] © DAK E HIE 2= S A2 A B
authorities acknowledging its achievements in product ¥%% KiEEAEATESHAAH - AEBE
R&D and occupational safety and health. The Group has JE{SLA T EEIHEEE -

obtained the following awards or certifications:

Awards/Recognitions Awarding authority

&1\, R TR

Shenzhen High and New Technology Enterprise Technology and Innovation Committee of
Shenzhen

Finance Bureau of Shenzhen
Shenzhen State Taxation Bureau
YRR BT Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau
RITRREIFEE S
AT
AYTEKBE B
YT S B B

High and New Technology Enterprise Technology and Innovation Committee of
Shenzhen
DR Finance Bureau of Shenzhen

FIHRIREIHEES
AT B

Work Safety Standardization State Administration of Work Safety
HELZ2EREL BRZe4EEEERR
Specialized, Sophisticated and Innovative SMEs Shenzhen SME Service Bureau
BRI RYF N ERTE D

Innovative SMEs Shenzhen SME Service Bureau

BIFT BRI /P2 wY /B RBS
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Moreover, the Group actively forges close ties with the It oh + 75 55 [B] 75 49z £ 22 (A #4478 78 7 22 25 B
industry bodies and takes part in professional associations % WRHAYBREBRNBEERS - KEH
in the biomedical community. The Group is currently the BRIANL N HEKE :

member of the following associations:

e Shenzhen Association of Medical Devices, o RNIMEBESWMITERS
e Shenzhen Hi-tech Industry Association, o HNmEEmEXEHE
e Guangdong Medical Device Management Academy, o BEREZBERHEEES

e Guangdong Food and Drug Technology Association o ERARMERBFIAERMHE
for Evaluation and Certification,

e Shenzhen Life Science and Biotechnology Association, o FEIImAmBEEAYRITHE - &
and

e Shenzhen Medical Device Quality Promotion o I FJITEERHESEERES
Association.

o

These associations provide excellent platforms for ZEHEARNBM  #4% - MERBEL =
knowledge sharing, networking, market insight sharing & ¥ ERHE Tiiﬁmi‘* °
and business development.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is committed to protecting the
environment and remains vigilant against greenhouse
gas ("“GHG") emissions in all business activities. The
Group's Environmental Management Policy outlines
the key objectives and principles of the Group related
to managing the environmental influences of its
operations.

The Group mainly consumed electricity, petrol and
water, and generated wastewater and paper waste
during the Reporting Period. The Group strictly
abides by the laws, rules and regulations enforced by
the PRC in relation to environmental protection and
pollution control, including but not limited to:

e  Environmental Protection Law of the PRC;

e Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of
the PRC;

e Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution; and

e Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

During the Reporting Period, no material
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating
to air and GHG emissions, discharge into water
and land, or the generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste was recorded.
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A1. Emissions

Air pollutants and GHG emissions are significant
factors to address in combating climate change.
To reduce emissions, only high-quality fuel is used
within the Group's fleet. Where appropriate, staff
are encouraged to use public transport. The Group
also tends to choose suppliers that are closely
located to its operations, so that emissions caused by
transport between the suppliers and the operations
can be minimised.

A1.1 Air Emissions

The Group-owned petrol vehicles were used for daily
business operations during the Reporting Period,
which contributed to the emission of nitrogen oxides
("NO,"), sulfur oxides (“SO,"”) and respiratory
suspended particles (“RSP").

RiR - R ER®RE

A1, BB
RSB ER BRI E I RIE
LR RFHAEZE - ARADEEN - K

SEEFNERBEENS - NEES
AT XBETEAARRE - AEH
TMARPE R MIBAE AR H 2 ER
RS - 2R A BEIRUER B R
BB P B B S A O BRI ©

A1 BERBER

BERAN  AEBEABFTHER
ANBEER  ERHERAALED
(TNO, 1) ~ B b (S0, J) K AT IR A
BFRIT([RSP])

Air emissions (non-GHG) from mobile combustion

BERBEELENERFRGERERE)

NO, (kg) RSP (kg) SO, (kg)
AELEY ARABINT HRELY
Fuel Source #REHR Usage BREHE A (AF) (AF) (AF)
Petrol i For vehicles =43 4.9 0.36 0.10
Note: Bt -
Emission factors for calculations on environmental B BHSBAY - B ERAE hHHE IR ISR

parameters throughout the report were made reference to
Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and their referred
documentation as set out by Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise.

ERENEBER

PR B2 RGEM E AR A M 8220 R &
BRHMEEMER DRI E2E XXMM
fEH
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s business
activities contributed to the GHG emission of 131.20
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“tCO,eq."),
mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE  HERERRSE

A2 BER
(AR

=54

R
EHA - AEENKLEBES

T131.20 -tk E = (| M=Fb

CEE2R AR FREEASR

)RR EREBYEN - NREBEEEDN

The overall GHG intensity for the Group was 1.44 BERABRZEREEE2EBEES (2
tC0O,eq. with reference to the number of full-time BES )1 ME_S(tiEEXEHE
employees (“FTE"), or 0.0027 tCO,eq. per unit of HEMO.0027M —ftiRE & - WL
product sold, representing an increase of 5.1% and a WS BIIEANS.1% KR 3.6% ©
decrease of 3.6% respectively compared with the Last

Reporting Period.

Total

Emission GHG Emission GHG Emission

Scope of GHG Emissions Sources (tCO,eq.) (%)
BERBHER AHEEREIHER

AEREHRAEE B HOR (—F{tmEE) (%)

Scope 1 Direct GHG Emission

Hig1 HERERBHEN

Combustion of fuel for mobile sources Petrol 18.13 14%

PREHRE (BB EIR) i

Scope 2 Energy Indirect GHG Emission

EiS2 e REERER BN

Purchased electricity 107.02 81%

FREEE N

Scope 3 Other Indirect GHG Emission

EiR3 Hitt R EREHEK

Paper waste disposal 1.23

HEREEREAR

Electricity used for freshwater processing 0.76

RIKBRIRPFEE 7] 5%

Electricity used for sewage processing 0.31

VG/KERIRFTFEE T)

Business air travel by employees 3.75

Total 131.20 100%

#et

Note 1: Emission factors were made by reference to Batr - BB ABHBEN - BERRE LR
Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules and their GEM_ET#3 BB 8% 20 R B 32 PP e
referred documentation as set out by the Stock HBZXHmiED -

Exchange, unless stated otherwise.

Note 2: Emission factor of 0.06101 tCO,/MWh was used W2 - EHBRERERBEE N IEAE
for purchased electricity in the National Grid of MEE0.06101 W — &AL E &
the PRC. JKERETE -

Note 3: Emission factor of 0.71 tCO,/MWh was used for B33 BEBBABRNARMNENTIRA

electricity purchased from the Hong Kong Electric

Company.
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A1.3 Hazardous Waste

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated
a total of 4.10 tonnes of hazardous waste,
mainly comprised of hazardous solids and liquids.
The intensity was 0.08 kg/unit of product sold,
representing no change compared with the last
Reporting Period.

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

Non-hazardous waste from the Group’s operations
consists mainly of paper waste and domestic waste.
During the Reporting Period, the Group generated a
total of 1.25 tonnes of non-hazardous waste, 21%
of which was paper waste derived from the Group’s
office operation. The overall intensity was 13.7 kg/
FTE, representing an increase of 5.4% compared to
the Last Reporting Period.

A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group is dedicated to curbing air pollution
and GHG emissions from its operations. To reduce
emissions produced though its products, the Group
estimates the production needs and determines the
optimal production quantity in one-off production.

The Group highly encourages employees to use
public transport whenever possible. The Group
has adopted the use of online conferencing tools
to reduce air travel. As a result of the Group’s
continuous efforts, both fuel consumption and
vehicle exhaust emissions reduced significantly
compared to the Last Reporting Period. In the long
run, the Group has established a 10-year Group-wise
emission reduction target to reduce emissions by
10% by the fiscal year of 2030.

RiR - HRERHRSE

A3 BEREEY

NEHE - NEBB 41085 FEE
R IZEHRAZERNMARE - -TE
AREHELERTSEM0BAT » B L
¥R & RmEE)

A4 BEREZEY)

REBELEFHELNBEZEEEZYETE
BIERE AR K BRI IR o AR HAM ¢
REBEAEEBEREEY.250 - HA
21% BAE BN IS EEERREA o B
BEERI13IAN /8482 BEE &
Bk & BRI AN5.4% ©

A5 B BEE

REBBNORMHIEXBREENE
FOsR IR ERELN o AR EER
EERNPR - AEBBELEERFK - A
E —REEENREEE -

AEEGNEREERMREERIHRR
BTA - AEECRAREREGEIA
BAOREENR - HRANEE RS -
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BRgRL - REMS © NEBEKRLI10
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A1.6 Waste Handling and Reduction Initiatives

The Group strictly observes national laws in handling
both hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Wastes
are reduced and prevented at source wherever
possible. Wastewater, as a kind of hazardous waste,
is temporarily stored in containers, and collected by
designated licensed handlers for further treatment
prior to disposal.

Paper waste is collected and disposed of in
landfills. The Group continues to implement paper-
saving measures to reduce paper waste at source.
For instance, the Group encourages double-
sided printing, promotes the use of electronic
documentation, and keeps track of paper
consumption in promoting a paperless office. The
paper consumption pattern was similar to the Last
Reporting Period. In the long run, the Group has
established a 10-year Group-wise waste reduction
target to reduce waste generation by 20% by the
fiscal year of 2030.
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A2. Use of Resources

A2.

—_

Although the Group has not established formal
policies on improving resource utilization efficiency,
the Group adheres to the principle of full utilization
of resources and encourages employees to observe
relevant practices to achieve resource conservation.

Energy Consumption

The total energy consumption of the Group was
172,098 Kilowatt-hour (“"kWh"), with an overall
energy intensity of 1,891 kWh/FTE, and 3.54 kWh
per unit of product sold during the Reporting Period,
representing an increase of 3.6% and a decrease
of 6.3% respectively compared to the last reporting
period.

Direct/indirect

RiR - R ER®RE

A2. ERER

BEEAEBEYESEEARRESER
ERAME - BEAREE-EEFEDF A
BRMRA - Y EEEETERER
ReERER -

A2.1 BEREFE
REEHE - AEBENERRERS
172,098 TR ([ FEE ) @ #BERE
ERI18NTEN S42RBEERT
HEHEMISATEE - R E—@EHRS
HAR 5 B3 003.6 % MR 6.3% ©

Energy Sources Consumption ~ Consumption Energy Intensity
B/ BiEeR HEE HEE BRRE
(unit) (kwh)
(1) (FTEE)
Petrol 6,816 L 65,610 721 KWh/FTE ~ 1.35 kWh/unit of product sold
b 6,8167 TNFRE/  135TRE/SHELESR
BREBES
Purchased electricity 172,098 kWh 172,098 1,891 kWh/FTE  3.54 kWh/unit of product sold
FiBE N 172,098 F FLE 1891FRE/  354TEE/SHEHER
BREBIES
Group total 237,708 2,612 kWh/FTE  4.89 kWh/unit of product sold
smast 2612TEE,/  489TRE /SHELER
BHREBES
Note: st -

Conversion factors were made reference to IEA Energy
Statistics Manual and 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories.

E R N2 ERR A RBRE RS HET
itk - T RFIPCCHRFKBEER BN EE
EFITEM ©
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A2.2 Water Consumption

Freshwater consumed for daily business operations is
supplied by municipal freshwater supplier. Water is
mainly used for domestic use and in the production
of reagents. During the Reporting Period, the
water consumption for the Group was 1,816 m?3,
contributing to a water intensity of 20.0 m*/FTE or
0.04 m? per unit of product sold.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group’s major energy consumption is petrol
consumption by vehicles and electricity consumption.
The Group regularly monitors the usage of energy
to achieve maximum consumption efficiency. The
Group has formulated a series of measures to reduce
electricity consumption and increase electricity
efficiency. Energy conservation initiatives adopted by
the Group include:

e maintaining all default temperature settings of
air conditioners at 25.5°C;

e choosing low-carbon and energy-efficient
products and appliances;

e setting computers to energy-saving mode when
idle; and

e switching off office equipment and electronic
devices after office hours.

In the long run, the Group has established a 10-
year Group-wise energy reduction target to reduce
electricity use by 20% by the fiscal year of 2030.
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A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

No issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose
was identified during the Reporting Period. To
sustain water resources, the Group encourages
water conservation and reminds all staff members to
reduce water wastage whenever possible. Compared
to the Last Reporting Period, the water intensity
declined by 30% measured by number of FTE. In the
long run, the Group has set a 10-year Group-wise
water reduction target to reduce water use by 20%
by the fiscal year of 2030.

Water conservation initiatives adopted by the Group
include:

¢ reminding employees to turn off water taps
after use;

e putting up posters related to water resource
conservation at prominent locations;

e monitoring the water usage patterns; and

e enforcing inspections and maintenance to
prevent wastage of water resources.

A2.5 Packaging Materials

Paper cartons and plastics were widely used
as packaging materials for different product
presentations. During the Reporting Period, a
total of 3.45 tonnes of packaging materials were
consumed, including carton boxes, polyethylene and
polypropylene, contributing to an intensity of 0.07
kg per unit of product sold. All packaging materials
have undergone rigorous quality control tests before
use.
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A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3.1Significant Impacts of Activities on the

Environment

The Group’s business activities do not pose
any major significant adverse impacts on the
environment, except for the minor impact arising
from consumption of energy resources and fuels.
The Group’s Environmental Management Policy aims
to facilitate rational and efficient use of resources
such as energy, water and other raw materials.
The Group also carries out various measures for
reducing GHG emissions and advocating resource
conversation through the 3R’s (namely reducing
waste, reusing, and recycling resources) principle.
During the Reporting Period, any waste, wastewater,
or emissions that posed adverse impacts to human or
environment was appropriately managed, controlled,
and treated prior to release into the environment.

Electricity consumption was the largest component
of the Group’s energy, making up nearly 81% of
total energy consumed. To reduce electricity use, the
Group has specifically adopted various management
measures. For instances, the Group has provided
education to employees to raise their awareness of
energy conservation and given preference to low-
carbon and energy-saving appliances.

Looking forward, the Group will persist in operating
the business in an environmentally responsible
manner and drive a continual improvement in its
business processes, products, and services with as
little impact on the environment as possible.
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A4. Climate Change

Huakang acknowledges that it has a role in limiting
climate change, and that climate change may impose
an impact in limiting the Group's operations. To
better identify and address the risks involved, the
Group is committed to looking at climate change
issues together with other ESG issues. This means the
Board will take initiative in assessing climate-change
related matters with the support of management.
When material aspects are identified, polices shall be
formulated to address them.

With climate change issues considered, Huakang may
be threatened by both physical risks and transition
risks. For all of Huakang’s operations, event-
driven extreme weather may disrupt supply chains
which would interrupt business activities and affect
revenues; and cost may be incurred by the Group
to meet with newly enforced laws and regulations
and market driven changes as a response to climate
change.

That being said, Huakang remains hopeful knowing
that it can bring positive impacts to the environment.
Understanding its more significant environmental
effects being (i) the emissions of air pollutants
and greenhouse gases from the consumption of
purchased electricity and fuel, and (ii) the generation
of certain waste from daily operations, guiding
policies have been established to improve the
Group’s environmental performance.
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B. SOCIAL B. #&

1. Employment and Labor Practices 1. BREERBIER

B1. Employment B1. (&
The Group strictly abides by all applicable laws and ¥R B - AR E RS E SP B B [k
regulations in relation to employment in the PRC and EERBEBENMMAEREAERLRN
Hong Kong during the Reporting Period, including BIEERRR

but not limited to:

e Labor Law of the PRC; o (FREARHANBEILEE)

e Labor Contract Law of the PRC; o (FREARLMBELZSHERIE)

e The Social Insurance Law of the PRC; o (FREARLAMEIMGREIE)

e Special Rules on the Labor Protection of Female o (HBILBRERIEE)
Employees;

e Social Insurance Law of the PRC; o (FEARANMEIMGREE)

e Regulation on Paid Annual Leave for Employees; o (BIFTHFMEREH)

e Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child o (EIIFARETIRE): &
Labor; and

e The Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and all o  EHB(ERMGHNR—LBE@ERE -

relevant laws.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material ¥ B - RS E I A A E R
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations B BEREAH - TERH - R F
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment EHeg - Lot RERREMFER
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal B E KR RO RROIEER -

opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare of the Group.
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As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total
number of 91 employees. All of them were full-time
employees. The employee structure sorted by gender,
age group, function and geographical regions are
shown below.

Distribution of Employees by Gender
BEMRID M

56%

Male Female
B . Zi

Employees by Job Function
EEREES

Senior . Middle Frontline &
Management Management . Office Staff
BREERE PAREERE AERMAZEET

B EREARE

RZZE-_WMF+—_A=+—H  £~5£HE
HENEEE - FEHAZRES - &
MR - FEARR - Bipe Rt o a)E
BERBEINNT °

Employees by Age Group
EEFHRAR DM

g

‘30/

18-25 26-35 36-45
18-255% . 26-355% . 36-455%

. 46-55 . 56 or above
46-555% 56EE 3 £

Employees by Geographic Location
EEMIH DM

8%

Hong Kong . Mainland China

&H HE R
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The Employee Manual outlines detailed policies
regarding recruitment and dismissal, remuneration
and compensation, appraisal and promotion,
attendance, compensation leave, etc. Employees
are required to follow strictly the code of conduct
and ethics, which establishes the Group’s ethical
standards and expectation of employees.

Competitive Compensation and Benefits

The Group offers an equitable and competitive
remuneration package to attract and to retain talent.
In addition to basic wages, the Group offers overtime
pay, attendance bonuses, seniority bonuses, housing
allowance, and a discretionary performance bonus.
The Group also safeguards the legitimate interests
of its employees, respects the rights of employees
to rest and leave, and regulates their working hours
and their rights for various types of rest time and
holidays. Apart from medical coverage and statutory
holidays, employees are entitled to a range of leave
including marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, sick leave and bereavement leave.

Performance Review and Promotion

The Group provides development opportunities to
its employees through regular performance-based
appraisals, to understand their work performance in
a clear way through feedback from their supervisors
and develop excellent personal growth and ongoing
career developments. According to the promotion
policy, employees are eligible for career advancement
within the Group based on their competencies and
suitability for higher-ranking positions.
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Equal Opportunity

The Group respects the differences in employees.
Fair labor practices are followed within the Group
to eliminate discrimination. Employees are provided
with equal opportunities in respect of recruitment,
employment, training and development, promotion,
compensation and benefits, whether on the basis of
race, religion, nationality, ethnicity, age, gender or
disability. There was no non-compliance relating to
equal opportunity, diversity, and anti-discrimination
during the Reporting Period.

Employee Relations

The Group strives to foster a strong sense of
belonging with employees and ensure that every
voice is heard through transparent communication
channels. Regular meetings are held to collect
employee opinions, suggestions, and complaints
which are handled promptly.

ERENEBER
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Turnover

The Group considers offering a more attractive
remuneration package and benefits to retain talent
based on the Group’s business situation. A total of
11 full-time employees have left the Group during
the Reporting Period, representing an annual
turnover rate' of 12.1%. The employee turnover
rate? by gender, age group and geographical
locations are as follows:

©
S . .
g e e
555 RER 7
S B Hong Kong
+
gE® BB L
O

o Female

S = ey 59

5 H Male

o 2t
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=S
REBZEEREANEBNERKBRIZMH
EEWSI NMENES REF®RE A
F o REEER - AENMBE2RIESRH
FAAKE - FEREAEE12.1%  F1E
Bl - FEAA R Kb D D HE B R
KEANR

Turnover Rate
BERAR

above 55
SsHb L

46-55
s6zs5 0%

SR %]
362455% 9%

Age group
Firas|

18-25
18E255%

0% 5% 10%

The annual turnover rate is calculated by total number of
employees who left the Group in the reporting period/
number of employees as at the end of the reporting
period x 100%. Employees who leave the Group within
probationary period are not counted.

Turnover rate refers to total number of employee turnover
in the specific group throughout the reporting period/total
number of employees of the corresponding group as at
the end of the reporting period x 100%.
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B2. Employee Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to creating an accident and
injury-free working environment for its employees.
During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly
complied with all national laws, regulations and
standards in safeguarding workplace health
and safety, including the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases,
Production Safety Law of the PRC and Regulation
on Work-Related Injury Insurance. The Group
has maintained its Work Safety Standardization
certification for its manufacturing operation in
Shenzhen since 2016.

The Group has in place various safety rules and
guidelines to address various situations and issues.
All frontline workers are required to strictly follow
the safe working practice code. To further enhance
workplace safety, the Group conducts regular health
and safety audits to identify safety risks and carries
out investigations for hidden hazards.

Apart from providing personal protective
equipment for employees engaging in activities
where occupational hazards can potentially arise,
annual health check-ups are offered to ensure
timely treatment can be given. Safety education
and training programs are also provided for the
employees to increase their awareness and improve
their work safety skills.

ERENEBER
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B3.

The Group has developed contingency plans and
emergency procedures for foreseeable workplace
emergencies. Emergency evacuation plans are
displayed at conspicuous locations. The Group
organizes fire drills every year to ensure that all
employees are familiar with the evacuation routes in
emergency situations.

In the past 3 years, no fatalities of the Group’s
employees have been recorded. No work injury
case or material non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to occupational health
and safety of the Group was recorded during the
Reporting Period.

Occupational Health and Safety Statistics in

AEBCRAERZ TIESAESEMN
HE RSB REREF - BREBGT
SRMNBERLE - AEEEFHEH
BOBRB AR BREEBHATNE
=BT ZBUBEAR

EBEN=EFE  AEEEBWES
BEMETESR - RREHMA - A EE
TEEEREEREMZENTHEIRK
BERERBEERENZZERERES
ENEDIR

R NERRFERREER

FY2024 ZEHE

Work related fatality TR 0
Work injury cases >3 days THEER> =K 0
Work injury cases <3 days IBEHR< =X 0
Lost days due to work injury EIEELIER 0 days

(N

Development and Training

Employee development is vital to the sustainable
growth of the Group. The administration department
is responsible for developing annual training
plans pertaining to the various training needs of
employees. Where appropriate, employees are
assessed upon recruitment and reviewed periodically
thereafter for their proficiency in vocational
skills through examinations. Through providing
comprehensive training programs, the Group
ensures that all employees, including R&D personnel,
technicians, or production workers whose experience
and qualifications meet the requirements of relevant
positions.
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During the Reporting Period, 99% of the Group's
employees received training; the total training
hours and the average training hours per employee
were 2,311 hours and 25.7 hours per employee
respectively.

RiR - R ER®RE

RIREHIA - ANEE9% MR B X 1T
FI - BN E R TR EE TSR
o AETREE2311/)EK25.7/)
B o

Average

Training training

percentage hours

Gender Qe Uy ZIBEDE FHZINEH
Male B4 100% 25.12
Female 2t 98% 26.41
Average

Training training

percentage hours

Employee grade REIHRE D ZIEDLE FHZINEH
Frontline employees AIARE T 99% 28.29
Middle management PAREIEE 100% 29.00
Senior management SRERE 100% 15.23

The Group organized the following internal training
and development seminars during the Reporting
period:

e Anti-Corruption talk (ICAC)

e  Listing Rules and Director’s role training

e Anti-Corruption talk

e QOccupational Health and Safety Training
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RiE - HERERERS

During the Reporting Period, the Group organized

RBERR  AEBASTRFFANE T

training sessions covering a broad range of topics for
employees from different departments. Some of the

events that the Group attended are as follows:

Name of Conference

Enﬁ%ﬁ

LH T EZRIENEIER - AEEZ

B S EZ AT
Date Location
H & ih 24

CACLP the 21st China international
medical testing and blood transfusion
reagents equipment Conference

—+—EEER e 2R
{¢WWT“A

Rouji International Summit Forum on
Reproductive and Genetics

ZELIHEERERSERE

The 17th Annual Conference of the
Chinese Society of Reproductive
Medicine (SCRM)

hEREeE T HREIEEEEME R

The 7th International Symposium on
Human Fertility Preservation and
Protection

E+EAEEE NIRE DRI EIFR
fae

The 8th China Maternal and Child
Health Andrology Conference & 2024
Academic Meeting of the Chinese
Sexology Association

FNRPEEDRESRASEPEME
SeENREIRD 2024 F 21

.
=

2024 Lingnan High-Quality Research
Forum on Male Reproductive Medicine
20245 S M EERES mEMRE
LA e
[eliiEe=¢
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16-18 March 2024

;?4[EI$ H+/\E
+AR

12-13 April 2024

—ET_MNFMNA+ZBE
+=H

12-17 November 2024

—EToFE+—HATZHE
+tAR

20-21 September 2024
_+ =

30-31 August 2024

“TOMENA=THE

=t+—H

23-24 November 2024

“ZOFE+—A-+=H
E-+MH

Chongging International
Expo Center

EERERBEHL

Guangzhou Shangri-
La Hotel
BINE B

Xiamen International
Conference &
Exhibition Center

EPIEIFR & R O

Garden Hotel
Guangzhou

FEMNTEEEE

Foshan Maternal and
Child Health Hospital

LR 2 PR EER

Guangdong
Reproductive Hospital

ERAEEER
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Date
HEf

Name of Conference

e

RiR - R ER®RE

Location

o Bh

Henan Training Course on WHO
Laboratory Manual on the Examination
and Processing of Human Semen

WHO ARG /R RS B iR 12 B 5 = T

P F S B +=H

Foshan Conference on Integrative Chinese 22-23 December 2024

and Western Medicine in Andrology
Bl aESss SR EMeE

Labor Standards

The Group adheres to a strict philosophy of a society
free of child labor and forced labor. There was no
child labor nor forced labor employed in the Group;
no cases of non-compliance of relevant laws and
regulations in relation to labor standards were
recorded during the Reporting Period.

The Group complies with the Labor Law of the PRC,
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor
and internal recruitment guidelines which prohibits
the employment of workers under the age of 16
in operations. The human resources department
verifies candidates’ valid identity documentation,
age, and working permit to prevent child labor,
forced labor and other forms of unlawful labor. As
such, employees hired by the Group are deemed to
meet the relevant legal requirements. Consequences
of breaching the conditions include immediate
termination of contract.

The Group ensures reasonable working hours
and paid holidays in accordance with all national
employment laws and requirements. The working
hours of the employees are enforced in accordance
with the requirements of relevant local laws and
regulations; thus, no forced labor is allowed. The
Group encourages the employees to complete their
daily work within the specified working hours.
When overtime work by special arrangement is
unavoidable, employees are eligible for overtime pay
based on the agreed hourly wage.

ERENEBER

11-13 September 2024
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—EopFE+=-—A=+=H
Z2_-+=H

Henan Provincial
People’s Hospital

AEEARER

Cordis Hotel, Lingnan
Tiandi, Foshan
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B5.

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group engaged 65 suppliers during the
Reporting Period. All of them were in the PRC
primarily providing raw and auxiliary materials for the
manufacturing of IVD reagents. The Group adopts an
integrated approach in screening and evaluating all
potential and existing suppliers. In selecting suppliers,
the Group assesses suppliers against agreed criteria
including production capability, environmental and
social considerations, product efficacy and quality
management systems. The performance of all
qualified suppliers is regularly monitored through the
submission of testing reports and documentation to
demonstrate consistent conformance to all applicable
statutory and regulatory requirements.

All suppliers are evaluated according to not
only conformance to all applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements, but also on their
environmental credentials. If a supplier is deemed
to be in non-performance of its social and
environmental obligations, it will be asked to rectify
the failure as soon as is practical. If non-conformance
continues, the supplier will be removed from the
supply chain.

On-site assessments, when needed, are conducted
to ensure that the facility, systems, and products
provided by the suppliers are compliant with the
Group'’s stringent requirements on quality, workplace
safety and hygiene. If a significant non-conformance
is proved, the Group may consider disqualifying
or terminating the partnership with the concerned
supplier.
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B6. Product and Service Responsibility

Quality Assurance

The Group is committed to delivering safe, effective,
and reliable IVD reagent products that have attained
the highest quality standards. Aligning with the
Group’s corporate quality values, the Group has
obtained medical device production license for
medical device and IVD reagents manufacturing
and implemented a quality management system
according to the current good manufacturing
practices (the “c¢cGMP"). During the Reporting
Period, the Group strictly complied with all relevant
laws and standards established by the National
Medical Products Administration (the “NMPA") in
the manufacturing of IVD reagents and kits, which
included:

e YY/T 0287-2017 standard (i.e., Medical Devices
— Quality Management Systems — Requirements
for Regulatory Purposes);

e Good Manufacturing Practice for Medical
Devices — Appendix on In-Vitro Diagnostic
Reagents;

e Good Manufacturing Practice for Medical
Devices — Guidelines for Onsite Inspection of In-

Vitro Diagnostic Reagents;

e Regulations on Supervision and Administration
of Medical Devices;

e  Contract Law of the PRC; and

e Product Quality Law of the PRC.
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The Group’s quality manual outlines the
organizational roles, authorities, as well as
responsibilities for the accountable quality
management across the Group. Specific production
activities are required to be performed in the
designated Class 10,000 and 100,000 cleanrooms
in compliance with the YY0033-2000 Cleanroom
standard. Moreover, air-sensitive reagent products
are stored under controlled conditions, i.e., at a
consistent temperature within the range of 2°C-8°C.

Customer Services and Product Recall

The Group values the importance of customer loyalty
and is committed to building and maintaining a
stable and long-term relationship with its customers.
The Group cares about customer satisfaction
throughout the entire business process from product
sales to after-sales service. Customer satisfaction
surveys help the Group gain valuable insight into its
performance and identify improvements, thereby
continuously improving the Group’s product and
service quality as well as enhancing customer
experience. Apart from conducting customer reviews,
the Group also constantly explores ways to improve
its products through research and development.

The Group has developed effective mechanisms
and handling procedures for dealing with customer
complaints and product recalls. Any complaints
received will be formally investigated and any
necessary follow-up actions are taken in timely
manner. The Group carries out investigation and
identifies corrective and preventive actions for
each complaint to prevent recurrence. During the
Reporting Period, the Group received no complaints
related to products and services provided, all the
enquiries had been resolved to the customers’
satisfaction. No material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations in relation to customer
services of the Group was identified during the
Reporting Period.
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The Group’s product recall procedure is formulated
in accordance with the Administrative Measures
for Medical Device Recalls established by NMPA.
The quality control department undertakes quality
inspections at different stages of the production
process. In the event of detecting defective products,
the Group will suspend the sale of the concerned
products and notify related customers immediately
for product recall and replacement. There was no
product recalled due to safety and health reasons
and no material non-compliance with laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group in relation to product health and safety
recorded during the Reporting Period.

Data Protection and Privacy

The Group pays special attention to confidentiality
and privacy issue of the Group and third parties. The
confidentiality policy stipulates that all employees are
prohibited from disclosing confidential information
(e.g., trade secrets, proprietary information,
customers data, etc.) to anyone outside of the Group
to others and use them for personal benefit or profit.
In addition, the Group restricts access to confidential
information and trade secrets, except to authorized
persons permitted by the Group. No major incidents
that impacted the Group’s operations or infringed
upon client privacy occurred during the Reporting
Period.

ERENEBER

RiR - R ER®RE

AEBRIEEREE B R M (B &S
WAQEERE)FEERELRFF
HEXHEFIR TR LERBETRE
R o WEIRRFAER - ARERFL
HEMBEER - YRHBHREEF A
B & BB E M - NIWEHA - B8
ALz REFIERMEARNER i
BERSEIAYAREERRE I LZEE
BEARENEREREZREAINGB
S7 o

BIRRERNLE

AEEFHEEBAEERE =T ORE
RILBEE - REBRRREMEEIR
EARAREBETMINIALTHRBERTE
(@ EwT - BFNER  EFPEHR
%) BAEHEZFERAREAN D
HEM o dbs - REBBE I EHEETE
FEEEWT - EAREEFFRREA
TRRON o RIREIE - BEEEERY
EXREELEXARLEFPRBALNEANS
(2

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

91



92

Intellectual Property

The Group understands the importance of originality
and appreciates the hard work of the R&D team. The
Group’s Intellectual Property (the “IP”) Rights Policy
aims to protect IP owned by the Group and third
parties in pursuant to the Trademark Law of the PRC
and Patent Law of the PRC.

Furthermore, financial incentives are offered to
motivate the Group’s employees to invent new
products as well as innovative patent projects.
The Group also closely monitors the infringement
actions in the market and actively combats any
infringements. Any unauthorized use of IP rights may
give rise to legal liability. No major incidents relating
to infringement of IP rights occurred during the
Reporting Period.

Having the IP management system in place,
the Group has accelerated the application and
maintenance of patents for its own production
design and technology, ensuring the value of
intellectual property are well respected and
recognized within the Group. As of 31 December
2024, the Group had obtained a total of 24 issued
patents for its inventions.
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group has zero tolerance for bribery and
corruption. The Group’s ethical standards are
clearly set out in the code of conduct and ethics
and Employee Manual, which requires all business
activities to be operated with the highest level of
integrity. The Anti-corruption Policy strictly prohibits
any corrupt acts, practices, and activities within the
Group. The Group strictly controls gifts, meals, and
entertainment that could give the mere appearance
of impropriety. Employees are encouraged to report
any instance or suspected instance of bribery or
corruption related to the Group directly to the
Group.

All staff are encouraged to keep up to date with the
latest anti-corruption guidelines by reading the PRC
Criminal Law and the PRC Anti-unfair Competition
Act, applying to official bribery and commercial
bribery.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was in full
compliance with all relevant laws and regulations,
including the Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-unfair
Competition Law of the PRC, Anti-money Laundering
Law of the PRC and Interim Provisions on Banning
Commercial Bribery, the Group's directors and senior
employees have undergone anti-corruption training
to strengthen the Group's corporate governance.
There was no concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees
during the Reporting Period.
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B8.

Whistle-blowing Policy

A whistle-blowing system is established for
employees and other relevant parties to report any
suspected misconducts, malpractices, and unlawful
or unethical behaviors within the workplace.
Whistle-blowers can make confidential reports to
the management of the Group, and are reassured to
be protected against unfair dismissal, victimization,
and unwarranted disciplinary action. Every reported
case will be followed through in accordance with the
Whistleblowing Policy and related procedures.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to supporting the public by
means of social participation and contribution as part
of its strategic development. To nurture corporate
culture and strengthen practices of corporate
citizenship, the Group embraces human capital
into the social management strategies to sustain
its corporate social responsibility and support the
Group's strategic development. The Group maintains
communications with stakeholders from time to
time to understand the needs of the communities
where the Group operates in and to ensure the
communities’ interests are taken into consideration.
The Group also encourages its employees to take
part in various community events to strengthen
team spirit while caring for vulnerable populations.
In the future, the Group will continue to discharge
its corporate social responsibility to care for the
community and build a harmonious society.
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EEEWRE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual
report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 3 August
2017.

The principal activity of the Company is an investment
holding company. Details of the principal activities and
other particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 32 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in research and
development, manufacture, marketing and sales of
IVD reagents and auxiliary reproductive supplies and
equipment in the PRC. There were no significant changes
to the Group's principal activities during the current year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

A discussion and analysis of the activities of the Company
as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, including an analysis of the Group’s financial
performance, an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business and Group’s key relationship with
its stakeholders who have a significant impact on the
Group and on which the Group’s success depends, is set
out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on
pages 5 to 6 and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 7 to 20 of this Report. The above form part of
this directors’ report.
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Details of the principal risks and uncertainties of the
Group are set out in notes 2 and 29 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements and in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
Report on page 7 to 20.

Investors are advised to make their own judgement or
consult their own investment advisors before making any
investment in the Shares.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Details of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
on page 58 to 94 of this Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted risk management and internal
control policies to monitor the on-going compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations. To the best
of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, our Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of our Group during the year ended 31
December 2024.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on page 126 of
this Report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors does not recommend the payment of any
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

There were no charitable donations made by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in note 12 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in share capital of the Company
are set out in note 27 in the Notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 129 and note 33(b) in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
Company may pay dividends out of the profit or the
share premium account in accordance with the provisions
of Articles of Association, provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company remains able to pay the
debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course
of business. As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to shareholders
comprising share premium and accumulated losses of the
Group, amounted to approximately RMB43.8 million.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the most recent five years is set out in the
section headed “Financial Summary” on page 248 of this
Report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024
and up to the date of this Report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. He Jiaming (Business Development Director)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Bu Su (appointed on 8 August 2024)
Dr. Xu Ming (appointed on 25 October 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph
Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary
Mr. Tsui Wing Tak (appointed on 22 January 2025)

Mr. Chan Kin Sang (resigned on 2 April 2024)
Ms. Chow Ching Man (resigned on 22 January 2025)

Ms. Shih Mei Ling (appointed on 3 December 2024 and
resigned on 28 February 2025)

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at each general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. Such
retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting. All Directors
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of shareholders after
their appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and all Directors appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting and shall then
be eligible for re-election.
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Accordingly, all the current Directors will retire at the
forthcoming AGM where they will offer themselves for
re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior
management are disclosed in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 21 to 30 of this Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than the service contracts, concerning
management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s businesses was entered
into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Shuguang, Mr. Zhang Chunguang
and Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael has entered into a service
contract with the Company commencing from the Listing
Date, which has no fixed term and can be terminated
by either party giving not less than three months’
notice in writing to the other party. Mr. He Jiaming has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an
initial fixed term of three years commencing from the
date of appointment and will continue thereafter until
terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ notice. Each of the non-executive Directors,
including the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into an appointment letter with our Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from their
respective appointment dates and will continue thereafter
until terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice to the other party.

EREMBEER

S

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

At - 2RBREZEFERNEERRBFAS
FREVRESEREE -

Bt

ARRIEWE| S B IFATEFREGEM L
MARRASES. 0 E B 1 2 FEFER
£ RAERBLIINTESTAERBUIE -

EXRSREERBZERE

EENRAEEBEREFBERAREE2E
JVETEENRAETREZRE | —fiRE -

EEEHR

REZE-_ZT-_NFE+_-_A=+—HILFE -
BT LS R AR E B SR 28 sk
FRHERTD BB EERITEE (RS
BHIBRIN) o

ESBRBEELN

SREBJLSEAE  REAAELERERLERE
BEARBFLRBAEL - B L™ AHER
45 - WEBEEHR WA BEA—TRS—
FEETPR=_EANEEBIMEL - @5
FRELERARRRIMRBELK - BEER
HERAS - VIZBEEEMR=F - Bimig#
—HEEEEEM—SBELTIR=EA K
BAGR I - BIERITER(BRIEBELIFNTE
Z)EEARFFVERZIE BMMASEW
ZERREVTRP=F HHEH BT
BEEEA—TRAR—HEL TPV —EA
HE MBI -

B BR A &l Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

99



100

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

As at 31 December 2024, no Director proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM has entered
into a service contract with the Company, which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

On 27 November 2018, Mr. Zhang Shuguang and
Mr. Chang Yim Yang (the “Then Controlling
Shareholders”) had entered into a deed of non-
competition in favour of our Company (for ourselves
and as trustee for each of our subsidiaries from time to
time) (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) to the effect
that each of them will not, and will procure each of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) not to, directly or indirectly participate in,
or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved
in any business which may be in competition with our
businesses. For details of the Deed of Non-Competition,
please refer to the section headed “Relationship with our
Controlling Shareholders — Non-competition Undertakings
from Our Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus.

On 25 January 2024, Mr. Chang Yim Yang disposed all
shares he held and ceased to be acting in concert with
Mr. Zhang Shuguang, so Mr. Chang Yim Yang cease to
be a controlling shareholder of the Company on that
date, details are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 25 January 2024. On 21 March 2024, Mr. Zhang
Shuguang cease to be the controlling shareholder of the
Company but shall remain as the substantial shareholder
of the Company after completion of placing of new
shares under general mandate, details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 21 March 2024. On 14
January 2025, Mr. Zhang Shuguang disposed all shares
he held and ceased to be a substantial shareholder of
the Company on that date, details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 14 January 2025.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this report, none of the Directors, the Then
Controlling Shareholders of the Company or their
respective close associates (as defined under the GEM
Listing Rules) had any business or interest in a business
which, either directly or indirectly, competes or may
compete with the business of the Group and any other
conflicts of interest with the Group.

The Company has received a written confirmation
from the Then Controlling Shareholders that they have
complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition
in the year ended 31 December 2024. The independent
non- executive Directors have also reviewed the status
of compliance and written confirmation from the
Then Controlling Shareholders, and noted that all the
undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied with by each of the Then Controlling
Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND THE THEN CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 31 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements, no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries by the Then Controlling
Shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company, or any of its holding companies
or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director, the
Then Controlling Shareholders of the Company and their
respective connected parties had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
the year ended 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or any of the associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO")) which, once the Shares are listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange, will have to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including any interest or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or will be required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or will be required, pursuant to the
Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors of
listed issuers, will be as follows:

Long Positions in the Shares

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company

EERRSITHRAEBRARAREEEH
EEZBRAD - HERORERENES
S99

RZZBZWF+—_A=+—0H EFEEAAQ
AlEm T A B RS B AR = E
(EERBBAPIFESNEEZLE LIS IEH
([FHREBEBRH]) EXVED) B, - 18
R REEES - B (—BRHOREFT
GEM L8 ) BB B 7% H R A E & HI EXVED
F7 8D EAE AN T R B R P ek s Bk
B(REREEFESFNPEKRIBEEKXES
WEESIWESEBEENTMAERIAR)
FARBE S LB RGIF 352G EE LR %
fRFTIE SR MR X E - iRIBEA
AEFHETESFRIHGEM EMRAIZES.46
E567K EMBITAESETESFRSHIZZE
AESFRIZBRG AR B R R TS KA R
Ul

RBRO2HFR
AAFEFREEOINBETZEER

Number of Number of

Name of Directors/ Capacity/ ordinary shares  share options Total  Percentage of
Chief Executive Nature of Interest held® held® interest  shareholding?

Firf Firf ki
B2/ BRTRABHZ 5/ BRME EEREAY  BREHEY st BAk?
Mr. Zhang Shuguang Interests of controlled corporation® 138,672,000 4,000,000 142,672,000 28.5%
REXEE X EEERY
Mr. Zhang Chunguang Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.8%
REXEE EnfEBA
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael Beneficial owner 4,000,000 - 4,000,000 0.8%
ARELE ERERA
Mr. He Jiaming Beneficial owner - 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.8%
GE ERERA
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Notes:
(1) Allinterest stated are long positions.

(2) The calculation is based on the total number of
500,472,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024.

(3) Crystal Grant Limited (“Crystal Grant”) is beneficially
owned as to 100% by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, who is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Crystal
Grant for the purpose of SFO.

(4) Details of the underlying Shares of the Company held
by the Director/chief executives are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of Associated
Corporations

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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Hiat -
() FIBFY|IEZRHAEITE -

(2 WHER-ZT-_NF+_A=+—HHE®%
TR #8#1500,472,0000% 5T & -

(3) Crystal Grant Limited ([ Crystal Grant|) /5
REEN R EBTREI00%EL » KR AR
Crystal Grant/B TR A IR0 P B R IR
BEREIEED) -

@) EBEE/RSTBRAEFHEZARRMEERY
RYRHIEEA BB R RT &) — &1 -

RAEEEEEERZHR

Name of Directors/ Name of Associated Capacity/ Number of ordinary ~ Percentage of
Chief Executive Corporation Nature of Interest shares held®°® shareholding
EE BRTBABEE HBZEER 5%/ EatE  REEREE BREBDL
Mr. Zhang Shuguang Crystal Grant Beneficial owner 100 shares of US$1.00 100%
each
REESLTAE Crystal Grant EnBEEA T00R AL 1.00E L2
B in
Note: et -
All interest stated are long positions. FRAE Py RtF A o
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none R EXFI#EEEI  RZZT_MWF+=-AH

of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which he is taken or deemed to have under
such provision of the SFO) or which would be required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which would be required
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

=+t—0 BEEERAQFESHITHRAE
RARB AT EZE(EREREFHFR
BB EXVER) MR ~ FHREIL (D sk EHE
BRI AIREES NS KO EXVERET R
FEDEBAME AR A KRB 2 AT T Al A 25
SRR (BIERIEES M EIEM B BIiE
FREERRARE ZERIAR) IR
BB RS GO 352 (6B DN L 6T
MELMATAERSAR - FIRBEESFER
B GBI EXVERERGEM T #R BI| 555 46185
55,6718 BME AN R B AT H T AE RS
FORE ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHERS IFERENRHM AT ARO LEBER S
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN Z#EREBE XA
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the R-ZZE-_WNF+-_A=+—H ' BEEEFHN
Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or %1 A TA LT (BEIFEEMIEAR B HRSIT
chief executive of the Company) had interest or short A B )% sk A8 BE I (D b B 1R 15 5 5
position in the Shares or underlying Shares which fell to ~ NMEAEEHIEXVEE2 R E3DHERAAR
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange A NEFAZFTIRER @ SaEN AR RIIRIEEH
under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as R EFEEHIZE3I361KEFE 2 Z AR
recorded in the register required to be kept by the AR :

Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Numberof  Number of Percentage
Capacity/ ordinary share Total of
Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest shares held” options held“ interest  shareholding?
Firis Firi ki
RR#E,/ 28 5t/ BEHE EEREEY  BREFRY  EEA AAY
Crystal Grant Beneficial owner® 138,672,000 4,000,000 142,672,000 28.5%
Crystal Grant ERBEAAY
Kokusai Resources Company  Beneficial owner® 120,752,000 - 120,752,000 24.1%
Limited (“Kokusai")
Kokusai Resources Company BB A
Limited ([ Kokusai )
Lau Lai Yee Interests of controlled corporation® 120,752,000 - 120,752,000 24.1%
Lau Lai Yee REEERR
Li King Yeung Person having a security interest in 138,672,000 - 138,672,000 27.7%
shares®
=5 FEROHREEZHNAC
Yu Chi Mau Person having a security interest in 120,752,000 - 120,752,000 24.1%
shares”
REHR FEROHREEZHAY
Notes: et -
(1) All interests stated are long positions. (1) FrEMDIRERARITE -

(2) The calculation is based on the total number of () UWNER-Z_F+-A=+—ANCDH
500,472,000 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2024. 1T #8$1500,472,000f% 5T & ©
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(3) Crystal Grant Limited (“Crystal Grant”) is beneficially
owned as to 100% by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, who is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Crystal
Grant for the purpose of SFO.

(4) Details of the underlying shares of the Company held by
the Director/chief executives are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme”.

(5) Kokusai is beneficially owned as to 100% by Lau Lai Yee.
Lau Lai Yee is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Kokusai for the purpose of the SFO.

(6) On 16 July 2024, Li King Yeung entered into a share
charge as chargee with Crystal Grant as chargor, pursuant
to which 138,672,000 Shares were charged.

(7)  On 16 July 2024, Yu Chi Mau entered into a share charge
as chargee with Kokusai as chargor, pursuant to which
120,752,000 Shares were charged.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Report, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this Report, have the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company and their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM listing rules) had any
interests in, or had been granted, or exercised any rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of SFO).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that Directors shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal, in which judgement is given in his favour, or
in which he is acquitted. The Company has maintained
liability insurance to provide appropriate cover for the
Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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(3) Crystal Grant Limited ([ Crystal Grant | ) £
RENAEETRIE100% R - EREAR
Crystal Grant/BFTRF B IR {0 P #E B 2R IR
BH R EEEN) -

@) BF/RSTERAEREZANATEBRN
HIRFB R Rt 8 | — &6 -

(5) KokusaifgLau Lai YeeB 5B 100% £ ©
Lau Lai Yeetfi 4% B Kokusai BFrix BRI A
B A RS IR S R S A -

6) RZZE-_WNFLA+T/NH  =Z5iGEAE
A B2 Crystal GrantfE& 3R 52 ART S AR (5 17
50 0 ¥EI 0 138,672,000% A& D i 4FED -

(7) RZZE_WFLA+NB  RERELEERT
A HiKokusaifE AR EC AT IRMDHREE - #
It 120,752,0008% A% 1D ¥ 450 -
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o
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R HEFERERDERFRR(THREEN
M) RETHRMARERIHN —ER
FEARARBEETRSRHE BE—F
TOF+ZR=+—RHIFE - ARAFEE
BEIRE  SEFRUEERE -

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

105



106

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in note 31 in the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements. Save as mentioned in the section “Connected
Transactions” below, other related party transactions did
not constitute connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Shenzhen Huakang (as tenant) and Shenzhen Junxuan
Biological Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Shenzhen Junxuan”)
(as landlord) entered into tenancy agreements, pursuant
to which Shenzhen Junxuan agrees to rent out Junxuan
Property to Shenzhen Huakang from 14 September 2023
to 31 December 2025 (the “Tenancy Agreement(s)”)™®.

Pursuant to HKFRS 16 “Leases”, the Company shall
recognise the premises leased under Tenancy Agreement
as a right-of-use asset in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. The entering into of the
Tenancy Agreement is regarded as an acquisition of
asset under the definition of transaction as set out in
Rule 19.04(1)(a) of the GEM Listing Rules. The aggregated
value of the right-of-use asset initially recognised under
the Tenancy Agreement was approximately RMB2.6
million.

Note:

Mr. Zhang Shuguang, our executive Director and chairman of
our Board, holds the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Junxuan.
Therefore, Shenzhen Junxuan is an associate of Mr. Zhang
Shuguang pursuant to Rule 20.10(1)(c) of the GEM Listing
Rules, and thus it is a connected person of our Company under
the GEM Listing Rules. The transaction under the Tenancy
Agreements (as defined above) constitutes a connected
transaction of our Company under the GEM Listing Rules.

*  English translation is for identification purpose only
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Pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, a
transaction was entered into by the Group with the
connected person (as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules) which constituted a connected transaction
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The relevant
applicable ratios (other than the profit ratios) under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules were less than 5.0%
and the total consideration was less than HK$3.0 million,
and therefore pursuant to Rule 20.74 of the GEM Listing
Rules, the connected transaction contemplated herein
was fully exempt from the reporting, announcement,
annual review and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees, and certain policies have been implemented to
ensure that its employees are provided with competitive
remuneration, good welfare benefits and continuous
professional training. The Group also maintains good
relationships with its customers and suppliers, without
whom success in the Group’s production and operation
would be at risk.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on
13 January 2020. The Share Option Scheme is a long-
term incentive scheme of the Company to reward it's
employees, Directors and other eligible participants for
their contributions to the Group and to assist the Group
in its recruitment and retention of high calibre employees
and other eligible participants who are instrumental to
the growth and development of the Group.
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Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include:
(a) any employee or proposed employee (whether full-
time or part-time and including any executive Director),
consultants or advisers of or to the Company, any of its
subsidiaries or any entity in which the Group an equity
interest (“Invested Entity”); (b) any non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested
Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any customer
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (e) any person or
entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any Invested Entity;
and (f) any shareholder of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity, and
any company wholly owned by one or more persons
belonging to any of the above classes.

Subject to the earlier termination of the Share Option
Scheme in accordance with the rules thereof, the Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force for a period of ten
years commencing from the date of adoption.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon the exercise
of options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme adopted by the Group
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each
grantee within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director
of the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
time and with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.
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The total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of all options (excluding for this purpose
options which have lapsed) which have been or may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any share
option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 40,000,000 shares, representing 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme and as at the end of
reporting period and the date of approval of this Report.
The maximum number of shares to be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from
time to time.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of offer, upon payment
of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Directors, which period
may commence from the date of the offer of the share
options, and ends on a date which is not later than ten
years from the date of grant of the share options subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable
by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted
on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of the offer; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company’s shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had 19,504,000
(2023: 19,504,000) share options outstanding under the
Share Option Scheme. Please refer to paragraph headed
“Share Option Scheme” in the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis” for further details.

ERENEBER

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

HITEREERER S R A& EE B
R EIE R L Sk A e R H WU FT B BB AR AE (3h
BmE @ TeEERBAERE) M 7%
TTHIRR (0 B8 - & 115481 40,000,000
B - (R BERR R IR A 2 B A K AR5 B
REAFEREZ BHARREBEITRMDA
10% - AT RBERETZRAKE (T
MEMEREASIEREEBBEFTEZR
BEARITHEEREMN TETZRMNDESE
B @ AETSBEARRRTREZEITROE
30% °

RbBRE s ZHATRELRASEFT =11
NEARAXNEZERES R 1IBT T AR
o FIRMBRENTERHRESET - 17
EHAR] R BB i ) B 40 B IR 4R - WX
RIFHREAE R R+ FEEER - R
TR IERIRTE -

BRETEERHESEE - T AERIA
TREZERE  0REBLHBEHRARRBN
R P AMERMINZWHE : (AR
AR EZRELN AR AER S A EBR
P B RERAHIZ FWHE - i)kt
ZMEE e

RZEBEZWNF+_A=1+—H  XAaRE
% #EETEITE T8 19,504,00010 (- FE - =4 -
19,504,00017) M ARITFEERE - BAES
HI5 A2BIERENmEYT] &I
ARmET &) | —ER -

B PR 22 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

109



110

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Detail of the emoluments of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of our Group are set out in note
8 in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements in
this Report.

There was no arrangement under which a Director has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Save for Directors’ fees, none of the independent non-
executive Directors is expected to receive any other
remuneration for holding their office as an independent
non-executive Director.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employee of the Group is
set up by the management on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. Under the emolument
policy, the basis of determining the emolument payable
to Directors is subject to the decision of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group has 91 full-time employees (2023 96) located
in Hong Kong and the PRC for operation. Detail of the
staff costs, including Directors’ remuneration, incurred
by the Group are set out in note 7 in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements in this Report.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine
the remuneration and compensation packages of the
Directors’ regarding their responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to our Group and the performance of our Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer contributed approximately
5.6% (2023: approximately 6.9%) of the total revenue
for the year while the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 21.2% (2023: approximately
22.7%) of the total revenue for the year. The Group’s
largest supplier contributed approximately 12.9% (2023:
approximately 17.3%) of the total purchase for the year
while the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 41.3% (2023: approximately 58.1%) of
the total purchase for the year.

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2024
have the Directors, any of their associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued Shares)
had any beneficial interest in any of the above major
customers and suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in
the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company
to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by
the Company, or subsisting during the year ended 31
December 2024.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
Company'’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year 31 December 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the Directors confirm that the Company complies with
the minimum of public float of 25% under the GEM
Listing Rules since the Listing Date and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and
ensuring a high level of corporate governance standards
and will review and improve the corporate governance
practices and standards constantly. Details of the principal
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 58 to 94 of this Report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation
available to the shareholders by reason of their holdings
of the Shares. If the shareholders are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional
advisers.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2024, the Company was not involved
in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or arbitration were pending or threatened or
made against the Company so far as the Company is
aware.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere, the Board is not aware
of any material event requiring disclosure, that has taken
place subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this Report.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The notice of the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company will be published and dispatched to
shareholders in the manner specified in the GEM Listing
Rules in due course.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee with its
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33
of the GEM Listing Rules and code provisions D.3.3 and
D.3.7 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee currently
consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Dr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary (Chairman), Dr. Chow
Kwok Fai Joseph and Mr. Tsui Wing Tak.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the
Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems,
effectiveness of the internal audit function, scope of audit
and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements
to enable employees of the Company to raise concerns
about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements and is of the opinion
that the preparation of such statements complied with
the applicable accounting standards, the requirements
under the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been
made.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been audited by Forvis Mazars,
who shall retire and, being eligible, offers itself for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM. A resolution
for re-appointment of Forvis Mazars as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
There has been no change in auditors of the Company in
any of the preceding 3 years.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Report contains forward looking statements with
respect to the financial conditions, results of operations
and business of the Group. These forward looking
statements represent the Company’s expectations or
beliefs concerning future events and involve known and
unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual
results, performance or events to differ materially from
those expressed or implied in such statements.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Shuguang
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S
B 2 BEN R E

forvss
mazars

To the members of
Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 126 to 247,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance.
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Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
BRI RSB ARAT
42nd Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong
BARBTE B 1SR IRESZA2E
Tel 5% : +852 2909 5555

Fax & : +852 2810 0032
forvismazars.com/hk
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements"” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABENRE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net
trade receivables amounted to approximately
RMB9,949,000 and out of these trade
receivables of approximately RMB8,770,000
were past due. The Group recorded net
impairment losses on trade receivables of
approximately RMB94,000 debited to profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the Group’s lifetime expected credit
losses (“ECL") on trade receivables as at 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately
RMB5,879,000.

The management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of trade receivables
based on provision matrix through grouping of
various debtors that have similar loss patterns,
after considering internal credit assessment of
trade debtors and past due status of respective
trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based
on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information.

In addition, trade receivables that are credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The
loss allowance amount of the credit impaired
trade receivables is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows
with the consideration of expected future losses.

We identified impairment assessment of
trade receivables as a key audit matter due
to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group's consolidated financial position and
the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL of
the Group's trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 17
and 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our key procedures, among others, included:

(a)

Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating
the design and implementation of the Group's
key controls on how the management estimates
the credit loss allowance for trade receivables;

Testing the integrity of information used by
management to develop the provision matrix
including testing individual customers’ credit
assessment, on a sample basis, through analysing
their nature, size and past due status with
the underlying supporting documents and
comparing the internal credit assessment made
by management on these customers;

Evaluating management'’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables, including their identification of credit
impaired trade receivables, the reasonableness of
management’s grouping of the remaining trade
debtors into different categories in the provision
matrix, and the basis of estimated credit loss rates
applied in each category in the provision matrix
(with reference to historical default rates and
forward-looking information);

(d) Assessing the reasonableness and relevancy of the

(e)

external information used by the Group as the
forward-looking information; and

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ABENRE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of loan and loan interest receivables and refundable consideration

paid

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s net loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid amounted to approximately
RMB1,878,000 and RMB1,792,000 respectively.
The Group recorded reversal of impairment
losses on loan and loan interest receivables and
refundable consideration paid of approximately
RMB124,000 and RMB4,000 respectively
credited to profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2024. The Group’s ECL on loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid as at 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately RMB113,000 and
RMB108,000 respectively.

The management of the Group estimates
the amount of ECL on loan and loan interest
receivables and refundable consideration paid
based on historical payment information, if
applicable, current repayment ability, and with
reference to the relevant estimated value of
collaterals. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer for ECL assessment on loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid.

The Group’s management believes that they
have considered reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost and effort for this purpose.
Such assessment has taken the quantitative and
qualitative historical information and also, the
forward-looking analysis.

We have identified impairment assessment
of loan and loan interest receivables and
refundable consideration paid as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the carrying
amounts of loan and loan interest receivables
and refundable consideration paid to the
Group's consolidated financial position and
the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the ECL of
the Group’s loan and loan interest receivables
and refundable consideration paid at the end of
the reporting period.

Related disclosures are included in Notes 2, 18
and 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our key procedures, among others, included:

(a)

Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the
design and implementation of the Group's key
controls on how the management estimates the
credit loss allowance for loan and loan interest
receivables and refundable consideration paid;

Evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and
competence of the independent professional
valuer;

Testing the integrity of significant inputs used by
management in determining ECL;

Evaluating management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid and checking the assumptions
and key parameters to external data sources
where available;

Assessing the reasonableness and relevancy of
the external information used by the Group as
the forward-looking information; and

Checking the calculation of ECL based on
the methodology adopted by the Group and
adequacy of the Group’s disclosures in relation
of credit risk exposed by the Group in the
consolidated financial statements.

A Y EEE R E R 2 8 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

119



120

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

BRETEERE)
BARETEE

EERETTHBRRETETENEELN

BRERRERFERREC X ERERE

RZTBE-_WE+—_A=1+—H  BE£EBEZE
WEFREERFBRTREEZMHEFES
B4 B A R #1,878,000 7T & A R # 1,792,000
T BE_T-_NF+_A=+T—HBLHF
- BEEESRSRERKERKRERFE KR
EEXNEHENREBEDEDHARE
124,000t X AR #4,0007t 2 st A1E2 - B
—T_NNE+-_A=+—H X BEEZEK
EFXEREFFERAREE X HE R TE H
EEEED LA AR 113,000 kAR
108,0007T °

BEEEEEERLERELNREMRAER) -
HEBESAREEREN K2 ZHERA R
e EBEGAEREREEFRMNERARED
XNEENEREERRSE - S5EEF
B3 B R (E(E RN IS 5 B SR S A A R
B2 N EETTRIMEEBREN G -

ERBEEERAMEMEERTHELR AL
EEAEEXFHNES MEF/ENEBEZH
PXAME S o EREFHERA T EEME ENE
LB FIA R ATHEEDAT ©

BEEBAEKREREERMNE KARE D Y
HEMNRBFAEESERESSFE - TAR
RN E T N B RN B N R B 2 S N H E R iR
HEEYE BEEEGAMBERAZEEERR
HEHRFE ERERKRERRERFE R
REEXNHEZAREEERR S REE
HET R ERE A o

BRERBEIN R A MBRRME2 - 18%29

Annual Report 2024 &%

BEEZAREFeE(EP L)

RETH®EHAEERB G BEREREERR
EFRNERREE X HENEEEBRREDN
BRI Il 2 SR T R B

AMEE N EEFHEED O B - MEEARE

A EREEEERERNEEBERMERNE
ZER TR

TEEREERTHERRERKERHE KR
BB X HE/NEEEEEFENKBEMALE - I
MARFMANIINEER R RRERZMERS
2

At BEREBINMEEBIEREIEEENEE
HEMERAE + K2

BRERHREESERNTERSTER BERERM
MITEAE BERBEGEGRAMBHRERTY 8%
BATERAERRRNNEREED



OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the 2024 annual report of the
Company but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
50.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group'’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e  QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZHERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Annual Report 2024 &%

BB ES e M BRRARENER
(%)

s NMEERAFELEERNSHERD
REFELER  LRECSERNERER
& RRAAE EEBREBUSER
ELENRENBRERRFNFEFXIB
MR E AT EE B REL A o i
BENERATFEERTHEERNSE - Al
BEHENZBERE TP IREAEIEAE
EMBEHRRANBEERE - HiHE
AHRBEENTR  AEERERRIE
REEBR - BEFNERAREZBE R
SRAMMESNETBERER - A
m - BREAERRREFHBERM

TERERE -

o HMERAMBHRERNEREINA &
BEAR(BREREER) - ANEEER
BmREDNERAF258977 U RBR
AR 5 R FE 1

e B BEEENERNELIPNUBKE
FHERERE BEMNFNRE - UEYH
RAVBHRRERER - BEBE B
EEEAN M - BEBANPIT BEA
BEENBABRAEETEMT -

i

FHEERER(EPEE)FENETH
FRZEMEXRESER(BREFRN
2= B SRl ) A B BE R M A AT KRR
P )ETT/AR



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is:

Tsoi Wa Shan
Practising Certificate number: P07514
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeEsEkEMEENER

Year ended 31 December 2024 &HZ T —PUF+—_F=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—F-NE —EF-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Hiat ARMFT ARETT
Revenue g %5 3 25,359 24,629
Cost of sales SHEM AR (8,287) (8,536)
Gross profit EA 17,072 16,093
Other income HauA 5 698 734
Other gains and losses HAh e K EE 6 241 251
Selling and distribution expenses SHE ko HFSZ (8,526) (8.617)
Administrative expenses TEAEX (10,766) (9,874)
Research and development expenses i 25f 5% (2,825) (2,553)
Provision for impairment losses on B Z W GRIE R B EE
trade receivables, net BETE 29 (94) (1,414)
Reversal of (Provision for) impairment JEWE K EZFE K
losses on loan and loan interest AREE 2 HER
receivables and refundable EEER R (BE)
consideration paid 29 128 (349)
Finance costs LYV %N 7 (86) (53)
Loss before tax BRELAIE 1B 7 (4,158) (5,782)
Income tax expense FTiSHiR 9 - -
Loss for the year attributable to FRARQATEE A
owners of the Company FEfLEE (4,158) (5,782)
Other comprehensive loss: Hith 2 HEEE
Item that may be reclassified BB gEEZ 7 HEE
subsequently to profit or loss By EEH
Exchange difference on consolidation 474 [E 3 Z= %8 (307) (190)
Total comprehensive loss for the XA THEE AEEER
year attributable to owners of 2HEBEAE
the Company (4,465) (5,972)
RMB cents RMB cents
AR5 ARES
Loss per share attributable to RATEE AEWN
owners of the Company BREE 10
Basic and diluted ERREE (0.86) (1.39)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMEI(I\T\OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

e B R R

At 31 December 2024 R—Z—WE+—-A=+—H

2024 2023
TBImE T =F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Krat ARMFIT ARETFT
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB kR 12 7,908 7,478
Right-of-use assets ERERE 13 1,134 2,267
Intangible assets | AE 14 1,457 2,134
Interest in an associate R—HEBEARZ
-3 15 - _
10,499 11,879
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 16 2,717 3,395
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 17 9,949 9,683
Other receivables, deposits and HAa WA ~ Ime Kk
prepayments TafIFRIE 18 5,549 7,423
Tax recoverable AJ U B Fi I8 13 -
Bank deposit with maturity over R AR={EA LD
three months B2 SR1TE HRTF K 19(a) 5,000 -
Bank balances and cash RITEBREIRS 19(b) 31,495 32,935
54,723 53,436
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables g SN FIE 20 664 638
Other payables and accrued charges — E-th & < FX08 K2 fE &+
£H 21 5,709 7,932
Contract liabilities GHAE 22 695 552
Lease liabilities HEAE 13 1,177 1,111
Deferred income — government grants JEZEU A — EBZW‘%%HJJ 23 15 15
Amount due to an associate FEATES & A R FRIE 24 2,906 2,848
11,166 13,096
Net current assets REBEEFE 43,557 40,340
Total assets less current liabilities EEZAERABARS 54,056 52,219
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBI &

At 31 December 2024 R—ZE_mME+_-_A=+—H

2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Hiat ARMFT ARETT

Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 13 - 1,177
Deferred income — government EEWA — BB
grants 23 8 23
8 1,200
NET ASSETS EEFRE 54,048 51,019
Capital and reserves BEXRK F#E
Share capital [N 27 4,432 3,674
Reserves G 49,616 47,345
TOTAL EQUITY S 54,048 51,019

The consolidated financial statements on pages 126 to EFe@WR _ZE_-_HE=H -+ \BHIERE
247 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board — # T3 2 £ & 5N E 126 2247 BG4S B
of Directors on 28 March 2025 and signed on its behalf  FEHEBIWHUA T ALTREREE -

by:

Mr. Zhang Shuguang Mr. Zhang Chunguang
Director Director
BE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
mMERREER

Year ended 31 December 2024 HEZE—ZE—E+—-A=+—RHILEE

Reserves
R
Share  Accumulated
Share Share Capital ~ Statutory ~ Translation option profits
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve (losses) Sub-total  Total equity
Z5hRAl
e RA%E B5Rh EER{E EifiE BRERG (F8) it iR
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
NEEFT  ARETT  AREFT  AREFT  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT AREFT AREFT
(Note (3)) (Note (b)) (Note (c) (Note () (Note 26)
(hia) (i) (i) W) (Hit26)
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-A-H 3,637 49,425 1,943 2,521 (256) 2404 (3,150) 52,887 56,524
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - - (5,782) (5,782) (5,782)
Other comprehensive loss: Eth2EEE
Item that may be reclassified -t LA T py EY
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on consolidation ~ SAER 28 - - - - (190) - - (190) (190)
Total comprehensive loss for FRRERFREE
the year - - - - (190) - (5,782) (5972) (5972)
Transactions with owners: BREAZRE:
Contributions and distributions HARAT
Statutory reserve appropriation Y = = = 59 = = (59) = =
Issue of new shares upon evercise of  FTEEREMETHR
share options (Note 27(3)) (W:2273) 37 839 - - - (409) - 430 467
Total transactions with owners ~ REFAZXFHE 3 839 - 5 - (409) (59) 40 467
At 31 December 2023 RCE-=Ft-A=1-H 3,674 50,264 1,943 2,580 (46) 1,995 (8,991) 47,345 51,019
At lanuary 2024 HN=B-mE-A-H 3674 50,264 1983 2580 (46) 199 (8991) 41305 51,019
Loss for the year ENER - - - - - - (4,158) (4,158) (4,158)
Other comprehensive loss: B2 HEE:
Item that may be reclassified AR EN B2 ER B
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on consolidation ~ SFAERZH - - - - (307) - - (307) (307)
Total comprehensive loss for FR2EFRER
the year - - - - (307) - (4,158) (4,465) (4,465)
Transactions with owners: HEEAZRS
Contributions and distributions HARAE
Statutory reserve appropriation BAEERE - - - 85 - - (85) - -
Issue of new shares upon placing, netof REE{THK - KRS
transaction costs (Note 27(b) A7) 758 6,736 - - - - - 6,736 74%
Total transactions with owners REEACR B 758 6,736 - 85 - - (85) 6,736 749
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE+-B=t-A 4432 57,000 1,983 2,665 (153) 1,995 (13,234) 49,616 54,048

EREY)EZEIRIREPR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited



130

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

Notes:

(a

*

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
or consideration from issuance of the Company’s shares
over their par value.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the
combined capital of the Company’s subsidiaries, King
Grace Company Limited (“King Grace”) and & JIl # &
£ ETEE R A A (Shenzhen Huakang Bio-Medical
Engineering Limited*) (“Shenzhen Huakang”) and the
consideration paid for acquiring 44% equity interest of

Shenzhen Huakang by King Grace in 2017.

Statutory reserve is required to be appropriated from
profit after income tax of an entity which is established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), determined
in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC. Allocation to the statutory reserve shall be
approved by the board of directors of the PRC entity. The
appropriation to statutory reserve may cease if the balance
of the statutory reserve has reached 50% of the registered
capital of the PRC entity. The statutory reserve may be
used to make up losses or for conversion into capital.
The PRC entity may, upon the approval by a resolution of
shareholders’ general meeting/board of directors’ meeting,
convert the statutory reserve into capital in proportion to
the then existing shareholdings. However, when converting
the statutory reserve into capital, the balance of such
reserve remaining unconverted must not be less than 25%
of the registered capital of that entity.

Translation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies adopted for
foreign currency translation as set out in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

English translation is for identification purpose only
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMEI\\I‘T‘ OF
CASH FLOWS
mERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2024 &HZ T —PUF+—_B=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EEF —E-=F
RMB000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReEs
Loss before tax BREEATEE (4,158) (5,782)
Adjustments for: REFEE
Amortisation of intangible assets mLEEEE 677 677
Depreciation of property, plantand  #1% - BiE MR EITE
equipment 1,524 1,600
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FFREEEITE 1,133 902
Loss on disposal of right-of-use HEFREEESE
assets - 22
Loss (Gain) on disposal of property,  H&EWE « WE L& E
plant and equipment BB (e ) 20 (13)
Interest income MEMA (512) (404)
Provision for impairment losses on B 5 RWGRIE R BB E
trade receivables, net FEE 94 1,414
Reversal of (Provision for) EWER R ERFEKARE
impairment losses on loan and EXMEEREEE
loan interest receivables and B (B fs)
refundable consideration paid (128) 349
Release of deferred income B AL D (15) (15)
Write-off of inventories ZiEEE - 210
Finance costs BLE AR 86 53
Operating cash flows before EEESERHI oKL
changes in working capital HERE (1,279) (987)
Changes in working capital LBEESEE
Inventories FE 678 (489)
Trade receivables 2 5 WA (360) (1,627)
Other receivables, deposits and HAaEWRIE « e KRB
prepayments A (33) 1,692
Trade payables g N IE 26 (191)
Other payables and accrued H At fET5RIE R FEETE A
charges (2,223) 2,080
Contract liabilities BHEE 143 (715)
Cash used in operations REFTARE (3,048) (237)
Income tax (paid) refund (Bf),REFEH (13) 189
Net cash used in operating RETBHAARESTFHE
activities (3,061) (48)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

|'I = EEI@U“JE%

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
TBImE T =F
Notes RMB000 RMB’000
Hiat AR¥FT ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Interest received 2 HEF & 347 185
Increase in bank deposit with maturity 7F7% B # = 1& A A _E &
over three months HA 2 SRITTE BIE K
il (5,000) =
Acquisition of property, plant and WM - BB K&
equipment (1,992) (1,502)
Proceeds from disposal of property,  HEWE  BE &R E
plant and equipment 2 FTiSskIE 20 13
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-  H&FEREEE 25
use assets TR - 151
Proceeds from repayment of loan Vﬂﬁlg KR P15
receivable KIA 2,200 =
Net cash used in investing RETZBHAREFHE
activities (4,425) (1,153)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEEE
Repayment for lease liabilities HEBEER (1,197) (884)
Advance from an associate kLN E - 1,440
Proceeds from issue of new shares RLERBEITIRD IS
upon placing, net of transaction B - HIRZ SR
costs 27(b) 7,494 =
Proceeds from issue of new shares  TT{ERERSAE M 21T
upon exercise of share options AR 2 P 1S 508 27(a) - 467
Net cash from financing activities R&EEERETE 6,297 1,023
Net decrease in cash and cash ReERASLEEBYWRD
equivalents HEE (1,189) (178)
Cash and cash equivalents atthe FzHRERBEELE
beginning of the year EY 32,935 33,303
Effect on exchange rate changes EREFHZ (251) (190)
Cash and cash equivalents atthe FRZIHEERBEEE
end of the year, represented by Y] - I8 TEHRRK
bank balances and cash RBe 31,495 32,935
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e S ER RN R

Year ended 31 December 2024 &HZ T —PUF+—_B=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
(the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company under the laws
of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 3
August 2017 and its shares are listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 13 December 2018. The addresses
of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are set out in the section
headed “Corporate Information” to the annual
report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are principally engaged in research
and development, manufacture, marketing and sale
of biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB"”), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries, and rounded to the nearest thousand
unless otherwise stated.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), which collective term includes all
applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance. The consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2023 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption of the following
new/revised HKFRSs that are effective from the
current year.

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the
following new/revised HKFRSs:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Presentation of Financial Statements
- Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HK
Interpretation 5

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1: Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The amendments aim to promote consistency in
applying the requirements by helping companies
determine whether, in the statement of financial
position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain
settlement date should be classified as current (due
or potentially due to be settled within one year) or
non-current. The amendments include clarifying the
classification requirements for debt a company might
settle by converting it into equity.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1: Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

The amendments specify that covenants to be
complied with after the reporting date do not affect
the classification of debt as current or non-current at
the reporting date. Instead, the amendments require
a company to disclose information about these
covenants in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The adoption of the amendments does not have

any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HK Interpretation 5:
Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

This Interpretation is revised as a consequence
of the above Amendments to HKAS 1 to align
the corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7: Supplier
Finance Arrangements

The amendments introduce new disclosure
requirements to enhance the transparency of supplier
finance arrangements and their effects on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16: Lease Liability in a
Sale and Leaseback

The amendments require a seller-lessee to
subsequently determine lease payments arising
from a sale and leaseback in a way that it does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates
to the right of use it retains. The new requirements
do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognising in
profit or loss any gain or loss relating to the partial or
full termination of a lease.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is historical
cost.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the period are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position
which is presented within these notes, the investment
in subsidiaries is stated at cost less impairment loss.
The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is
higher than the recoverable amount. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and/or receivable.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
join control of those policies.

The Group’s investment in associate is accounted
for under the equity method of accounting, except
when the investment or a portion thereof is classified
as held for sale. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted
thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the
Group'’s share of the investee's net assets and any
impairment loss relating to the investment. Except
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of the investee, the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses when the Group’s share of
losses of the investee equals or exceeds the carrying
amount of its interest in the investee, which includes
any long term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group's net investment in the investee.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investees, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred,
in which case they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue
when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when “control” of the goods underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time

when the customer obtains control of the distinct
goods or service.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point
in time upon i) delivering the goods to the customers’
warehouse on which the customers obtain control
of the goods or ii) the customers collect the goods
directly from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s gross carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to
short-term leases and low-value asset leases. Lease
payments associated with these leases are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component
within a lease contract as a lease separately. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise
to a separate component are considered to be part
of the total consideration that is allocated to the
separately identified components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost,
which comprises:

(@) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

(b) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

() any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is measured
at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. Depreciation
is provided on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of
the right-of-use asset (unless the lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset to the Group by
the end of the lease term or if the cost of the right-
of-use asset reflects that the Group will exercise
a purchase option — in which case depreciation
is provided over the estimated useful life of the
underlying asset) as follows:

Factories and office premises 2 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

The lease liability is initially measured at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date of the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability comprise the following payments
for the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date:

(@) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual
value guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily
determinable, the incremental borrowing rate of the
lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised
discount rate when there are changes to the lease
payments arising from a change in the lease term
or the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original
discount rate when there is a change in the residual
value guarantee, the in-substance fixed lease
payments or the future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or a rate (other than
floating interest rate). In case of a change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in floating
interest rates, the Group remeasures the lease
liability using a revised discount rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. If the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and there is
a further reduction in the measurement of the lease
liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount
of the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate
lease if:

(@) the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CON

Year ended

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

When a lease modification is not accounted for as
a separate lease, at the effective date of the lease
modification,

(a)

the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract on the basis of relative stand-
alone price as described above.

the Group determines the lease term of the
modified contract.

the Group remeasures the lease liability by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate over the revised lease term.

for lease modifications that decrease the
scope of the lease, the Group accounts for
the remeasurement of the lease liability by
decreasing the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss
relating to the partial or full termination of the
lease in profit or loss.

for all other lease modifications, the Group
accounts for the remeasurement of the lease
liability by making a corresponding adjustment
to the right-of-use asset.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributable
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Annual Report 2024 &%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

EXETHRERE)

S

RS ERREERS 2 M EHREE -
NZBERBNEEEEIAINZ B (N )
TZXZHHRRX 5 A B 2 8 E R
R RMEHR - INEFHEZ BB
Bz A 2 BREREHRE - RE
SERRAASNEFHE Z SFE IR R /RS
HiaE o

REEREHBEERAEEREL ZE
RERORNREFELRREANCERE

7
o

WEIERAMBHRERME - ARE 2
INEBEENBBREERAZERES
BERAEEZ 2 EE(BIARYE) -
WARFXIREAFEERRE - fRIF
HIMME R BB AR - RUEBERT -
AR SERZER - fIELZE
REBWA)RNEM2EWARERLR
feas T ARE N R R (RNEE R BHE
TR ) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation
or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate
that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial assets). All of
the exchange differences accumulated in a foreign
exchange translation reserve in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that
does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences is re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial
disposals of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over
the useful lives of the related assets.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as
an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered
services in exchange for shares or rights over shares.
The cost of such transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date. The fair value of share
options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a
reserve within equity.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the vesting conditions are
to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which the
entitlement of relevant employees to the award is
no longer conditional on the satisfaction of any non-
market vesting conditions (“vesting date”). During
the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest ultimately is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior periods is charged/credited to profit or loss for
the year of review, with a corresponding adjustment
to the reserve within equity.

Upon the exercise of share options, the resulting
shares issued are recorded by the Company as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the
shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded
by the Company in the share premium account. In
addition, at the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised in the
share option reserve will be transferred to the share
premium account.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued)

When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits or losses.

No expense is recognised for awards that do
not ultimately vest, except for awards that are
conditional on a market condition or non-vesting
condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of
whether or not the market condition or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all non-market
vesting conditions are satisfied. Where an equity-
settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award as described
above.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss
before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less
accumulated impairment losses of property, plant
and equipment, other than construction in progress,
over their estimated useful lives as set out below
from the date on which they are available for use
and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method. Where parts
of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis and depreciated separately:
Leasehold improvements 5 years to 10 years
or over the lease
period
Plant and machinery 5 years to 10 years
Office equipment 5 years to 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and
only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

e the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

e the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

e how the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits;

e the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for internally
generated intangible asset is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally
generated intangible assets are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
When the asset is available for use, amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. For intangible assets yet to be available for
use, they are stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on non-financial assets, other than
goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets with finite useful lives and the Company’s
investment in subsidiaries to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
is estimated individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on non-financial assets, other than
goodwill (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) in prior periods. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash equivalents represent short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, net of bank overdrafts (if any).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, which comprises all costs of
purchase and, where applicable, cost of conversion
and other costs that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition, is calculated using the first in, first out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period of the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measure at
fair value through profit or loss.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL") on financial assets which are
subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including
trade receivables, other receivables, bank deposit
with maturity over three months and bank balances).
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group'’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings (i.e. high risk, normal risk and low risk

type).

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
assessment;

e significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

e an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low
risk of default (i.e. no default history); ii) the
counterparty has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower

will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over
two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the risk
type (i.e. high risk, normal risk and low risk type)
by considering:

e  Past-due status; and
e Nature, size and industry of debtors.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with
the exception of trade receivables and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables and accrued charges, and amount due to
an associate are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CON

Year ended

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to
the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of the holding
company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
holding company, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to

the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a holding company of the

entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings

with the entity and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner,

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s

spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to Group’s executive
directors for the purpose of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
(Continued)

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The Group adopted HKFRS 9 and the management
of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime
ECL of trade receivables based on provision matrix
through grouping of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns, after considering internal credit
assessment of trade debtors and past due status
of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates
are based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information. In addition, trade
receivables that are credit impaired are assessed for
ECL individually. The loss allowance amount of the
credit impaired trade receivables is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows with
the consideration of expected future losses. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of
trade receivables.

Impairment assessment of loan and loan interest
receivables and refundable consideration paid

In measuring ECL and in determining whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition and whether the financial assets is credit-
impaired, the Group takes into account the historical
actual credit loss experience, financial information,
current conditions, forecasts of future economic
conditions and viability of realising the estimated
value of collaterals. If the financial condition of
the debtors were to deteriorate, or the value of
collaterals held by the Group were lower than the
estimated value, actual write-offs would be higher
than estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Key sources of estimation and uncertainty
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

The management determines whether the Group's
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets are impaired when an indication
of impairment exists or when annual impairment
testing is required. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amounts of the property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets which is equal to the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. Estimating the
value in use requires the management to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. Any impairment will be charged
to profit or loss.

Allowance for inventories

The management reviews the condition of
inventories at the end of each reporting period and
makes allowance for inventories that are identified
as obsolete, slow-moving or no longer recoverable.
The management carries out the inventory review on
a product-by-product basis and makes allowances or
reversal allowance by reference to the latest market
prices and current market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current year, which the Group has
not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability™”
Amendments to HKFRS9  Amendments to the Classification and
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Annual Improvementsto  Volume 112

HKFRSs
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
and HKFRS 7 Electricity®
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

M Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

®  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

@ The effective date to be determined

The management of the Group does not anticipate
that the adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs in
future periods will have any material impact on the
financial performance and financial position of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

REVENUE 3. k=
(a) BFEGHWELE

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

2024 2023
—E-WE  —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARE T AREF T
Type of goods Em¥EHsl
Sales of biological reagents: SHE EYRE -
Male fertility in-vitro diagnostic SHETEEINDE
reagents A 19,365 19,033
Parasite antibody detection reagents 274 & 551 8] 5 A 3,761 3,059
Epstein-Barr Virus antibody EBJR = iRl s B
detection reagents 840 851
Sales of auxiliary reproductive supplies 5% &84 & A @
and equipment B 1,393 1,371
Sales of healthcare products and HERREmRRERD
supplements - 315
25,359 24,629
Type of customers R &R
Distributors 7R 13,099 11,448
Non-distributors JEDIERS 12,260 13,181
25,359 24,629

EREY)EZEIRIREPR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

177



178

3. REVENUE (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers

The Group sells biological reagents, auxiliary
reproductive supplies and equipment and
healthcare products and supplements to
distributors and non-distributors mainly
comprising hospitals and medical institutions in
the PRC. Contracts with the Group’s customers
are mainly short term and fixed price contracts.
The revenue is recognised when control of the
goods has transferred, being when the goods
are i) delivered to the customers’ warehouse
on which the customers obtain control of the
goods or ii) collected by the customers directly
from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate.
Following delivery, the customers have full
discretion over the manner of distribution
and price to sell the goods, have the primary
responsibility when selling the goods and bear
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to
the goods.

In general, the Group will request deposits from
the customers before the goods are delivered
and the amount of deposits requested varies
amongst different contracts. For certain long-
term customers, the Group will deliver the
goods without requesting deposits and allow a
credit period from 30 to 180 days (2023: 30 to
180 days) to these customers and there is no
credit period granted to other customers.

The total amount of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining unsatisfied
performance obligations as at 31 December
2024 are approximately RMB695,000 (2023:
approximately RMB552,000) and the expected
timing of recognising revenue is within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —Z —UF+_—_HA=+—HILtFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of
the Company, being identified as the chief operating
decision makers (the “CODM"), for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been aggregated in
arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Based on the Group’s internal information reporting
purpose, the directors of the Company have
determined that there are two reportable operating

segments which are set out below:

(1) Biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment; and

(2) Healthcare products and supplements.

ERENEBER

e ISR MR

31 December 2024 HE-E_MFE+_A=+—HILFE

4. HEER
MERD B R EBEE R MR R A
MITES(AEELERARA(ZTEE
BEREAN]D)MENEREERFAIRN
FIEHAmARBHEE - EEARE
ER2Wmo - SiEBEELERE
APTEBRNEEDFBEHETE o

BEAEBRLERZHREHN - AAA]
BEECEEFEMER 2HRELE DI
T -

(1) EVRB REBEE BmMRE
)54

(2) fEFEEmNMREmR
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in Note 2.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from
biological reagents and auxiliary reproductive
supplies and equipment, and healthcare products
and supplements.

Segment results, which are the measures reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resources allocation
and assessment of segment performance, represent
the profit earned or loss incurred by each segment
without allocation of certain other gains and losses,
administrative expenses, finance costs incurred by
head office, (reversal of) provision for impairment
losses on loan and loan interest receivables and
refundable consideration paid, interest income from
loan receivables, income tax expense and share result
of an associate.

All assets are allocated to operating segments other
than unallocated corporate assets which are mainly
certain of bank balances and other receivables as
these assets are managed on a corporate basis.

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate liabilities which are
mainly certain of other payables as these liabilities
are managed on a corporate basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSd\IiI\)ATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and results by reportable operating segments:

Year ended 31 December 2024

R E IR R MR

31 December 2024 HE-E_MFE+_A=+—HILFE

T RPER ()
DK - KK - BEEREEE)

P
N

AT BIRA] 2 &2 D AMEH A EE
Yoas M SRAEDHT

BE-_Z_NE+-A=1+—HILEE

Biological
reagents

and auxiliary
reproductive
supplies and

Healthcare
products and

equipment supplements Total
EYRE R
HHEERAR RBEERR
& REmR #et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T AR¥FT ARE T
Segment revenue 7B E 25,359 - 25,359
Segment results DEELE 540 (1,489) (949)
Unallocated head office and K75 BAEH A=
corporate income and RN EIHA
expenses: REFZ -
Other gains and losses H e K B8 210
Administrative expenses TR (3.547)
Reversal of impairment losses  fEUR & =k & & 51 A
on loan and loan interest BRAGREEX
receivables and refundable NEEREEE
consideration paid (B #8% 128
Loss before tax BRTTAIEE (4,158)
Income tax expense FriSHi A2 -
Loss for the year FHNEHE (4,158)

EREY)EZEIRIREPR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. DEERE)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities oIS - EE EEREEE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BHE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE
Biological
reagents
and auxiliary
reproductive Healthcare
supplies and  products and
equipment  supplements Total
A RIE K
AR Am fERREm &
P& RiEm HET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AREFT AREFTT
Segment revenue 7B E 24,314 315 24,629
Segment results DEBELE 111) (2,256) (2,367)
Unallocated head office and K75 BAEH A=
corporate income and K 23 aJHA
expenses: REFZ -
Other gains and losses HAb Wz & &5 18 224
Administrative expenses THAX (3.287)
Provision for impairment W E R R ERF
losses on loan and loan BRAGREE X
interest receivables and NEEREEE
refundable consideration B
paid (349)
Finance costs BLE KA 3)
Loss before tax BRAXAIEE (5,782)
Income tax expense PRS2 -
Loss for the year FHNEE (5,782)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. FEERE)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities DEWE - ¥EE BEEREEE)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and TRANEERIEN 2MEE D EHET
liabilities by reportable operating segments: NEERBED -
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE-—Z-_NF+=-A=+—HLEFE
Biological
reagents
and auxiliary
reproductive Healthcare
supplies and  products and
equipment  supplements  Unallocated Total
EMEE R
BHEERAR BREERR
S RER il ) @t
RMB‘000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT AREFT  AREFZ
Assets EE
Reportable segment assets ~ AI2H/DHEE 60,669 490 4,063 65,222
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities A 2k P& E 6,375 3,059 1,740 11,174
Other information Hip R
Depreciation on property, W% * BE X
plant and equipment REHE 1,467 52 5 1,524
Depreciation on right-of-use (L ENE
assets 1,133 - - 1,133
Amortisation on intangible  #Ef & E
assets 677 - - 677
Loss on disposal of property, HEME « HEX
plant and equipment R EEE
20 - - 20
Provision for impairment & S EMWFUARE
losses on trade BRERETE
receivables, net 42 52 - 94
Reversal of impairment ERERREHFE
losses on loan and loan RARED L
interest receivables and EBREEEEE
refundable consideration B
paid - - (128) (128)
Additions in property, plant ~ #1% - BE KRB
and equipment AE 1,992 - - 1,992
Research and development &
expenses 2,825 - - 2,825
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 4. DEERE)
Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities oIS - XEE EEREEE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE_Z_=F+_A=+—HIFE
Biological
reagents
and auxiliary
reproductive Healthcare
suppliesand  products and
equipment supplements Unallocated Total
MR K
BYERERAM RRERK
B RiEm RO @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBEFT  AREFT  ARETFT  AREFT
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets ~ A|2RHBEE 58,487 1,229 5,599 65,315
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities A 27 ZhE (& 6,806 4,190 3,300 14,29
Other information Hip R
Depreciation on property,  ¥1% * BB R
plant and equipment RETE 1,543 52 5 1,600
Depreciation on right-of-use {F FRIEBENE
assets 857 - 45 902
Amortisation on intangible &/ & E# Y
assets 677 — - 677
Gain on disposal of HENE - BER
property, plant and R
equipment (13) = = (13)
Loss on disposal of right-of- & F FELEEE
use assets - - 22 22
Provision for impairment  E ZEMGIER(E
losses on trade BREAETE
receivables, net 1,174 240 - 1,414
Provision for impairment  EUWEFRREHH S
losses on loan and loan RAREIE %
interest receivables and EREEERE
refundable consideration
paid - - 349 349
Write-off of inventories %HEE - 210 - 210
Additions in property, plant 1% - BE N R1E
and equipment NE 1,502 - - 1,502
Research and development ~ HEF
expenses 2,553 - - 2,553
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group's revenue from
external customers which are based on the location
of goods delivered.

DERER(E)
i &

TRIFJIZERINNERE D 2 ANE
BISNERE P M 2 I E FY o

2024 2023

—EMF —Eo=F

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ANRETFT AEEFIT

Revenue from external customers: INERR E M

The PRC H 25,359 24,314

Hong Kong B - 315
Canada nExX - —*

25,359 24,629

*  Represents amount less than RMB1,000

No geographical segment information of the Group’s
non-current assets is presented as the Group’s non-
current assets (except for office equipment and
one motor vehicles with total carrying amount of
approximately RMB24,000 (2023: approximately
RMB81,000) as presented in property, plant and
equipment which are located in Hong Kong) are
mainly located in the PRC by physical location of
assets.

Information about major customers

The Group’s revenue from any single external
customers did not contribute 10% or more of the
total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

ERENEBER

* X2 LRAREKI000T

MR IREEMEMNEEI D ASE 2 IE
RBEE(RUNRBENDE  BEK
REERY 2 REEEN R AREK24,000
T(ZF==4F : HARKS81,0007T)
R RER—ABELAIN) EERMRF
W2 AN EBIERE B E i
HAEER -

EBTEEFEFHNEHR
BHE_ZT_NWFE-_ZT_=F+_H
=+—HIEFE  UEEINEFH
BRMEAREBERZE10% A | o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eI EmARMEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

5. OTHER INCOME 5. HfgA

2024 2023
—BomE T =F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTFrT AREFT
Bank interest income FRITH B WA 347 185
Government grants (Note) BASH#Bh (1 7E) 106 231
Loan interest income BEFF U A 165 219
Sundry income FEIEIA 80 99
698 734

Note: Kzt -

In the opinion of the management of the Group, there
was no unfulfilled condition or contingency relating to the

government grants.

6. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

REKIGHHEAEIR -

6. HttWmRER

AEEEEERAS  WERERFHEIARZ

2024 2023

—BomE  —T-Z=F

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥FrT AREFT

Foreign exchange gains, net bEE 3, W o 2E 241 251
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

LOSS BEFORE TAX
This is stated after charging:

7. BREREE
T AEFORR N HIRIR

2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFIT AREFT
Finance costs L& B A
Interest on lease liabilities HMEEEZHE 86 53
Staff costs, including directors’ ETRA BFEES
remuneration 7B
Directors’ emoluments (Note 8) BEEX5HM(AZES) 2,774 2,743
Other staff costs: HAth 8 TRCA -
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits e A R EHA
b 11,092 10,029
Contributions to defined contribution EBRH AT B
plans 2,287 2,075
16,153 14,847
Other items Hg g
Auditor’s remuneration ZEREM N & 695 631
Amortisation of intangible assets B AESE(BEHEE
(included in cost of sales) X 7) 677 677
Cost of inventories (Note) FERA (A7) 8,287 8,536
Depreciation of property, plant and Mz~ BB LR
equipment e 1,524 1,600
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 1,133 902
Other rental and related expenses — HiHERBHBRAZ -
short-term leases FEHAHE 97 739
Loss (Gain) on disposal of property, HEME - BEKEE
plant and equipment Ea (M) 20 (13)
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEESE - 22
Write-off of inventories FEZE - 210

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2024, cost of
inventories included approximately RMB2,896,000 (2023:
approximately RMB2,878,000) relating to the aggregate
amount of certain staff costs, amortisation, depreciation
and other rental and related expenses, which were

Hiat -

included in the respective amounts as disclosed above. # o

EREY)EZEIRIREPR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8.
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

EERFTETHRAESHFMURER
K= ¥ ES 5

(a) EERFETHAEHM

Date of appointment as

Name Position the director of the Company
i Bifu EZERFARESZAH
Mr. Zhang Shuguang Executive director and chairman of 3 August 2017

the Board of Directors
RIEN LA RITESREZSTR —Z—+F/\A=H
Mr. Zhang Chunguang Executive director and chief executive officer 3 August 2017

(Chief Executive)
RENLLE RITEERERNTE ((THAR) —Z—+t%/\A=H
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael Executive director and chief financial officer 3 August 2017
RREERE RTESRARNBE —Z—+t%/\A=H
Mr. He Jiaming Executive director and business development 14 January 2020

director
AEAEE HTEZRFBERES —TEF-AtHA
Mr. Chan Kin Sang Independent non-executive director 26 November 2018
[Fdpiats BUFRTES “E-\F+—A=t5<H
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary Independent non-executive director 1 September 2020
BT A BUFRTES “Z_TFNA-H
Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph Independent non-executive director 16 December 2020
FEERE BUFRTES “ECBETATRA
Ms. Chow Ching Man Independent non-executive director 2 August 2023
JAE Rt BUFRTES “TZ=4%/\AZH
Ms. Shih Mei Ling Independent non-executive director 3 December 2024
mERTL BUFRTES —TCME+-A=H
Dr. Bu Su Non-executive director 8 August 2024
hEiEL FRTES —ZCmENANR
Dr. Xu Ming Non-executive director 25 October 2024
RAEL FRTES —Z_ME+A-tAH
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R E IR R MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID

EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable
Listing Rules and the Companies Ordinance, is as

follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

8. EERFEMTHAEHFMURER
REHESHMN Z)

(a) EBRFETHRAEEHM(E)

BRE A LR A R A RHE B R
WFERNESRFEZTHABFHM®A
T

BE-Z-_NMFE+-A=t+—HL

FE
Contributions
Salaries to defined
Directors' and other  Discretionary  contribution
fees benefits honuses plans Total
R ERHK
£35S EftfH MiswA TR - h
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ABRTL  ARETR  AREFr  AREFn  ARRTR
Executive directors HiEE
Mr. Zhang Shuguang REXLE - 264 136 8 48
Mr. Zhang Chunguang FEALE - M 300 9 709
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael ARERE - 597 3 Y] 666
Mr. He Jiaming fahLsE - 445 3 17 499
- 1,618 510 28 2,356
Non-executive Director FHTEE
Dr. Bu Su Nt 88 - - - 88
Dr. XuMing il 21 - - - 21
109 - - - 109
Independent non-executive ~ BU#HEE
directors
Mr. Chan Kin Sang (Note () REREREMH) 3 - - - 3
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary PETEE 9 - - - 9%
Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph AR 9 - - - 9%
Ms. Chow Ching Man (Note (i) BB & L/Hti) L - - - CE
Ms. Shih Mei Ling (Note i) HER R M) 7 - - - 7
309 - - - 309
418 1,618 510 28 2,774
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERIETHAEFMURTER

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BeHESHMZ)
EMPLOYEES (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTETHRAEEHME)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BEE—_T-_=F+-_HA=+—HIt
FE
Contributions
Salaries to defined
Directors' andother  Discretionary ~ contribution
fees benefits bonuses plans Total
3k Htoihl HiEEA HEIR &

RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  AMBO0D
ARBTE  ABRTT  ARETL  ARRTZ  ARETx

Executive directors HiEE
Mr. Zhang Shuguang FRREE - 259 144 76 479
Mr. Zhang Chunguang FEALE - 314 300 89 703
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michal ARERE - 703 36 30 769
Mr. He Jiaming RPEE - 3 36 16 484
- 1,708 516 211 2435
Independent non-executive ~ BU#HEE
directors
Mr. Chan Kin Sang (Note () BRET W) ) - - - 9%
Mr. Cheng Faat Ting Gary PETEE ) - - - )
Mr. Chow Kwok Fai Joseph FEBS & % - - - )
Ms. Chow Ching Man (Note (i) BB TH:2i) 38 - - - 38
308 - - - 308
308 1,708 516 211 2,743
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NOTES TO THE CON

Year ended

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

(i)  On 2 April 2024, Mr. Chan Kin Sang resigned
as an independent non-executive director of the
Company.

(i)  On 22 January 2025, Ms. Chow Ching Man
resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company and Mr. Tsui Wing Tak
was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company.

(i) On 28 February 2025, Ms. Shih Mei Ling
resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company.

Mr. Zhang Chunguang’s emoluments disclosed
above included those for services rendered by
him as chief executive officer during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group. The non-executive directors’
and independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services
as directors of the Company.

Discretionary bonuses are determined based
on the results of the Group and individual
performance during both years.

During the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office. There was
no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

ERENEBER

SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

31 December 2024 HE-E_MFE+_A=+—HILFE

8. EERFEMBAEBHMURASR
REFESHMNE)

(a) EBRFETHRAEEHM(E)

Haz -

() M-T_MFMA_—H RELE
FAEBHERNRRIEIENITES o

iy RZZE-_AF—A=+=H" ' H&
BN Z T BEARRRIE L IEANTT
BEENBRKBEEEZEAEEAR
AIBMIEITES ©

(i) RZE-_RAF-_A=+N\B " i
EERRZLRIARR BB IENTIT
gE-

EXBENRENEEZTHHNEIE
FREBEEZE-_T_MFEFR_T_=F
+Z A=+ —HIEFEREEITHRE
FFTIR AR TS BT

ERMTESEHNAESERHARA]
RSB EEER T mAREANR
BMER - DAIFRITESERBY
FRTESHFMRESHEETAR
RIEFARHEMRE MES -

RMEFE - BEIATIREAR
SEREMEARBRERE -

BE_T_NWEFER-ZT-_=F1+=
A=+—HLFE  FrEEHMES
NEHMFARRREEIEAINALRE
Bk IARE B & 2 B2 5 kBB
HE - RZMETEREESHE
EITBABNEXREREEMFH
By 2 B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M ERRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 included
four (2023: four) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining one (2023: one)
highest paid employee who is neither a director
of the Company nor chief executive of the
Group are as follows:

EERFTETHRAESHFMURER
REHESHMN Z)

(b) EEREHEES

HE_ZT-_WF+-A=1+—H1t
FE - FAEEREREFEERE
WEH(—ZE—=F : L) EE ' &
E2HEMFBERER EX - Fgk
—H(ZF=—=F : —F)BFIEERR
AEZBNMFAKEFZTZETHAEN
T EEZEHEMFBLT

2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT ARETT

Salaries and other benefits e REMEA 778 757
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 65 63

Contributions to defined TE BB FET BT K
contribution plans 50 49
893 869

The number of these non-director individuals
whose emoluments fell within the following
emoluments band is as follows:

HHBNF T oF s Em %% IE
SEEATEBENT

Number of individuals

AB
2024 2023
—E-OEF —EC=F
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 L% 1,000,000/ 7T 1 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid employees (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, no remuneration was paid by the
Group to any of these highest paid non-director
individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for
loss of office. There was no arrangement under
which any of these highest paid non-director
individuals waived or has agreed to waive
any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

EERFETBRAEHFMURES
REFESHMNE)

(b) EEESHES(E)
BE_T-_NEFER-ZT-_=F1+=
A=+—HLFE  FrEEMES
NEHEMTEAZSERSTHFEEA
TEAMAREB SR MAREE
BeREERERFEE BE_-ZT
THER_ZE_=F+-_A=1+—
AIEFE  SMEEUZEESHIE
EZATRBEANZHRESRE
WEEFAME -

9. FiEHimxX

2024 2023
—E-OF o=

RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRBMFT ANEETFT

Current tax BNHARI IR
PRC Enterprise Income Tax — PRI —
current year REEZ

The Company and the subsidiaries incorporated
in the BVI are tax-exempted. Entity established
in the PRC is subject to PRC Enterprise Income
Tax at a statutory rate of 25%. Since the Group’s
PRC subsidiary, Shenzhen Huakang is recognised
as “High and New Technology Enterprise” and
therefore is entitled to a concessional tax rate of
15%. The entitlement of this tax benefit is subject
to renewal by respective tax bureau in the PRC
every three years. The latest approval for Shenzhen
Huakang recognising as “High and New Technology
Enterprise” was obtained on 15 November 2023 for
the three years ending 14 November 2026.

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the
Group had no assessable profit arising from Hong
Kong for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

ERENEBER

AR B R B B rE M A SZ Y AR 2 B R MY
BRAHRH - RPBERI 2 BERER
R B 1 5 PR 1S A TE B R 25% BUA B
IR o HRASKE R BB R RIRYIE
FEFRSHRMER] RitrZH
15%HBERE - ZIARGEEERE
B=FREBRPENBERER - RIIE
RS SFRMEEIER KR/
—To=F+—A+HA  ARHSH
E_EB_RFT—ATHEBIE=SF -

AR AEEREEZE T _NFEFE -
T+ AT BUFEYEER
BEERRTAN - BT ERLFERNE
MAVE B4 -

B PR 2 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

9.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) FRrEBiMx% (&)
Reconciliation of income tax expense FRiSHi6 X ¥ Bk
2024 2023
—ECNE  —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AREFIT
Loss before tax BRA% AIE 1B (4,158) (5,782)
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 25% &% & 25%
(2023: 25%) —E=F 1 25%)
STERATEH (1,040) (1,445)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for NA] F1F: FE sz M7 75
tax purpose 7 1,504 2,002
Additional tax deduction on research and #1355 3% Mt hnfH 008
development expenses (Note) (B1aE) (643) (638)
Unrecognised tax losses RNHERT IS B R 179 81
Income tax expense for the year FAMEHRX - —

Note:

The State Taxation Administrative of the PRC announced
in March 2021 that technology-based small and medium-
sized enterprises engaging in research and development
activities would be entitled to claim an additional 100%
of their research and development expenses as super
deduction. The directors of the Company consider the
eligibility of the PRC subsidiaries and recognise the
additional tax deduction for the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

At 31 December 2024, the Group has unused
estimated tax losses of approximately RMB 1,041,000
(2023: RMB325,000) arising from the PRC that
may be carried forward for five to ten years from
the year incurred and hence will be expired by the
year of 2028 to 2034. The tax losses were available
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
respective subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)
Unrecognised deferred tax liabilities

Under the relevant tax law and implementation
regulations in the PRC, withholding income tax
is applicable to dividend earned and payable to
investors that are “non-tax resident enterprises” in
respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiary since 1
January 2008, which do not have an establishment
or place of business in the PRC, or which have
such establishment or place of business but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with
the establishment or place of business, to the extent
such interest or dividends have their sources within
the PRC. Under such circumstances, dividends paid
by the PRC subsidiary to offshore group entities
shall be subject to the withholding tax at 10%
or a lower treaty rate. The Group is subject to
withholding tax in relation to the dividend paid by
the PRC subsidiary. As the Company has decided
not to declare any dividends from undistributed
earnings of the PRC subsidiary amounting to
approximately RMB47,513,000 (2023: approximately
RMB47,441,000) as at 31 December 2024 to the
immediate holding company of the PRC subsidiary in
the foreseeable future, no deferred tax liability has
been recognised in respect of these undistributed
earnings during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

No provision for deferred taxation has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as there were
no significant temporary differences arising during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 or at
the end of each reporting period.

ERENEBER

FRi&Hm (&)
RERIELER AR E

BB HBEREREEERD - 558
FRERRAEBIEAN - BT N\F—
A — B Est A BIRT B A 5 s ) A
B E A Tl IER R R 5 | (W IE
FERBIR Y Sk E R B e S B - 3X
T AR B X 37 Bk R A e S BB AR LA
B R B R B E TR E) R
BEMRE - BEMIEIMER - £5
BERT  FENBARFARIINERE
YRR IR 10% K E R T
REMTEIN - AEBARTEBA
AR B BN TER c RZZ = IY
F+=-_A=1+—H BAREARRER
AEEARETEHPEMBRFR
DAL AR ¥47,513,0000( ==
T =4F AR B47,441,0000T ) R
BB A RMEZEERATEIREMEK
B ARBE—_T-_NER-_T_=F
F+TZRA=FT—HLFE ' WRFZER
DB ERELERIBAE -

HREBE-_E-_NMFR T -_=F+=
A=+ —HULFEXSRERRTES
AERUHEEER ARSI ERRITE
FHRIEE R AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

10. LOSS PER SHARE 10. BREBE
The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable RARHEE ANEEERERNBENGE
to owners of the Company is based on the following THERATEUE -
data:
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC=4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARE T AEEF T
Loss: EiE
Loss for the year attributable to owners st EFREAREE
of the Company for the purpose of mEARRIEBA
basic loss per share JE(RFAEE (4,158) (5,782)
Number of shares: RGOHA :
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FtatEEIEKEIE
shares of the Company in issue for the M AAAIEHITE
purpose of basic loss per share AR ANAE T 482,436,384 415,962,411
Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per HE-_ZT_NWFEEK-_FT-_=F+=H
share as the effect of potential ordinary shares is =+—HIEFE anNEEREGERE
anti-dilutive during the years ended 31 December [RESEHNE - N FRE SR EGARE
2024 and 2023. REIEAEME
11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company BHE_FT_MNMEFR-_FT-_=F+_H
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and =+—HLFE FARAHBEKNHE
2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the AR - kBB WE AR EEZ
end of each reporting period. IKHERAR S ©

Annual Report 2024 &%



NOTES TO THE CONSO\L‘iDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R E IR R MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% - BERRE
Leasehold Plant and Office Motor
improvements machinery  equipment vehicles Total
BENEEE  EEREM BORME RE @t
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEBFT  AREFT AREFT ARETr AREFT
CosT BA
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=F—F—H 5,743 10,473 2,570 1,629 20,415
Additions NE - 1,113 79 310 1,502
Disposals e - - - (400) (400)
Written off 5 (404) = = - (404)
Exchange realignment B - - - 7 7
At 31 December 2023 and i
1 January 2024 +-A=+-Bk
“Z-N¥-F—-H 5339 11,586 2,649 1,546 21,120
Additions NE 550 302 153 937 1,992
Disposals e - - - (64) (64)
Exchange realignment AR - - - 10 10
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+=A
=1+-H 5,889 11,888 2,802 2,479 23,058
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ EHERFEER
AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%-F—-H 3,128 71,534 1,277 904 12,843
Provided for the year AEREE 590 483 364 163 1,600
Disposals e - - - (400) (400)
Written off A (404) - - = (404)
Exchange realignment [E 5 5% - - - 3 3
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=F
1 January 2024 TZA=1T-Ak
—“Z-NF¥-F—-H 3,314 8,017 1,641 670 13,642
Provided for the year rEERE a1 483 409 211 1524
Disposals ik - - - (24) (24)
Exchange realignment I 5 5% = - - 8 8
At 31 December 2024 R=Z-mE
+=A=1+-AH 3,735 8,500 2,050 865 15,150
CARRYING VALUES RAE
At 31 December 2024 R-E-ME+=A
=t+-H 2,154 3,388 752 1,614 7,908
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=F+_f
=t-H 2,025 3,569 1,008 876 1478
FEF LY EEEIE R R A A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eI EmARMEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

13. LEASES 13. €

At At
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
R-B-NFE RZT-=F
+=A +=A
=t+—H =t+—H
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥FrT AR T
Right-of-use assets (Note (a)) EREEEfitk) 1,134 2,267

Lease liabilities (Note (b)) HEEBWAZD)
Current BN EA 1,177 1,111
Non-current JEENEA - 1,177
1,177 2,288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

13. LEASES (Continued) 13. HE#E)

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EAEE
Factories
Motor and office
vehicles premises Total
ITRR
AE BAEYE Hact
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AREFT ARETT
Reconciliation of carrying ~ BREIE %R
amount - year ended -BE-2==F
31 December 2023 +tZB=+—-HLEE
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-=%—F—H 218 478 696
Additions NE - 2,646 2,646
Disposals qe (173) - (173)
Depreciation e (45) (857) (902)
At 31 December 2023 i ——
+ZR=+—H - 2,267 2,267
Reconciliation of carrying ~ BREEHE
amount - year ended -BE-Z-DF
31 December 2024 t+ZA=+—-HLEE
At 1 January 2024 RZE_FE—HF—H - 2,267 2,267
Depreciation e - (1,133) (1,133)
At 31 December 2024 ji e e
+=A=+—H - 1,134 1,134
At 31 December 2023 R=B==fF
t=A=t+-H
Cost BEN - 2,646 2,646
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE - (379) (379)
- 2,267 2,267
At 31 December 2024 R-BE_mE
+=A=+-H
Cost XA - 2,646 2,646
Accumulated depreciation ZHE - (1,512) (1,512)
- 1,134 1,134

EREY)EZEIRIREPR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

13. LEASES (Continued) 13. HE&E(#&)
(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued) (a) FREEEE)
The Group leases certain of its factories and AEBHES THRERFAMFER
office premises for its operation. The lease RiEE - MEGHNEFIL ' BEF
contract is entered into for fixed term of 2 years B—F(—F—=F: —4F)-

(2023: 2 years).

The total cash outflow for leases (including BE_FT-_NEFT+A=+—HIL
other rental and related expenses) for the year FE - HENRESREAE(RE
ended 31 December 2024 were approximately HMmBEEREBERS) NABARK
RMB1,294,000 (2023: approximately 1,294,000 ( = FE==4F - AR
RMB1,623,000). #1,623,0007T) °
Certain leases impose a restriction that, unless ATHEER—BRS - RIFES
the approval is obtained from the lessor, the HHEARLE - BRIGAEEEER
right-of-use asset can only be used by the AAEEFER WA FAEEN
Group and the Group is prohibited from selling EREREEEE -
or pledging the underlying assets.

(b) Commitments and present value of lease (b) HEEBHNAERRAE
liabilities

Present value of

Lease payments lease payments

HEMN HENRNERE

At 31 December At 31 December

R+=ZA=+—-H Rt+ZA=1+—H
2024 2023 2024 2023

“ECNE —T-=fF CZE-NE —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ANREFT AEEFT AREFT ARETT

Amounts payable: FEREOA
Within 1 year —ER 1,208 1,197 1,177 1111
More than 1 year but within BB —%F
2 years BLRME - 1,208 - 1177
1,208 2,405 1,177 2,288
Less: future finance charges  J& : KREIHEH (31) (117)
1,177 2,288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. B EE
Development
costs
BRRA
RMB’'000
AEEF T
cosT R
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, R-_ZE-_=F—H—H-
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 :g: F+=—A=+—8 "
—EoMFE-A—ABK
— TN+ _A=1+—H 5,203
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION L £
At 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-_=F—H—H 2,392
Provided for the year INFE 677
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 E/\_7 —=F+ZA=+—A8kK
—T-pE—H—H 3,069
Provided for the year NFE 677
At 31 December 2024 R-EB-WE+=-B=+—H 3,746
CARRYING VALUES fREE
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-WE+=A=+—H 1,457
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+_A=+—H 2,134
Development costs are internally generated at the BREAATTNEREBRASES - TR
development phase and amortised on a straight-line SENKREREEN - EHRBEIR
basis over 5 years. This asset is tested for impairment - ZIREERETRERR -
where an indicator of impairment appears.
The Group has no intangible assets yet to be RZFE_MER_TZ=F+=H
available for use at 31 December 2024 and 2023. =+—H  AEE&EEKRATEEANE

WEE -

FEF LY EEEIE R R A A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited 201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. R—RBE AT ERS
2024 2023
—EUE —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

Share of net assets PMEEEFE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had interests in
the following associate:

Principal place

RZZEZNF+=—A=1+—1H ' &~&H
RATEE AR R -

Proportion of

of business Paid-up  value of issued
and place of issued  capital held by
Name of associate incorporation capital the Company Principal activities
TEERBE FAEFRHERT
HENRAB R M 3 B BRRA RAEELG FEXEREH
Smartronic Limited (“Smartronic”)  Hong Kong HK$100,000 49%  Sales of healthcare
(2023: (Note) products and
HK$100,000) (2023: 49%) supplements
BERINBRAR([BEERIND) B 100,000/ 7T 49% HERRERK
it ik 2 (et)  RiEm
100,00087T) —E-Zf:
49%)
Note: Btat -

On 3 June 2020, the Group entered into a shareholders’
agreement with an independent third party to acquire
Smartronic with nil identifiable assets, pursuant to which
the Group and the independent third party held as to 49%
and 51%, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The associate is accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.
There are no capital commitment and contingent
liabilities in relation to Smartronic.

Relationship with associate

Smartronic is engaged in sales of healthcare products
and supplements in the PRC and Hong Kong
through the cross-border e-commerce platforms and
other platforms and channels, which could allow the
Group to benefit from Smartronic’s operations.

Fair value of investment

Smartronic is not listed and there is no quoted
market price available for the investment.

Financial information of associate

Summarised financial information of the associate
of the Group is set out below, which represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial
statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purpose
including any differences in accounting policies and
fair value adjustments.

ERENEBER

15. R—EBERATNER(E)

s DR TR AR EAR RS M SRR
AR o BB I GERI 1 B B B A AE
KEREIE

AR N R B R
BBl NEBBEREFRAB AR
b F e MRENTERBBEFHER
FREmMMRER  SAEEREEEE
NEFEMH Xk o

REZRVE
RRERINW AR L B EREN T ISR
E o

il

BE AR 2MBER

&
AREBBERF 2 MBERBAIT -
Higl 2 NRRBEBR BV RS LR R
B MRS - WEAREE 5
Rm ST BEMIFLFEE - BRERTEE
RAEREZIMERE -

B PR 2 A Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

15. R—EBERATNER(E)

2024 2023
—F-MFE  ZT=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FrT ARETFT
Gross amounts Fikad
Current assets mENEE 3,611 3,547
Current liabilities mEaE (7,660) (7,383)
Net liabilities BEFR (4,049) (3,836)
Included in above: FFALMIER ¢
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEY 13 31
Reconciliation #ER
Gross amount of net liabilities FREERE (4,049) (3,836)
Group's ownership interests and REB 2 B EER KR
voting rights R 49% 49%

Carrying amount of the Group’s
ownership interests

REBZ AR

RREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

15. A—REBE QT NERS(E)

2024 2023
—ECDNE —T-=fF
RMB‘000 RMB’000
ARMFT AREFT
Gross amounts Ao ER

Revenue Wz - 1,105

Loss and total comprehensive loss for FABEREZH
the year i 458 (67) (1,367)

HE-_T-_MNFER=-ZT-_=F+=A
=+—HLEFE  ANEEWED(GH

ENAEE BE_T_MF+=A
= t+—HLEFERZFEEREHR

RIER ’Vﬁﬂﬁﬁ%@méﬂ%’\ﬁw’m
ARM33,000L(ZFE=Z=F - ARK
670,0007T) &% N R ¥ ,829,00075(_ =z
Z =4 : ARK1,796,0005T) °

There are no share of loss of the associate to the
Group during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023. The unrecognised share of loss of the
associate for the year ended 31 December 2024
and cumulatively up to the end of the reporting
period amounted to approximately RMB33,000
(2023: RMB670,000) and RMB1,829,000 (2023:
RMB1,796,000), respectively.

16. INVENTORIES 16. 78
2024 2023
—EDmE  —T-=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT ARETT
Raw materials R 1,553 2,262
Finished goods 2URK 1,164 1,133
2,717 3,395
FHEAYBEEIRIR G A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited 205
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES

17. ESEWRE

2024 2023

—EUE —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FrT AREFT

Trade receivables from third parties WE="285

WA 15,828 15,468

Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEEERE (5.879) (5,785)
9,949 9,683
For certain long-term customers, the Group will HETRETPME  ZEEERTE
deliver the goods without requesting deposits and KIZEWBERATAZETEPRNER -

allow a credit period from 30 to 180 days (2023:
30 to 180 days) to these customers and there is no
credit period granted to other customers. The Group
will also request deposits from other customers
before the goods are delivered and the amount
of deposits requested varies amongst different
contracts. The following is an aged analysis of BH(MKREEBEBRERE) R

(e BEATRE

trade receivables (net of allowance for credit losses)
presented based on the dates of delivery of goods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSO\L‘iDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

17. ESEWRE(E)

2024 2023

—EUE —E=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFT AREFT

0-30 days 0E30K 1,688 1,419
31-90 days 31E90K 2,418 2,786
91-180 days 91%E 180Kk 3,057 2,561
Over 181 days #BiB181K 2,786 2,917
9,949 9,683

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately RMB8,770,000
(2023: approximately RMBS8,607,000) which are past
due as at the end of reporting date. Out of the past
due balances, approximately RMB4,826,000 (2023:
approximately RMB4,761,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by
considering the historical payment arrangement of
these trade receivables. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables
are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

R-ZE-_NFE+—_A=+—H ' stARK
SEBESEVRFBEHRARERRELY
B ARES,770,00000(ZF==F : 4
AR #8,607,0007T) IEWFRIE » %%
HRBERRERRGE - ZF8 4
AR - AR ¥4,826,000L( —F ==
F : ZARHE4,761,0007T) E B HI90K
K HBIBIOK BT K% EE 5 IEWHIA
FIBENRELE - THRBEL - A&
B mAZ S AT E TR AR -

BREE 2 RUGKRBER G IR
BB HKRMTE29
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

18. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 18. HttEEWFRIE - RERFALTFIE
PREPAYMENTS
2024 2023
SEIME T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMFIT AREFT
Advance payment to suppliers TR BRI 2R 969 735
Other prepaid expenses Hh BB 253 604
Refundable consideration paid AREE ZTHE
(Notes (a) and (c)) (Btat@) k() 1,900 1,900
Loan receivable (Notes (b) and (c) FEIREFFIE (H:Eb)%(c)) 1,600 3,800
Loan interest receivable (Notes (b) FEWE TR (M7t (b) % ()
and (c)) 391 226
Rental and other deposits HeREMES 225 130
Other receivables H b E W R IR 432 377
5,770 7,772
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEBEEE (221) (349)
5,549 7.423

*

Notes:

(a)

On 19 December 2022, Shenzhen Huakang, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the
“Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Maxson Technology Development Company Limited*,
(the “Vendor"”), pursuant to which the Vendor
agreed to sell, and Shenzhen Huakang agreed to
purchase, 19% equity interest in Hainan Jinnuosai
Medical Technology Company Limited* (“Hainan
Jinnuosai”), a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liability and is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sale of anoectochillus formosanus
extractive products and related supplements in the
PRC, at a cash consideration of RMB1,900,000. The
Group had fully paid the consideration directly to
Hainan Jinnuosai on 19 December 2022 as paid-
up capital in accordance with the Sale and Purchase
Agreement and Shenzhen Huakang had become
shareholder of Hainan Jinnuosai after registration
with relevant authorities in the PRC.

English translation is for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

18. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The Vendor is a company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liability and is principally engaged in
sales of healthcare foods and supplements in the
PRC. The Vendor is controlled by one of the ultimate
beneficial owners of Hainan Jinnuosai who is also one
of the directors of the Company’s then controlling
shareholder and one of the ultimate beneficial owners
of Smartronic.

On 9 February 2023, Shenzhen Huakang and the
Vendor entered into a supplemental agreement to
the Sale and Purchase Agreement to amend and
supplement certain conditions (the “Conditions”) of
the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which
if the Conditions are not fulfilled on or before 30 June
2023, the Vendor shall refund to Shenzhen Huakang
the consideration of RMB1,900,000 and Shenzhen
Huakang shall return to the Vendor the 19% equity
interest in Hainan Jinnuosai.

On 30 June 2023, Shenzhen Huakang and the Vendor
entered into a second supplemental agreement to the
Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which, it
was agreed that the date which the Conditions shall
be fulfilled be changed from “on or before 30 June
2023" to "“on or before 31 December 2023". Save
for the extension of the date to fulfill the Conditions,
all other terms, conditions and provisions in the Sale
and Purchase Agreement remain unchanged.

Details of the transaction are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 6 January 2023, 7
February 2023, 9 February 2023 and 30 June 2023.

18. Eb EE Y FN 1B -

(&)
Wit

(a)

BREREANRE

F (&)
(&)

B A~ FKRPEEMAIZINARER
BEERAR  TEAETERERERMAM
HmAHE - BHAESR —ZEBICR
ESETHBENET - BRRESEE
A TRARREREZERRROES
—REENERANEP—EBNRKRE
BEBA °

R-ZE_=F_"ANAB ' FEFREE
FERIMEEEmT iz - MR K
WA BB HENE TIRE - Bt - R
TE - FE XA THSZATRALERK
&4 EHARRIERREREAR
51,900,000 * MAIIZEREME
RBERHEHET19%AME -

RZZ-_=FA=108 ' FYIFEER
EhEE SR DT
BHEHFREHEXZSKERSH
[R_E—_=FNA=t+HIEF A=
T_=F+-A=+—H] - BEE®
AR ERSN - FrA EAM R - &H R
BOURFFTE -

BRRGFBIENARAIBHA-E
= —AXNB - —_ZE-_=F"A+
H —Z2-=F"ANBAE=-F=_=%F
NAZTHNAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

18. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

The consideration paid was guaranteed by a deed of
personal guarantee executed by Mr. Zhang Shuguang
in favor of the Group on 21 March 2023. Mr.
Zhang Shuguang is a director and then controlling
shareholder of the Company.

The Conditions had not been fulfilled as at 31
December 2023 and no further extension of the date
to fulfill the Conditions was subsequently agreed,
the Vendor should refund to Shenzhen Huakang
the consideration of RMB1,900,000 and Shenzhen
Huakang should return to Vendor the 19% equity
interest in Hainan Jinnuosai.

On 11 March 2024, the Group issued a legal letter to
demand the Vendor to make immediate refund of the
consideration of RMB1,900,000.

On 20 December 2022, Shenzhen Huakang entered
into a loan agreement with Hainan Jinnuosai,
pursuant to which Shenzhen Huakang agreed to
grant an unsecured loan in the principal amount of
RMB3,800,000 with maturity date on 19 December
2023 and bearing interest at the rate of 5.75%
per annum as amended and supplemented by a
supplemental loan agreement dated 9 February 2023.
The loan was subsequently guaranteed by a deed of
personal guarantee executed by Mr. Zhang Shuguang
in favor of the Group on 21 March 2023. Mr.
Zhang Shuguang is a director and then controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Details of the provision of loan were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 6 January 2023, 7
February 2023 and 9 February 2023.

On 11 March 2024, the Group issued a legal letter
to demand Hainan Jinnuosai to make immediate
repayment of loan and loan interest receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSdﬂDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

18. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

19.

(@

On 21 March 2024, the Group entered into a
repayment arrangement with Hainan Jinnuosai and
the Vendor, pursuant to which Hainan Jinnuosai will
repay the outstanding balance of loan receivable and
loan interest receivable and refundable consideration
paid on behalf of the Vendor by instalments up to 31
December 2025.

A subsequent instalment of RMB800,000 was
received by the Group on 7 March 2025.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables
are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK DEPOSIT WITH MATURITY OVER
THREE MONTHS AND BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

(@) Bank deposit with maturity over three

months

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposit with
maturity over three months and less than 1
year amounted to RMB5,000,000 which is non-
pledged and bearing interest rate of 1.25% per
annum.

18. EtBEWRE - BERAMNRE
(%)

Kiet - (&)

(0 R-ZE-_WNFE=A—+—H A&EEHE
R CHERE H BB ERTHE
B ESESHESEE T _AF+—
B=+—AoHEEEKERREKF
BAREEMSERREHEERLOEX
(B -

REFBR-_ZE-_RF=A+HKREE
—% A R¥E800,000 T K HAZRIE -

E b e N FOR B AR B E AR A S
HERMIFE29 ©

19. FREE=EAUELEHZETE
HERRBRITERRRE

() FRERB=EANLEHZERITE
HER
HE—_ZT-_WNF+-_A=+—H"
ERERE=EANELEBETR—F
BT EMEREEARAR
#5,000,0007T * ZTFHARFEDL
B FEREE1.25% o
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

19. BANK DEPOSIT WITH MATURITY OVER 19. G AE=EAULEBZERITE
THREE MONTHS AND BANK BALANCES AND HERRETESRRES(E)

CASH (Continued)

(b) Bank balances and cash 19. SRITEHBRES

Bank balances are carrying interest at prevailing
market rate at the end of each reporting period
and the bank balances and cash that are not
denominated in the functional currency of the
relevant group entities are as follows:

RITEBRN S REPRZRITNS
MEFFRRYIFREREEERY

EEEBECRITESRNIRA S

(\\)

T
2024 2023

—ENEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARETT

Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") b v Al
United State Dollars (“US$") En([%Ex])
Canadian Dollars (“CAD") X mrl)

690 39
3,245 4,604
53 36

As at 31 December 2024, bank balances that
were placed with banks in the PRC amounted
to approximately RMB30,726,000 (2023:
approximately RMB32,846,000). Remittance of
funds out of the PRC is subject to the exchange
controls imposed by the PRC government.

The Group performed impairment assessment
on bank balances and concluded that the
probability of defaults of the counterparty banks
are insignificant and accordingly, no allowance
for credit losses is provided for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSO\I;iDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

20. TRADE PAYABLES

In general, the Group will make advance payment to
suppliers before the materials are received. Some of
the suppliers may deliver the materials to the Group
without requesting advance payment and a credit
period ranged from 30 to 90 days (2023: 30 to 90
days) is granted by these suppliers. The following is
an aging analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date:

20. EZENAFIE

BE - ANEESEEUSMER R HEERS
TETFRIE o BB ER Rl A BB TR K
EA TERMERRETAKE - WD
NFI0REOXR(=ZFE-=4F : 30X F
WOX)2EEH - ERBEZAHNES
FERFORRBRR DT T -

2024 2023
a1 S ——
RMB*000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETT

0-30 days 0E230K 30 13
31-90 days 31290k 97 93
Over 90 days FBIEI0K 537 532

664 638

EREY)EZEIRIREPR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

21. HttENRIER BT E A

2024 2023
a1 S ——
RMB‘000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Other accrual and payables HAb BT &M RER
TIE 1,984 3,434
Payables for purchase of property, WEEMIZE - BB &
plant and equipment AP FRIE 1,140 1,140
Salaries payables ENE® 2,585 3,358
5,709 7,932
Other payables and accrued charges that are not WIEREHEE TR EETECE
denominated in the functional currency of the ffERRIE R ETE R ¢
relevant group entities are as follows:
2024 2023
—BoNFE  —F-Z=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥FT ARETT
HK$ BIT 1,812 3,051
CAD i 81 100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. EHERE

2024 2023
—ZE-mE —E-=fF
RMB‘000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Contract liabilities regarding sales of HEEYRAE -
biological reagents, auxiliary EEVAE A A AR
reproductive supplies and equipment 695 552

When the Group receives a deposit before delivery
of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised
when the goods are i) delivered to the customers’
warehouse on which the customers obtain control
of the goods or ii) collected by the customers directly
from the Group’s warehouse, as appropriate. The
amount of deposits requested varies amongst
different contracts. The increase in contract liabilities
in the current year was mainly attributable to
increase in sales activities in biological reagents and
auxiliary reproductive supplies and equipment.

The contract liabilities amounting to approximately
RMB552,000 and RMB1,267,000 as at 1 January
2024 and 2023 were recognised as revenue in profit
or loss for years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
respectively. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the contract liabilities as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 are expected to be recognised as
revenue within 12 months and therefore classified as
current liabilities.

ERENEBER

HARERZNERmAKERE - Bt
BREXNRERELSNAE  BEE>)
HEMRXNERFESEmEFENE
E()\EFERAAEER ERNE M
(PRE R )& - 7 A iR » PrESIR
SERATRASNOMBMRR - KEE
BHREE T EEAREYRE &
AR A MR ERHEEENE N -

RZZEZNER-_FT-_=F—H—HK
BB ED AR ARES52,0007T &
AR#1,267,0007C ' ¥ HRIREE =
ENER-_TE-=F+-A=+—H
IEFEREZPHERAKEG - ARRE
ERB RZE_WER_T=F
TZA=T—HEMNEHNAEERER2
BEARNERAYE - Rt EARBA

& o
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

23. DEFERRED INCOME - GOVERNMENT
GRANTS

The Group received grants from the PRC government
authorities for funding of acquisitions of plant and
equipment for conducting research and development
of the biological reagents which benefits the society
as a whole. The relevant deferred income would be
amortised over periods ranging from 5 to 10 years
which represented the useful lives of the relevant

23. IEZEW A — BUS#EBD

AEE BT BEBRFEERE A
RS R i e i B LETTE M E
B HBENALeRERENE - AF
BEIEWA RGPS E10F N - BNE R
BEMAIERFH -

assets.

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Fr AEEFIT

Analysed for reporting purposes as: HmEEOATAT
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 8 23
Current liabilities MEEE 15 15
23 38

24. AMOUNT DUE TO AN ASSOCIATE

The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Annual Report 2024 &%

24, FESEBEE N TFRIE

ARRENREABER 2o RARE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

25. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The employees of Shenzhen Huakang are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC government. The Group is
required to contribute certain percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the specified contributions.

The Group also participate the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme"”) under the rules
and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Authority in Hong Kong. The Group’s
eligible employees are required to join the MPF
Scheme. The Group has followed the minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible
employees’ relevant aggregated income with a cap
of HK$1,500 per employee per month.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
approximately RMB2,515,000 (2023. approximately
RMB2,286,000) for the year ended 31 December
2024, represents contributions payable to these
plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the plans.

As at 31 December 2024, contributions which had

not been paid over to the plans amounted to Nil
(2023: Nil).

ERENEBER

5. RAKBERETE

RYEFEESTEBRFEEZER
ERREFIETEIKE - NEREBIH
RS T B 2 L RER KA SIS -
BENERES - AEERRKEFET
g2 ME— R HIEMEE R

e
B

A

=

AEENTBRERERGIERESFHET
BB &0 KRGS ER S ATES T
E([aELsE]) - AEBEFEERBHD
EBE2EZTE - AEEEETHE
EEHRER(MEEREEEBAY
AHI5% - EGHEE ST A TiE#®1,500
HIT) ©

BHE_ZT_NW&E+_-_A=+—HIHF
B REZERAIBEHNARE
2,515,0007C ( ZE - =4 : AR
2,286,0007T) * BASEEZTER A
EE L R MZ SRS 2 HR -

RoB-mE+=A=+—H - %St
BRI G RR (—F ==
#) o
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting
on 13 January 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”).
The Share Option Scheme is a long-term incentive
scheme of the Company to reward its employees,
Directors and other eligible participants for their
contributions to the Group and to assist the Group
in its recruitment and retention of high caliber
employees and other eligible participants who are
instrumental to the growth and development of the
Group.

The total number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
shares option schemes of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares in issue on the date which the Share Option
Scheme is approved, which is 40,000,000 shares
("Scheme Limit”). The maximum number of shares
issued and issuable to each eligible person under the
Scheme in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at proposed grant date. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HZ —Z —UF+_—_HA=+—HILtFE

26. EARAESTE

AABERERER-_T_ZF—A
T=BMRREIAE LBEBN—IBE
MREREWERETS ([ BRRES
Bl)) - BIRERTEI AR RMREZE
e B EREHES EZRHEMA
BERSEEHASEEL TR - FRH
PARSEREREBSEZEEE KEM
HAKERREAEREFEENSER
LEE o

EHITERBRERE S R ANEEE (A E
fh BB AR AT 813 HH 2 P B BB AR A i Al gk
fesE REITZRNBEERTBEBB
B EELNL EE HE BITRHEEN
10% - B40,000,000 f% B 15 ([ &t &I BR
) - REM+ =@ A HEREFEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors.
In addition, any share options granted to an
independent non-executive director or a substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue at any time and with
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5,000,000 within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

On 9 April 2020, the Company announced the
granting of an aggregate of 26,008,000 share
options, subject to the acceptance by the grantees,
at an exercise price of HK$0.125 per share of the
Company to the eligible person under the Share
Option Scheme. The market price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant was HK$0.125 per share.
All of the share options are exercisable from the date
of acceptance by a grantee to 8 April 2030 (both
days inclusive). Each of the grantees has paid HK$1
to the Company on acceptance of the offer of share
option.

ERENEBER

26. fERERTEI(E)

MARBIES TETHRABREER
R HEAMBEARLERE - BEE
KBTI IENITESHE o o - W
TZEAEME - AR EELIENITE
ERFERFRAIEEMBBAMELZ
A - BB R RPMEMRREZ
DEITAMD 28 H0.1% B H 488 (3F K
AREREHBBH s BROKRETE)HE
85,000,000/ 7T + AIZETE L RE R
REAE L& -

RZZE-ZTFMANE » NABAMIE
B ER SRS R A RARH0.125
BITNITEERNEERATIREEG R
26,008,00017 B Ax 1 - MEBFEE A
BWEHOEE - RIRLBHE - AR
BHOBMEASERRKMD0.1258TT &
HERETRARABREMEE T =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 26. B ERTEI(Z)
The movement during the year and the share options FREHMN _FT_MFF+—A=+—
outstanding as at 31 December 2024 were as B RARITEBERENERAT
follows:
Number of share options
BREHA
As at Granted Exercised Forfeited As at
1 January during during during 31 December
2024 the period the period the period 2024
R=2-lF R=B-lF
Category of the grantees AR AR —-B-H RERRL RERTR REREK +=A=t+-H
Executive Directors YTES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Note) ~ RE®EE(H:2) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Chunguang (Note) ~ RE&EE4E(Hz2) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. He Jiaming (Note) MEBEEWZ) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Other employees (Note) EEI 47 7,504,000 - - - 7,504,000
Total @t 19,504,000 - - - 19,504,000
The movement during the year and the share options FREFHEN_ZE_=F+_-_HA=1+—
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 were as H R T EERER BRI -
follows:
Number of share options
BREN A
As at Granted Exercised Forfeited As at
1 January during during during 31 December
2023 the period the period the period 2023
RIT-Z# RIB_ZF
Category of the grantees &% AR —A-H RERE IR T(E REAEY  +ZA=t-A
Executive Directors YIES
Mr. Zhang Shuguang (Note) ~ REEXEE(M2) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Zhang Chunquang (Note) ~ K& EE(H/iz) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Mr. Poon Lai Yin Michael (Note) ‘BB %4 (M) 4,000,000 - (4,000,000) - -
Mr. He Jiaming (Note) AR EHE) 4,000,000 - - - 4,000,000
Other employees (Note) REI (M) 7,504,000 - - - 7,504,000
Total &zt 23,504,000 - (4,000,000) - 19,504,000
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

No share options had been granted, exercised or
forfeited during the year ended 31 December 2024.
As at 31 December 2024, the number of shares
in respect of which options had been granted and
remained outstanding was 19,504,000 (2023:
19,504,000).

On 18 August 2023, 4,000,000 options were
exercised under the Share Option Scheme when the
market price of the shares was HK$0.16.

No share options had been granted or forfeited
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

All the existing share options of the Company are
vested upon granting.

The fair values of share options determined at the
date of grant using the Binomial Option Pricing
Model was at HK$0.1125 per option, with the
following key inputs:

The following assumptions were used to calculate
the fair values of share option:

Share price at the date of grant HK$0.125
Exercise price HK$0.125
Expected life 10 years
Expected volatility 103.1%

Dividend yield Nil
Risk-free interest rate 0.778%

ERENEBER

26. fERERTEI(E)

HE_ZT-_WF+_A=+—HLHF
W R~ 1718 308 WA ] B AR
EoHE-_E-_mE+-A=+—
B EREEDRITEBRESRS
# B £&19,504,000f% (= F == -
19,504,0004%) °

R-ZE=_=F/\A+/\LH 4,000,000
DEBRRERTE TR EEITE - B
D T{BA0.1678 7T °

B2 =F+_A=+—HI&F
- BIEERER SR -

RRBZFAERABRETIN LRSS

RIELHBEFER —EABRETEERERX
BETvEREZATEATHBERE
0.1125%870 - B ASELT :

AEERESATFEREERUATR
S

KO BAHZRE 0.12587C
1TEE 0.1258 7T
TREASE AR +4F
TEHERR 1R 103.1%
iz B & i
B B A1 =X 0.778%
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

26. fBIRAESTEI(Z)
“IEABEEEERA ARG ER
B2AFE - BEREZEBEX -HEAB
PBEEEEANRS MZHAETE AN
EEMBRERAR - EBWAERERNE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used
to estimate the fair value of the share options.
The value of the share options is subject to the
limitation of the Binomial Option Pricing Model and

a number of assumptions which are subjective and SHeHATEAEENEATE -
difficult to ascertain. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially effect the fair value
estimate.
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. IR7&
Number of Equivalent to
share HK$ RMB'000
HER
Ri&H AT AEETT
Authorised: HEE
At 31 December 2023 and RIB-=F+-A=+—-Ak
31 December 2024 “E-NEF=A=+-AH 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 8,851
Issued and fully paid ordinary ~ BRO.MMBTZERTRARLER :
shares at HK$0.01 per share:
1 January 2023 RZF_=F—-H—-H 414,472,000 4,144,720 3,637
Issue of shares upon exercise of  ERERE(TRIA (M)
share options (Note ()) 4,000,000 40,000 37
At 31 December 2023 and RZFZ=F+-A=1t-HRK
1 January 2024 —“F-ME-A-H 418,472,000 4,184,720 3,674
Issue of shares upon placings EBRENETRG (WD)
(Note (b)) 82,000,000 820,000 758
At 31 December 2024 R-E-BE+-A=1-A 500,472,000 5,004,720 4432
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 18 August 2023, a total of 4,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon exercise
of 4,000,000 share options at the exercise price
of HK$0.125 per share option. The difference
of approximately HK$460,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB430,000) between the proceeds
from exercise of share options of approximately
HK$500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB467,000) and the nominal value of share capital
of the Company issued of approximately HK$40,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB37,000) was
recognised in share premium account. The relevant
share option reserve of approximately HK$450,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB409,000) was
transferred to the share premium account under the
equity.

On 8 January 2024, the Company entered into a
placing agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
through the agent, up to an aggregate of 82,000,000
placing shares at a placing price of HK$0.105 per
placing share to not less than six independent
placees. On 31 January 2024, total of 20,000,000
placing shares have successfully been placed. The
net proceeds of approximately HK$1,984,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,820,000) of
which approximately HK$200,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB184,000) was credited to the
Company’s equity under share capital and the
remaining balance of approximately HK$1,784,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,636,000) was
credited to the Company’s equity under share
premium. The placing shares rank pari passu with all
existing shares in all respects.

27. A (&)
Hist -

(a)

RZZE-_=ZFN\A+NH EfTfE
4,000,00017 BB AR #E (1TEE A EIRER
#0.125487T) & £ ¥174,000,000%
SIRMAEEC.01 BT TR o ITEHER
#E AT 18 3R T8 #7500,00078 7T (FB & A 49
AR¥467,00070) AR T B EITH
NTEEE4940,00078 7T (FEE R K AR
37,0007T ) 2 [E #) = B & #9460,000 %
TT(FE R AREA430,0007T ) AREAS %
B R - HEERERE450,000
BT (FRE R A RKA409,0007T ) 5 85
EHERE THRMDREER o

RZZ2E-_WF—ANB ' "AREES
RIEBFTS B E W - B - AR REME
tEEEARERNEREREE KD
0.1057 JT 2 B A& [A 1 A 1A 78 2 F8 3L
Bl A+ Bl 5 5 % 82,000,000 % Bc & i%
e RZE_NF—A=+—H &#
20,000,000 B2 E R D E KN BL & ©
FTiS BSR4 5B 1,984,000 7T
(FE RO AR 1,820,0007T) @ &
F 497885 200,000 T (HEE RGO AR
184,0007C ) st AR A AR AR T i %%
AT H51,784,0007C (FEER AR
#51,636,0007T ) st AR QR DR E T
s o ERMDGEEFRMATE S E
ZERIEMHAL o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

On 9 February 2024, the Company entered into a
placing agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to
which the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
through the agent, up to an aggregate of 62,000,000
placing shares at a placing price of HK$0.096 per
placing share to not less than six independent
placees. On 5 March 2024, the Company and the
placing agent, entered into a supplemental placing
agreement that the placing price would be revised
to HK$0.104 per placing share and the long stop
date has been extended from 5 March 2024 to 26
March 2024. On 21 March 2024, total of 31,000,000
placing shares have successfully been placed. The
net proceeds of approximately HK$3,171,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB2,936,000) of
which approximately HK$310,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB287,000) was credited to the
Company’s equity under share capital and the
remaining balance of approximately HK$2,861,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB2,649,000) was
credited to the Company’s equity under share
premium. The placing shares rank pari passu with all
existing shares in all respects.

On 2 April 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent, pursuant to which
the Company has conditionally agreed to place,
through the agent, up to an aggregate of 31,000,000
placing shares at a placing price of HK$0.097 per
placing share to not less than six independent
placees. On 23 April 2024, total of 31,000,000
placing shares have successfully been placed. The
net proceeds of approximately HK$2,957,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB2,738,000) of
which approximately HK$310,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB287,000) was credited to the
Company’s equity under share capital and the
remaining balance of approximately HK$2,647,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB2,451,000) was
credited to the Company’s equity under share
premium. The placing shares rank pari passu with all
existing shares in all respects.
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(b)
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e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

28. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains
unchanged from the current and prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, accumulated losses and other
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends and new share issues as well as
the issue of new debt.

ERENEBER

28. ' EE

AEEEREEREES  BREBE
(EEBRRREE T - RRAEET
SEEE - AR ARR S EREAL
% - AREAFE 2 ERBRBBEST
R -

AEENEANRBEAANRREE ARG
PE(BRREHRTHRA - R RE
fi ke ) AELRKC

ARREZZF RERR AR ERER
AR E R EARE - RIBES
ZEEBR  AREHEBIKE - FK
MBITARBITHEB T A FEHEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
trade receivables, other receivables, bank deposit
with maturity over three months, bank balances and
cash, trade payables, other payables and accrued
charges, amount due to an associate and lease
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risks
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
impairment assessment and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on
a timely and effective manner.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 29. €M T A
Categories of financial instruments SR T BER
2024 2023
a1 S ——
RMB'000 RMB'000
AB¥FT ARMTFor
Financial assets at amortised cost HEIENAGTEZ
S RIEE 50,771 48,702
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REENAGTE
TRIBE 7,668 10,348
Financial risk management objectives and BRRREEEERBE

HPNETESRIABEFRALE=E
AR ERBZ SRITERER - EHRK
IR - B REUGRR  RITER MR
T BHRENTOR - RibRENFAKE
AER - BNBEARZENANEES
& - ZEE BT ANFIENARRM TR
B BZFerRIAMEENRERESET
BER(EERRENXRAR)  FER
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk
Currency risk

The Group has certain trade receivables, other
receivables, bank balances and cash and
other payables and accrued charges which are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities which
exposed the Group to foreign exchange risk. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

29.

EWMIA®E)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

5k
EEE G
rEBEETESRKGUR - HittEK
FIE - SRITERRIE S AR EMER K
HREFERAUREEEEUASEEE
EENEEBEUINER - AMSAsE
B EFRE L ER - AEBRIREHRA
INEHEZ EEEENREKEE R
(EVURNE

Assets Liabilities
BE afE

2024 2023 2024 2023
“ECNFE o= ZE-NF —T-=F
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ANREFT ARETT AR¥FrT AREFT
HK$ BT 708 530 1,389 3,051
us$ XL 3,245 4,604 - -

The Group currently does not have a foreign
exchange hedging policy. However, the management
of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.

ERENEBER

7 E% B35 B 3 S AR BB 36 PR © A
o AEBEREERELRERE - 1
FEREEEPERELER
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to currency risk related
to HK$ and US$. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding monetary items which are denominated
in HK$ and US$ and adjusts its translation at the end
of the reporting date for a 5% and 5% change in
HK$ and US$ exchange rates, respectively. 5% (2023:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The analysis below illustrates the
impact for a 5% and 5% strengthening of the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against HK$ and US$ and a positive number below
indicates an increase in post-tax loss, respectively. For
a 5% and 5% weakening of the functional currency
of the relevant group entities against the HK$ and
US$, respectively, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the loss and the number below
would be negative.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

9. €RMT A(E)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

misEE(E)
E¥ER (&)

BRRE DT
AEEFZREBTMETHEBAERER
R o ERE D ITEBIEAB TTFZETS
BERRGEEERIER - WERSEHRD
B4 B 18 B 125% 8 7T M5 %3k T IE X
BOETHRERE - AFFEAS%(=ZF
TEF 5% )MBRELERRTEEE
BATHmEINER R - REEERINE
[ERA)SIE A RE B EH AR o AT
DR TEEEEEREEE BT
METDRIFAES%M5%ATE KT
NIEERTRBIE BB - WAERS
EERBIEE LB TANETS BERE
5%H15% @ BEAEXEFEERTFER
TX#ETBBE -

Increase (Decrease) in
post-tax loss

BRBLZ B RIE M OGRD)

2024 2023
—E-F —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AREFT

HK$ BTT (29) (107)
Us$ =TT 138 196
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances (Note 79).

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of prevailing market
interest rates on bank balances. The Group currently
does not have any interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need
arises.

Total interest income from financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost is as follows:

29. ST A(#)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

misEE(E)
T2

REEREAERRTBRITAER (M
19) 2R REMEEAR -

AEENRERENZEREIBEETR
RITHERNBITHISHRKE) - AEH
B A AR A R SRR - A - R
SEEEEBEEMNERE BRI N T RE
ZREPEAN KA

SR R RS B Y S BE A Y RIS
WA BT -

2024 2023
—EMMEF —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRMTFrT AREFIT
Financial assets at amortised cost REENAGTEZ
TRIEE 347 404
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, ARRIEERE BHANEEFHETE

the expected change in interest rate will not have
significant impact on the interest income from
variable-rate bank balances, hence sensitivity analysis
is not presented.

HEZERITEREL 2HBWRAEL
BEAXE AW EZ5IBEEIT
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge the obligations by counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets, including trade
receivables, other receivables, bank balances and
bank deposit with maturity over three months as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the end of each reporting period.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is in the PRC, which
accounted for 100% (2023: 96%) of the total trade
receivables as at 31 December 2024.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 33%
(2023: 31%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's five largest customers.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group is responsible for determination of
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group also requests deposits
from certain customers prior to goods delivery. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade balances based on
provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables

In respect of loan and loan interest receivables
and refundable consideration paid were identified
to have significant increase in credit risk, and
impairment losses of approximately RMB221,000
(2023: RMB349,000) were recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2024. The management
of the Group estimates the amount of ECL on
loan and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid based on historical payment
information, if applicable, current repayment ability,
and with reference to the relevant estimated value
of collaterals. The Group engaged an independent
professional valuer for ECL assessment on loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid.

Except for other receivables in respect of loan
and loan interest receivables and refundable
consideration paid, the management of the Group
considers that the financial assets included in other
receivables have low credit risk based on its strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term and low risk of default. Impairment
on other receivables is measured on 12-month ECL
and reflects the short maturities of the exposures.

ERENEBER
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

In estimating the ECL, the management of the Group
has taken into account the historical actual credit
loss experience over the past years and the financial
position of the counterparties, adjusted for forward-
looking factors that are specific to the debtors and
general economic conditions of the industry in
which the counterparties operate, in estimating the
probability of default of these financial assets, as
well as the loss upon default in each case. Except for
other receivables in respect of loan and loan interest
receivables and refundable consideration paid, the
management of the Group considers the ECL of
other receivables to be insignificant after taking
into account the financial position and credit quality
of the counterparties. There was no change in the
estimation techniques or significant assumptions
made during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

Bank balances and bank deposit with maturity over
three months

The credit risks on bank balances and bank deposit
with maturity over three months are limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk on bank balances and
bank deposit with maturity over three months are
significantly reduced.
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o AEBEERETZEERSEFN
FBRAREEMER - REHAMERK
FNEBREEBBRYTEN -HE-ZT
THHFERZE=F+A=1T—HI
FE (AR EABRIEEEE
1t »

RITAPR R X HEE= 1B LA _FFIHZ
RITERIFHA

RITESR N FREE=EA A LR
RITEHRERZEERRER - THER
RHHF I REABBRFERBERTES
S ERTARHYERTT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

e ISR MR

31 December 2024 HE-E_MFE+_A=+—HILFE

29. ST A(#)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

EERENBERE(E)

AEBRABMEERR D RFFEREN
TR

Internal credit

assessment Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
BB E BTG it B 5 BWFEE HthSREE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk  Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12m ECL
of default and has on-going impaired
business relationship with
the Group with good credit
rating or does not have any
past-due amounts.
Ve RHHFHENRRELR FHEHEEFE-BE 12EAARPEESR
AEEEREXBBER ERE
EEFRES - SEEM
BEATIE o
Normal risk Debtor frequently repays after  Lifetime ECL — not credit-  12m ECL
due dates but usually settle impaired
after due date.
EFER BHEALERIABREN - 2HEHEEEE-BE 2EAEDGEEER
ERERIER RS ERE
High risk There have been significant Lifetime ECL — not credit-  Lifetime ECL — not credit-
increases in credit risk since impaired impaired
initial recognition through
information developed
internally.
=ER FERRBVSERENAT 2HEHEEEE-BE 2PRNGEEER-£E
BT = RIEP AEEM - ERE ERE
Credit impaired There is evidence indicating the  Lifetime ECL - credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-
asset is credit-impaired. impaired impaired
HBREERE BURKRPEELREERE - 2HEHEEBRRE-LE 2PRBEEHE 1R
EERE FERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating Amount is written off Amount is written off
that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.
% AR RPEBABABREN  FUIAC K% ACIRE LS

PR - A AKEKD
R BT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

29. ST R(#)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

=& Rk MR BRI (&)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of T%:zﬁ/,\LTTTEHHFEJEﬁT%EﬂEE’]ﬁ’i
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL HEemEEMNEERRFS
assessment:
Financial assets at Internal credit 12m or
amortised cost assessment lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
REBSERATEZ 128 A Z2H
THEE R &R S E 7 BAHREERSE IREAE
2024 2023
—E_UE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR FrT AREFT
Trade receivables Note (a) Lifetime ECL 11,833 11,133
(provision matrix)
B 5 WA Hiit(a) > HIFE B E B 1R
(B fmrBkE)
Credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — 3,995 4,335
credit-impaired
HIREERIE EHTEREEEE —
HIREERIE
15,828 15,468
Other receivables Note (b) 12m ECL 657 507
H b FENCRIE #1E(b) 12 AR B e B8
Not credit- Lifetime ECL — not 3,891 5,926
impaired credit-impaired
BEERE SHTEREEEE —
BEERE
4,548 6,433
Total 20,376 21,901
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

(@) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors that are
credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL on
these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by
internal credit assessment.

(b) For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. At 31 December 2024 and 2023,
except for the loan and loan interest receivables and
refundable consideration paid, the Group has no
past due other receivables. No change in the loss
allowance for other receivables during the year ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit assessment for its
customers in relation to its operation. The following
table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables (not credit-impaired),
which are assessed based on provision matrix at the
end of the reporting period within lifetime ECL.

29. ST A(#)

BBEBREEREREEKE)

EERENBERE(E)

Hiat -

() BEZEEFIAEMS AEBECRAZE
BB EERIEIRAN (LT ERT
ExMAHEEEBRNEEERE - B
RIEEREZEBAS - REE(E R
wREREABEEHEDERZFER
BERAEEES -

() BABEERREEMS  AKE®MA
tﬁﬂﬁﬂuﬁﬂcﬁﬂf& B i HER LUK
BAEEM - R_F_MER—
__¢+ A=1+—8" %ﬁﬂ&%m&
EHA BN AR E B AT EHESD - KE
EHER R RARY - BE
“HERF_=Ft_A=1— Elu:
FE - HbREURGRIRRE BB AR EE
) o

ERAKEEERRERE 2 —8n &
El?fﬁé@*ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁfgﬁﬁm*ﬁﬁfﬁ
i o TRBEHEE ZRKFENRES
RERBEREZEERRER - TJB/\
2HIEHEEBR(BEERE) R
fi o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M ERRMEE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

At 31 December 2024

29. ST R(#)
BEEREEERRBER(E)

=& Rk MR BRI (&)

R-—B-mME+=-A=1+—8

Gross
Average carrying  Impairment
loss rate amount losses
Internal credit assessment A= B FHEEE IRE#AE REEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETFT
Low risk B B 10.9 4,506 490
Normal risk ERRR 17.5 3,355 587
High risk =R 20.3 3,972 807
15.9 11,833 1,884

At 31 December 2023

KRB —_=F+_A=+—H

Gross
Average carrying Impairment
loss rate amount losses
Internal credit assessment MEMEE T TIEEXR RE&E HEEE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETFT  AREFT
Low risk B2 9.0 4,454 401
Normal risk EERER 14.9 5,175 771
High risk = 185 1,504 278
13.0 11,133 1,450

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management of the Group to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSO\L“IDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e SRR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach.

29. ST A(#)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

=& Rk MR BRI (&)

TREURLE 5 U IRE A fCR R
RZEHBEHEERRES) -

Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HIEH

e FEER

EREA (HBRER
(REEHE) HifE) H)
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT

At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%—H—H 1,296 3,075 4,371

Impairment recognised BERRRE 1,181 2,562 3,743

Impairment losses reversed ERERESE (1,027) (1,302) (2,329)
At 31 December 2023 and i S——a

1 January 2024 +TZA=+—8k
—T_MFE-A—H 1,450 4,335 5,785

Impairment recognised B R E 1,560 1,164 2,724

Impairment losses reversed BEEREEE (1,126) (1,504) (2,630)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-MF

ZA=+-H 1,884 3,995 5,879

EREY)EZEIRIREPR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 29. €@ I RA(#&)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are
mainly due to the provision of lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, including those not credit-impaired
and credit-impaired with gross carrying amounts of
approximately RMB11,833,000 (2023. approximately
RMB11,133,000) and approximately RMB3,995,000
(2023: approximately RMB4,335,000), respectively.

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss
allowance for loan and loan interest receivables and

BBEBREEREREEKE)

EERENBERE(E)

HE_Z-_WF+_A=+—HIHF
B BHRBFIEEEREZSHEIEH
RHE ZEWHRIBTIRE2HAESREE
EEEE BREELEHNAEARK
11,833,000 T 2 \EAZ B RVE & 5 FE UK
B(ZEZ=F : HARKT11,133,000
or) REEERELN R ARM3,995,000
THEEREESEKFKEB(ZFE=-=
F : AR #4,3350007T) °

TRER LY E K& &R SRR
B2 AT EHER B R R -

refundable consideration paid.

Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)
EHARCEHR(BEERE)

Loan and Refundable
loan interest  consideration
receivables paid Total
RRERK ARE
ENFE EXHE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANREFT ANEREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2023 R-—ZT-=%—H—H - - -
Impairment recognised ERRRE 237 112 349
At 31 December 2023 and A S
1 January 2024 TZRA=+—HkK
—T-ME-HA-H 237 112 349
Impairment losses reversed REERE (124) (4) (128)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-MF
+=H=+—H 113 108 221
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NOTES TO THE CONSO\I;iDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management

to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay.

29. ST A(#)
BEEREEERRBER(E)

REBEE RS

EERBECRBRIE  AREERKL
BRI EEYREEBRAR
RHPKE - RIREAREE L XM
Be  WRAIRESMKBHZE -

TRFANAEEITES BB BENHRIER
BHH - TRIIREBAKER R ER
BZERBENRMRESRERE -

Weighted
average  On demand Total Total
effective ~ or within undiscounted carrying
interest rate Tyear 1to2years  cash flows amount
ik 337 BREX AERRE

BERE g-fm  -ERF  REAE REEEE

%  RMBOOO  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARRTR  AERTZ  ARETr  ARRTZ

At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+ZA=t-H

Trade payables BAENTE - 664 - 664 664

Other payables and accrued charges A ERFBR s B - 29 - 29 29

Lease liabiltes HEaE 345 1,208 - 1,208 117

Amount due to an associate ERBELANE - 2,906 - 2,906 2,906
7,699 - 7,699 7,668

EREY)EZEIRIREPR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 29.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

EWMIA®E)
BBEBREEREREEKE)

REETEEE)

Weighted
average O demand Total Total
effective or within undiscounted carrying
interest rate Tyear  Tto2years  cashflows amount
il 32 E AETRE
BRI F—FR —EWE nELE REGLE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NEETE  AREFT  AREFT  ARETL
At 31 December 2023 W=BZ=F+ZA=1-A
Trade payables BHEME - 638 - 638 638
Other payables and accrued charges A ERFER s &R - 4574 - 4574 4574
Lease liabilties BEAE 345 1,197 1,208 2405 2,288
Amount due to an associate ERBERANE - 2,848 - 2,848 2,848
9,257 1,208 10,465 10,348
Fair value measurements of financial SMIAZAFEFE

instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities that are
not measured at fair value on recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amount of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values based on a discounted cash flow analysis.
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NOTES TO THE CON

Year ended

30. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH
FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

No major non-cash transaction was incurred
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group recognised right-of-use assets
by incurring lease liabilities of approximately
RMB2,646,000 during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's
liabilities arising from financing activities.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are

SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

31 December 2024 HE-E_MFE+_A=+—HILFE

30. REREHMER

(a) EEHREXRSH

HE_Z_NF+-_A=+—H"
EFTEBIBETHESE -

Bz =F+_-_H=+—H8H1t
FE AEERELEHEEEBELOA

R # 2,646,000 7T M ERFEHEE
?E o

(b) MEEBELEZEBEZHIE

TRAMLANEEREEZBHEECE
EEH BEEBELCABENIE
ﬁfﬁ‘i\méiﬁixfﬁéﬁ%%%$

those for which cash flows were, or future SEZEHR i\/ﬁiiqﬂ’”ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EEHeRECAE
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.
Amount
due to an Lease
associate liabilities
P E &
ARIIE HEAE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 R—ZE-_=F—H—H 1,408 469
Financing cash flows, net ~ B&EREMRE * FE 1,440 (884)
Addition of new leases WARNHEE - 2,646
Interest expenses FERX - 53
Exchange difference MEH =5 - 4
At 31 December 2023 and E’\_E:_$+_ A=+—HAK
1 January 2024 —T-mE—A—A 2,848 2,288
Financing cash flows, net ~ BEBRERE * FE - (1,197)
Interest expenses FERX - 86
Exchange difference ME 5, HE 58 -
At 31 December 2024 R-ZBE-_ME+=-HB=+—H 2,906 1,177

EREY)EZEIRIREPR A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRERME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

*

(a)

(b)

Related party transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had entered
into following transactions with its related party
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023:

31. BERRS
(a) BMEFRS

IS

G\

BA7 R B b b 77 2 0 5R
BE_ T NFR-FT_=F

T-A=+—HILFE  AEEH
HEENRIMA TR S

2024 2023
—EDNFE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT
Lease and utilities expenses paid BRI EEFHED
to Shenzhen Junxuan Biological HiraR AR (FRIY
Technology Co., Ltd.* ER Dz RAK
(“Shenzhen Junxuan”) (Note) > (Kat) (1,197) (856)
Note: Hret -

Shenzhen Junxuan is a related company controlled
by Mr. Zhang Shuguang, an executive director of the
Company.

RINEHRARRNTESRENL L
IR RE LA

Compensation of key management (b) EEEEAEFHH
personnel
The emoluments of directors as key %%({’E%ZIKEII B AE)E
management personnel of the Group during the —ECNEN_E_=F1+=A1
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were _—f— HIEFEZF BT
as follows:
2024 2023
ZEImE ZET=F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREFTT ARETFT
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits  #r  TEAL M E th g7 2,546 2,532
Contributions to defined contribution 5 E k&It 5k
plans 228 211
2,774 2,743

English translation is for identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e nBHmERNE

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

32. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 32. XARTFEMB AR ZH1E

OF THE COMPANY

Details of principal subsidiaries at the end of the RWERR - TEMBRRFEOT
reporting period are as follows:

Place of Proportion ownership
Name of incorporation/  Paid up issued/registered interest and voting power  Principal activities/ Type of
subsidiary establishment  capital held by the Company place of operation legal entity
AL/ BRTRARKRE/ ARRMRAERRER
WEAFAR RUBY EdRERRA RERELA TERY/EENY EREREY
Directly Indirectly
B& [}
Nutronic Biomedical ~ Hong Kong Issued and fully paid share 100% N/A" Investment holdings/ Limited liability
Group Limited capital HK$98 (2023: 100%) Hong Kong company
Nutronic Biomedical &% BETRERRAIBET 100% AR RERR/EE ERAT]
Group Limited CE-CE
100%)
King Grace The BVI Issued and fully paid share 100% N/A  Investment holdings/ Limited liability
capital US$10 (2023: 100%) Hong Kong company
King Grace FBRTHE  CEARERBAI0EL 132% TER RESR/ &R BRAA
~F-F:
100%)
Shenzhen Huakang ~ The PRC Paid-up registered capital N/A 100% Research and development, - wholly foreign-owned
US$1,800,000 (2023:100%)  manufacture, marketing oo
and sale of biological
reagents and auxiliary
reproductive supplies and
equipment/The PRC
AR hE SR EMRA1,800,000%7T Oyl 100% H% 4% ZHREE  NEBELR

(ZE-=F.  ANRERENLER
100%) GRRE/SE

Nutronic Healthcare  Hong Kong Issued and fully paid share N/A 100% Sales of healthcare products  Limited liability
Company Limited capital HKS1 (2023:100%)  and supplements/Hong company
Kong
Nutronic Healthcare &7 BETRARRAET NER 100% HERRERRRRR, HARARW
Company Limited ZEICE: FR
100%)
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt REREEIR - BE B A R ITEE
securities at the end of reporting period. 5EH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 33. KA R AT
THE COMPANY

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Wit ARHFT ARETT

Non-current assets *REBEE

Interests in subsidiaries NG )EYNGIPA - 9,099 9,099

Property, plant and equipment RS 2 6
9,101 9,105

Current assets RBEE

Other receivables, deposits and HAhREUGRIE - Be K

prepayments ERRE 3 8

Amounts due from subsidiaries JEUS BB A B FRIE 33(a) 2,935 7,842

Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRE 378 2
3,316 7,852

Current liabilities bk B=Ri

Other payables and accrued HoA FE (R IE R e AT

charges R 1,738 3,298

Amount due to a subsidiary FE 1S —FEIFfs B A RIFRIA 33(a) 3,465 3,340
5,203 6,638

Net current (liabilities) assets FE(EBR)EERE (1,887) 1,214

NET ASSETS EEFE 7,214 10,319

Capital and reserves BEAXR#E

Share capital B 4,432 3,674

Reserves f#f 34(b) 2,782 6,645

TOTAL EQUITY RERARE 7,214 10,319
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Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z —NE+ - A=+—HILFEE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries

The amounts due from (to) subsidiaries are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

33. ARRMBMRRERE)

(a) FEW ()2 RRIA
FEMS (1) B 88 2~ R K IR A A

et B RIZEREE -

(b) Movement in the Company’s reserves (b) DT ZHEES
Share
Share option  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R EE BRERE ZitER -
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  ABETT  AREFT  ARETr
(Note 26)
(Hiz26)
t 1 January 2023 —T-_=%-f-H 49,425 2,404 (42,239) 9,590
Loss and total comprehensive iﬁ\ﬁﬁ REERX
loss for the year ek - - (3,375) (3,375)
Transactions with owners: BREAZRS
Contributions and distributions HFHR AT
Issue of new shares upon exercise  {TEEEREM B TR
of share options (Note 27(3)) (H:227) 839 (409) - 430
At 31 December 2023 and i .3
1 January 2024 +ZA=Z+-Ak
—F-RF-A-A 50,264 1,995 (45,614) 6,645
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ FREERZERS
for the year k] - - (10,599) (10,599)
Transactions with owners: b e AZ?«% :
Contributions and distributions HIRAT
Issue of new shares upon placings, @E’%fﬁé‘ﬂ%ﬁ i - 0
net of transaction costs RPIA
(Note 27(b)) (Bi227) 6,736 - - 6,736
At 31 December 2024 R-B-MF
+-B=+-H 57,000 1,995 (56,213) 2,782

ZEERAEYBEERIRER A 7 Huakang Biomedical Holdings Company Limited

245



246
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e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2024 HE—Z U+ - A=+—HIFE

34. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING
PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 December 2024, save as disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,
the Group has the following subsequent events:

(1) On 31 December 2024, the Company entered
into a placing agreement (the “Placing
Agreement”) with a placing agent, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed
to place, through the agent, up to an aggregate
of 100,000,000 placing shares at a placing price
of HK$0.126 per placing share to not less than
six independent placees (the “Placing”). The
conditions under the Placing Agreement were
not fulfilled on or before 21 January 2025,
being the long stop date to the Placing, the
Placing Agreement was lapsed and terminated.
None of parties under the Placing Agreement
shall have any claim against the other in relation
to the Placing.

Details are set out in the Company's

announcements dated 31 December 2024 and
21 January 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CON

Year ended

34. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

*

(2)

On 24 January 2025, the Company entered into
a memorandum of understanding with Hunan
Keyue Biotechnology Co., Ltd.* (the “Target
Company”), pursuant to which the Company
or its designated entity intends to acquire 51%
equity interest in the Target Company by way of
capital injection or transfer of equity interest (the
“Proposed Acquisition”). No legally binding
agreement in relation to the Proposed
Acquisition has been entered into up to the date
of this report.

Details are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 24 January 2025.

On 25 March 2025, the Company entered
into four term loan agreements with a licensed
money lender in the aggregate amount of
HK$4,000,000 at a fixed interest rate of 9% per
annum. The term loans are unsecured, interest-
bearing and repayable within 12 months after
the withdrawal date.

English translation is for identification purpose only
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the ZAEBRBERETRFEZEE  EER
Group for the last five financial years is set out below. BEBMEEHININT - AEE W TEHEE B
This summary does not form part of the consolidated #3k& 2 EH—E5 -

financial statements.

RESULTS E

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-=f —“E--F —“Z--F% —Z°TF _“T-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANBETT ARETT ARETFT AREFT AREFT

Revenue WA 25,359 24,629 25,330 26,127 21,967
(Loss) Profit before taxation &t Al (518 )% A (4,158) (5,782) (3,007) (3,903) (11,372)
Taxation IR - = (68) (317) (255)

Loss for the year attributable to &2 BI#A A
the owners of the Company ~ [EEFE &R (4,158) (5.782) (3,075) (4,220) (11,627)

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING ¥7ZE - &R IEERES

INTERESTS

Assets BE

Non-current assets ERBEE 10,499 11,879 12,979 13,396 13,691
Current assets TENEE 54,723 53,436 53,423 53,664 59,010
Total assets BERE 65,222 65,315 66,402 67,060 72,701
Equity and liabilities BEREE

Total equity ERaE 54,048 51,019 56,524 57,705 61,859
Non-current liabilities FrReas 8 1,200 97 718 1,576
Current liabilities nEEE 11,166 13,096 9,781 8,637 9,266
Total liabilities BEEE 11,174 14,296 9,878 9,355 10,842
Total equity and liabilities EnRkBEESE 65,222 65,315 66,402 67,060 72,701
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